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Introduction

NO new nation had greater prospects than Malaysia when it was
formed in 1963. The nation was created through friendly negotia-
tions and escaped the bloody colonial warfare that has marked
the struggle for independence of most new governments. The
Malaysian government was stable from the beginning, and popu-
lar and able. The country had a favorable trade balance, good
economic prospects, and the goodwill of powerful international
friends. Under these bright conditions the world expected
Malaysia to be a model for other new nations,

But before the new constitution of Malaysia could go into
effect, the country was suddenly threatened by greedy neighbors.
President Sukarno of Indonesia viewed the formation of Malaysia
as a threat to his plans for the aggressive expansion of his nation
in Southeast Asia. Then the Philippine Islands demanded the
part of Borneo that was to be included in the Malaysian nation.
This double-barreled threat was a shock that delayed proclaiming
the formation of Malaysia for a time. However, time, diplomacy,
British military aid, and a revolt in Indonesia finally settled the
trouble among the three nations.

Still Malaysia failed to achieve the potential that her natural
resources and political advantages indicated. She next faced a
problem and threat that in the long run may prove more danger-

ix



Introduction x

ous than the greed of her Philippine and Ind i ight
This threat is racism—the pitting of a majority race 1g1|nsl a
minority race—in a confrontation that has steadily worsened with
the years.

In the United States, racial troubles are supposedly the product
of skin color. This is not true in Malaysia. There the racial dis-
cord is a product of politics and economics. The Malays barely
comprise a majority in their country and fear the Chinese, who
are the largest minority group in Malaysia. The Malays are
afraid the Chinese will seize political power in Malaysia as they
have come to dominate the economic sphere of the country. The
Malays in turn are determined to “Keep Malaysia for the Ma-
lays,” as their political slogan proclaims. To this end the Malays
framed their constitution to favor themselves at the expense
of the minorities. Possession of certain land is restricted to
Malays. The bulk of government jobs is reserved for Malay
people under the constitution. In every respect government
policy is “Malays First.” A recent law forces businessmen—
mainly Chinese—to hire a Malay quota in middle management
positions. These actions of the Malaysia government caused two
bloody riots in 1969, and the country faces more racial turmoil
in the future as Chinese youth in Malaysia encounter increased
frustration.

When Malaysia was formed in 1963 by combining peninsular
Malaya with the British North Borneo states and Singapore, the
Chinese thought the large number of Chinese in Singapore
would give them sufficient pro-Chinese votes to ensure political
equality. This hope died when Singapore was expelled from the
Malaysian union to prevent Chinese politicians from building
up strength.

Older Chinese are willing to accept the situation, but more
and more Chinese youth are turning to communism as the
answer to their country’s racial problem. Such a divided country
is fertile ground for Communist expansion. This points to diffi-
cult years ahead for the new nation. While both sides realize the
danger to Malaysia, the racial problem is not one that can be
easily solved in the present Malaysian political climate.

“It is our land—our country. We will not see it stolen from
us by the Chinese,” the Malays insist.
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“It is our land, too,” Chinese youth reply bitterly. “We were
born here and our fathers were born here. We are Malaysians
and ask for a 'Malaysia for Malaysians' rather than a ‘Malaysia
for Malays." "

The Malaysian government insists that the situation will
correct itself and that the problem has been inflated out of pro-
portion by foreign newspapermen. The average Malay and
Chinese do not agree. As one put it, “Two races in one country
never live in peace. That is true even in your own rich United
States where blacks are fighting whites. It is true in the Near East
where Jews and Arabs hate each other. And so on throughout the
world. ‘Never the twain shall meet,” as the Englishman Kipling
said.”

The roots of the racial problem in Malaysia lie deep in Malay
history. Malaysia's written history covers only the last seven
hundred years, but accounts coming from other countries indi-
cate that for two thousand years the Malay people have lived
under the domination of first one foreign master and then
another. Now that they have achieved a national Malay govern-
ment, the Malays are determined not to permit that government
slip from their control under any circumstances.

This is the story of how this situation came about.*

* For purposes of simplification, the name Malaysia refers to the land of the
Malays after 1963. The name Malaya refers to the country prior to that time.
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The Land of the Malays

THE Malay Peninsula is a narrow stretch of land attached to
the body of Southeast Asia. It runs almost a thousand miles due
south from the southern borders of Burma and Thailand to
separate the Andaman Sea from the South China Sea. Borneo,
the Philippine Islands, and the Spice Islands of the Moluccas lie
to the east of the peninsula. India is northwest and the rich
islands of Sumatra and Java are to the peninsula’s south.

The northern two-thirds of the peninsula were claimed by
Burma and Thailand centuries ago. The lower one-third, com-
prising an area of 50,690 square miles, was settled by the Malay
people. This area, once called Malaya, is now West Malaysia,
which, combined with East Malaysia—the former Borneo states
of Sarawak and Sabah—forms pr day Malaysi:

The peninsula’s position as a long land barrier across the sea
between India and China has made Malaya a key point in
Oriental trade routes as far back as history records. The Straits
of Malacca (between the southern extremity of the Malay Pen-
insula and the island of Sumatra) has been a water highway for
conquerors, commerce, adventure, and pirates for all the seven
hundred years of recorded Malay history. And archaeological
finds indicate that trade in this area was carried on by Roman
and Phoenician ships before the Christian Era.

JF;
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The land of the Malays first became important because of its
position midway between the rich markets of Chira and India,
and because of its nearness to the Spice Islands of Indonesia. The
peninsula lies just north of the equator, and the monsoon winds
blow steadily from the northeast for half the year. Then they
reverse and blow from the southwest for the remainder of the
annual monsoon cycle. This was a tremendous advantage to sail-
ing ships that could sail to Malaya with one wind, pick up cargo
and wait for the monsoon change to sail back.

When traders first came to the peninsula, Malaya was almost
completely primitive, What few villages there were stood at the
mouths of the rivers, and the people lived mostly by hunting and
fishing. Except in the alluvial plains, the soil of the peninsula is
very poor. This surprises visitors who fly into the country today.
From the air the Malay Peninsula is hundreds of miles of un-
broken rain forest stretching from the central mountain ranges
down to the sea on both sides of the land. Unfortunately, when
this jungle is cleared and put under cultivation the soil is rapidly
exhausted,

Actually the peninsula is nothing but the tops of mountains
that rise out of the sea. If one takes a map of Southeast Asia and
draws a line from Burma south along the edge of the Malay
Peninsula to Sumatra and Java, and then north around Borneo
to the east coast of Vietnam, he will create an outline map of
the “Sunda Platform.” The platform is an undersea land mass
that is sunken to depths of from 120 to 150 feet. The Malay
Peninsula is actually a mountain chain rising from this sunken
land. The platform creates a shallow sea around the peninsula
which geologists consider remarkable for the uniformity of its
shallowness.

The mountains that form the Malay Peninsula today were
created in the stupendous splitting and folding of the earth
which produced the Himalaya Mountains in the Tertiary Era
about thirty million years ago. E. H. G. Dobby of the University
of Malaysia estimates that the original mountains of the Malay
Peninsula were as lofty as the Himalayas but have now been
reduced to “stumps of mountains” by millions of years of erosion.
This erosion was the direct result of the monsoon winds which
later would make Malaya an important trade center. The winds
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picked up enormous volumes of water as they blew across the
humid equatorial seas. This water was—and still is—dropped in
deluging rains on the peninsula. Rainfall averages 8o or more
inches a year, but the massive erosion is due as much to the
force of the rain as to the water itself.

The huge masses of mud loosened by the torrential rains are
carried to the seas by numerous rivers. On the east coast, which
fronts on the South China Sea, strong ocean currents disperse
this silt. But on the west coast the silt is caught in the fingers of
the many-rooted mangrove trees that grow in the water along
the shoreline. This captured mud creates huge swamps and is
slowly enlarging the land mass at the rate of an inch and a half
each year.

None of the peninsular mountains are very high today. Geolo-
gists estimate that more than half of their original height has
been eroded away by thirty million years of wind and rain. The
highest peak today is Gunong Tahan in central Malaysia. Its
altitude is 7,186 feet—just enough to get its peak above the
mass of the rain forest. On the tip are sparsely scattered
scrubs where one can see quartz crystals glittering when the sun
is in the right position, Back~country Malays point out this
sparkle to visitors as proof that the mountin is one giant
diamond. They claim that freebooters through the centuries have
often tried to steal the mountain-diamond but were always
defeated by sky thunder demons who guard the treasure.

If the listener is skeptical, the old Malay storytellers can prove
the existence of these sky demons. It seems that the monsters
create thunder during storms by gnashing their huge teeth.
Sometimes they do this so violently that their teeth break. They
spit the broken pieces out on the earth, where they are occasion-
ally picked up by Malay natives. Scientists claim these “demon
teeth” are really Stone Age artifacts left by prehistoric dwellers
on the peninsula.

East Malaysia, situated in North Borneo across the South
China Sea from peninsular West Malaysia, is even less developed.
Itisdivided into the states of Sarawak and Sabah and is in approx-
imately the same latitude as West Malaysia. The climate is identi-
cal and the geography is similar. The settled portions are
concentrated along the coast and the rivers. Some aborgine
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tribes are scattered among the rain forests that are spread across
the many hills of the interior. These aborigines, collectively
called Dayaks, live a nomadic life and are chiefly hunters or
fishermen.

Although the recorded history of Malaysia goes back only some
seven hundred years, the Malay Peninsula could well be among
the oldest inhabited places on the earth. The prehistoric people
who first settled present-day Malaysia are believed to have origi-
nated in Mongolia. From there they were driven southward by
advancing glaciers during the Ice Age. In 1892 bones from one
prehistoric creature known as “Java Man" were found in a river-
bank in central Java just south of Malaysia. The age of these
bones was estimated at about one and a half million years, and
anthropologists placed them as being of a species midway between
apes and human beings. They do not believe, however, that Java
Man (Pithecanthropus erectus) is a “missing link™ between apes
and mankind in the evolutionary chain, but rather that he is a
distinct branch. Then in 1927 similar bones (named *Peking
Man") were found in North China. These findings seem to indi-
cate that in the Paleolithic (Old Stone Age) period these sub-
human creatures migrated down through China and across the
natural land bridge of the Malay Peninsula into Java.

No bones similar to Java Man and Peking Man have been
found on the peninsula, however. There is evidence that crea-
tures capable of making tools and weapons did live in Malaysia
during the last years of the Ice Age. In 1938 a scientist working
in the Perak River Valley in Perak Province near the Thailand
border found a stratum of gravel whose composition indicated that
it had been deposited during the Ice Age. In this gravel was
found a number of crude “eolith” tools. Eolith tools, the most
primitive artifacts known, are no more than rocks which have
been broken and then given a crude cutting edge to be used for
chapping. The eolith tools found in the Perak gravel are similar
to other Pleistocene artifacts found in India, Burma, and Java.

Just who left these tools is not known, but it does not seem
probable that Java Man was sufficiently advanced to have made
such tools. The supposition is that they were left by the fore-
runners of modern man. However, the first clear evidence of
human habitation in the peninsula was found in geological
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strata of the Mezolithic or Middle Stone Age period. People of
this age were cave dwellers. Modern Malaysians, digging bat
guano in mountain caves, often find relics of these prehistoric
men. The finds have included many human skeletons, animal
bones, and Stone Age implements. From these finds scientists
have assembled a fairly accurate picture of the Malayan cave-
men and their primitive life.

These cave dwellers lived mainly by hunting. Bones found in
their caves show that they were not afraid to attack the largest
and most ferocious game with their stone-tipped spears, The
human bones, however, show that these cave dwellers were not
the ancestors of presentday Malays. Malays are small, brown-
skinned people of the M. loid race who igrated from
China during a long period extending from 1500 B.C. to A.D. 100.
The Malays are basically the same type of people who migrated
into North Burma, Thailand, the Philippines, Vietnam, and
Indonesia. The prehistoric cave dwellers of the Malay Peninsula
were apparently closely related to the present-day Melanesians
and natives of Papua. Although dark-skinned, they were not
related to the Negritos, the small Negroid aborigines who still
live in Thailand, the Philippines, and Malaysia, .

Thus from about 1500 B.C. there seem to have been three
distinct races in the peninsula: the cave dwellers, the Negritos,
and the proto-Malays. Apparently the proto-Malays, ancestors of
today's Malays, brought in a Neolithic (New Stone Age) culture
that in time completely replaced the culture of the Old Stone
Age cave dwellers. The tools left by the proto-Malays are com-
parable to those of the American Indian.

By the beginning of the Christian Era, restless wanderers
from other parts of the world began leaving traces of their visits
to the Malay Peninsula. One such curious set of relics is a
number of beads of Roman and Phoenician design found in
Johore state at the tip of the p la. These early exploration:
by ships from the Mediterrancan countries sparked an interest
in Southeast Asian trade. By the first century A.n., booming
trade between India and China increased Malaya's international
importance. Ships from India made the 1,200-mile voyage to the
west coast of the Malay Peninsula and unloaded their cargo at
trade centers. Then ships coming from China picked up the

o R TRITT




Batu Caves near Kuala Lumpur are examples of the many limestone
caves found in the mountains of Malaysia. Men lived in such caves in
prehistoric times. This one has been converted into a Hindu shrine
and is of unusual scenic beauty.
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merchandise and carried it home. Thus the peninsula originally
became internationally important as an entrepét. In the language
of trade, an entrepdt is a port where merchandise is warchoused
for transshipment.

Gradually the early Indian traders began doing business with
the Malay natives. They swapped Indian cotton for Malay gold,
tin, and spices. Although old records call these entrepdt settle-
ments “kingdoms,” they were never more than trade villages with
a small permanent population to serve the floating crews who
came and went with the monsoon winds.

The first settlement in Malaya to become sufficiently impor-
tant to rate the true name of kingdom was Langkasuka, which
was apparently settled by Hindus in the second century A.n. The
only historical reference to it is a vague Chinese report that
leaves its exact location in doubt. Some historians believe that
Langkasuka was located in the present Malay state of Kedah.
Others argue that it was farther up the peninsula in what is now
Thai territory.

Fragmentary references in old manuscripts mention thirty
other “kingdoms” that existed in the peninsula between the fall
of Langkasuka and the conquest of the peninsula by Funan in
the fifth century A.p. Funan was a Hinduized nation that was
founded in Cambodia and South Vietnam about A.p. 100. Funan
forced the Malay settlements to pay tribute for almost two
hundred years. Then as Funan weakened, it was absorbed by the
Khmers of Cambodia. Although the Khmers reached the peak
of their power about A.n. goo, they were unable to continue
Funan's domination of the Malay states because of the rise of
Sri Vijaya, a powerful Sumatran nation on the island of Java
just south of the Malay Peninsula. The Sri Vijayan navy estab-
lished outposts in the Malay states and founded the city of
Tumasik on what is present-day Singapore Island. In time ships
of the all-powerful Sri Vijayan navy turned pirate and began
fighting among th lves. The nation collapsed and was suc-
ceeded in power by Madjapahit, another Javanese nation. Mad-
japahit controlled the Malay Peninsula until the closing years of
the fourteenth century.

By this time Madjapahit had grown weak. A group of young
nobles, including one named Paramesvara, plotted a revolution.
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The revolt failed and Paramesvara fled to Tumasik, which had
broken away from Madjapahit and had come under the overlord-
ship of Ayuthia, the kingdom of the Siamese. Here the fugitive
Paramesvara staged an attack, slaying the Rajah of Tumasik with
the intention of frecing Tumasik from Siamese control. Para-
mesvara overestimated his ability to fight the vengeful Siamese
and had to flee with his closest followers. They finally settled at
the trading post of Malacca about 75 miles up the west coast
from Tumasik.

Although not a large place, Malacca was important because
a road had been hacked through the jungles from Malacca to
the east coast of the peninsula. Cargo could now be unloaded at
Malacca, transported overland a hundred miles, and reloaded onto
Chinese ships on the east coast. This route eliminated the slow
sail through the Straits of Malacca, around the tip of the pen-
insula and through the South China Sea.

At first Paramesvara kept in hiding. Then the arrival in
Malacca of a Chinese naval expedition gave him a chance to defy
the Siamese. The expedition was under the command of a
famous admiral by the name of Cheng Ho who had been dis-
patched by the Ming Emperor of China to add new territory to
the empire. China, under the Mings, was not interested in oc-
cupying territory beyond the Chinese mainland, but did want
neighboring countries to acknowledge Chinese suzerainty. This
served a double purpose. It prevented the buildup of powerful
neighbors on China’s frontiers who might someday threaten the
empire, and it permitted the Ming Emperor in Peking to feel
that he was master of the entire world. In return for acknowledg-
ment of Chinese overlordship, the Ming dynasty emperors never
interfered in the internal operations of their subject countries as
long as an annual tribute was paid to Peking. This tribute was
small and never burdensome. The subject countries looked upon
it as insurance against attacks by their own enemies.

Paramesvara welcomed Cheng Ho. Both men were Muslims,
and this got their friendship off on a firm religious foundation.
The religion of Islam, introduced into the Malay states by Indian
Muslims and Arab traders, spread with such rapidity that it
eventually became the predominant religion in the Malay Pen-
insula. Paramesvara lavishly entertained the Chinese visitors and
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readily ach ledged China's inty over Malacca. He per-
sonally delivered the first tribute payment to Peking. After this,
any attack on Malacca by the Siamese King would be interpreted
by the Ming Emperor as an attack upon himself. Now safe be-
hind the shield of China’s might, Paramesvara set out to make
his city-state the most powerful on the peninsula.
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The Rise of Malacca

PARAMESVARA'S founding of a sultanate in Malacca in 1409
coincided with the demand in Europe for spices from the Orient.
Lack of refrigeration caused meats to spoil quickly and spices
were needed to disguise the putrid taste. By this time the art of
shipbuilding had improved to the point where vessels could
carry sufficient sails to make long voyages. European ships sailed
around India, where they picked up spices that Indian traders
brought from the Malay entrepdts which in turn were supplied
by local ships sailing between Malaya and the Spice Islands.

Malacca was in an excellent position to take advantage of this
booming trade. In a short time the Malaccan harbor became a
maritime melting pot. jammed with lateenssailed dhows from
Arabia, junks from China, praus from neighboring islands and
dugout canoes from upriver in the Malayan highlands. In time
this motley collection would be joined by galleys from Venice,
caravels from Spain, and cargo vessels from Portugal.

In 1414 Paramesvara made additional trips to Peking to ensure
Chinese aid against the growing Siamese threat. When Parames-
vara died in 1428 he was succeeded by his son Sri who re-
nounced the Muslim religion, but this did not affect his subjects,
who kept converting to Islam in large numbers. At this time
Siam became convinced that China had lost interest in Malaya
and sent an army mounted on war elephants down the peninsula

10
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to crush Malacca. Just when it seemed that the city-state was
lost, Cheng Ho, the Chinese admiral, suddenly sailed into
Malacca harbor. The Siamese hastily withdrew.

In the years that followed, Malacca grew in importance as a
world trade center but faced grave internal problems. The first
was a power struggle that followed Sri's death in 1444. At this
time angry Muslims refused to serve any longer under a Hindu
ruler. They murdered Sri's son, Deva Shah, causing a civil war
between Hindus and Muslims. The Siamese to the north took
advantage of the civil strife to try to take over Malacca. The
Malay hero whose military genius saved Malacca this time was
named Tun Perak.

The fighting ended, lcaving Tun Perak as Malacca's strong
man, a position he maintained for the next forty-two years. From
1450 to 1498 he was the real ruler of Malacca, although he never
took the throne himself. He was content to be a king-maker and
to rule through puppets he placed on the throne. During these
years Tun Perak teamed up with another Malay hero, Hang
Tuah. Tun Perak developed basic strategy and handled politi-
cal affairs while Hang Tuah led the Malaccan army in a series
of conquests that brought all the southern part of the peninsula
under Malaccan control.

Trade continued to grow, aided by Tun Perak’s free trade
policy. The sultans of Java, Sumatra, and the Molucca Islands
put heavy customs taxes on trade in their ports. Religious
fanatics controlling some of the other ports imposed extremely
stringent religious and racial restrictions on trade. On the other
hand, under Tun Perak everyone was welcome in Malacca's port,
which soon became the most important trade center between
China and India.

The fifty years from 1446 to 1496 are considered the Golden
Age of Malaya. Thousands of vivid stories have come down
about the heroes and mighty deeds of this time. Unfortunately,
most of them are either legendary or so embroidered with fiction
that they are scarcely credible. The Malay Annals, an old collec-
tion of stories, is the chief written source of the Malaccan period.
It is not a chronological account and much of it can be dismissed
as legend. However, the tales are often fascinating and do throw
light on the life of the times.

Although the shrewd Tun Perak was bendahara—prime min-
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ister—and the power behind the throne, occasionally one of his
puppets showed some spirit. One of these was Ala'uddin, who
occupied the Malaccan throne from 1477 to 1488. The Annals
tell how he restored law and order to the city. It seems that Tun
Perak believed in providing for his relatives. He appointed a
nephew to the position of temenggong, chief of the national
police.

As a port jammed with every nationality in the East, Malacca
naturally had a high rate of crime. The situation became so bad
that Sultan Ala'uddin became concerned. Like the legendary
Haroun al-Raschid of the Arabian Nights in Bagdad, Ala'uddin
disguised himself and went out at night to observe conditions at
firsthand. On one of these nightly expeditions the sultan saw
five thieves making off with a chest of money. Ala'uddin and his
two companions attacked the thieves, killing two of them and
putting the others to flight. The sultan then cautioned his com-
panions to say nothing of the adventure until he should tell
them to do so.

The next morning the sultan told the temenggong that there
had been two deaths and a robbery the previous night. The
official pleaded that he could do nothing since there were so
many criminals. Ala'uddin then had the stolen chest brought in
while one of his companions explained how the two thieves had
died. The sultan then pointedly told the temenggong: “Perhaps
1 should take over your position, for I scem to be able to do a
better job of policing!" The Annals went on to say that the
temenggong, despite his secure position as Tun Perak’s nephew,
got the message and did a better job of keeping order in
Malacca.

However, Ala'uddin did not always get his way. Soon after
Ala’uddin was made sultan by Tun Perak, Ala’uddin's older
brother, angry at being passed over for the throne, seized Pahang
state in central Malaya and demanded that the coastal states pay
tribute to him instead of to Ala'uddin in Malacca. Ala'uddin
wanted to make war against his rebel brother, but was restrained
by Tun Perak who brought about a reconciliation between the
two brothers.

Ala'uddin died in 1488, giving Tun Perak the opportunity to
appoint his fourth sultan. The old prime minister selected his
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grandnephew, a child named Mahmud Shah. By this time Tun
Perak was so old that he had no interest in anything except
maintaining things as they were. As a result, Malacca’s power
started to decline. In those days of ceaseless conquest a nation
that lost its aggressiveness was on the road to disaster. Tun
Perak’s fifty-year-long domination of Malacca finally came to an
end in 1498, when he died. He was succeeded by his brother,
Tun Putch, who lived for only another two years. The position
of prime minister passed to Tun Mutahir, the temenggong who
had been rebuked by Ala’'uddin years before. Mutahir had
not improved much, but the weak sultan, Mahmud Shah, could
do nothing about Mutahir's cruelty and corruption which were
undermining the government.

Then in 1509, nine years after Mutahir came to power, a
Portuguese vessel arrived in Malacca. The Portuguese asked for
trading privileges. Mutahir, in a reversal of Malaccan free trade
traditions, refused to see the foreigners and sent troops to seize
the Portuguese ship.

According to John Cameron, who wrote an engaging (but not
always accurate) history of early Malaya: “De Sequeira, the
Portuguese captain, turned his cannon on the Malay enemy. The
effect was thus described in the Malay Annals: ‘All the people of
Malacca were frightened when they heard the sound of cannon;
saying, what sound is this thunder? And the bullets came and
struck the people on the land, and some had their necks severed,
and some had their waists, and some their hands and feet, and
they said what is the name of this weapon, which is so round; it
is not sharp, yet will it kill." "

The weapon that so awed the Malaccans was a 12-pounder—
a cannon that shot a 12-pound iron ball. While it is true that the
Portuguese were the first Europeans to reach the Orient, it seems
incredible that the Malaccans had never seen cannon before.

In any event, this was the beginning of the end for free
Malacca. Communications were slow in those days, and it was
three years before the Portuguese viceroy of Goa, Alfonso
d'Albuquerque, was able to send a navy to teach the Malaccans
respect for ships from Portugal.

Portugal was then at the height of her glory. Her daring
sailors were ahead of the rest of Europe in exploring and estab-
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lishing trade with the Orient. However, the Portuguese were not
interested in colonization or in the acquisition of great expanses of
empire, as were the Dutch and British who followed them. The
Portuguese only wanted sufficient land to establish trading cen-
ters and entrepdts. In India they took only Goa, a small city-
state on the west coast, which became their Asian headquarters.
Similarly, d’Albuquerque wanted only the port of Malacca which
he could use as a Malay Peninsula base.

When d’Albuquerque arrived off Malacca in August 1511,
Mutahir, who made the attack on De Sequeira’s ships, was dead.
He was killed while trying to overthrow Sultan Mahmud Shah.
D’Albuquerque delivered Mahmud an ultimatum, demanding
the surrender of the city. When the sultan refused, the Portu-
guese bombarded the port. Mahmud tried to rally his people,
but the Malays were the only ones who would fight. The Chinese
and Indian traders in Malacca refused to help, for their busi-
nesses had been badly hurt by Mutahir's greed and they wel-
comed the Portuguese attack. Mahmud and his Malays fought
valiantly, but their krises (daggers) and swords were no match
against d’Albuquerque’s cannon. The city fell in August 1511,
after a week's fighting.

Mahmud had been a poor ruler up to this time, but the loss
of his capital city put steel into him. He retreated to Johore
state on the tip of the peninsula where he began to rebuild his
shattered army. In the years that followed he made numerous
attacks on Malacca but never was able to retake the city. After
his death the Malaccan sultanate he represented gradually
weakened and was overthrown by a new Johore sultanate which
continued to battle the Portuguese. At one point the vengeful
Malays reduced the Portuguese defenders of Malacca to only
thirty men. They would have retaken the city if help from Goa
had not arrived in time to prevent a Malay victory.

The Portuguese, realizing that they could not always depend
on aid coming from Goa at a providential moment, built a
tremendous stone fort that was the marvel of its day. Commenta-
tors have made much of the fact that the fort had no sally
ports through which the defenders could launch counterattacks
against a besieging enemy. Actually this was by design. The
Portuguese never kept a large force of soldiers in Malacca.
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Malaccan-Portuguese trade, while sufficient to maintain the port,
was never as large as it had been under Tun Perak's free trade
policy. Native traders found that the Portuguese treated them
even worse than Mutahir had done, causing many to move their
businesses to ports in Java and Sumatra. Under these depressed
conditions, the Portuguese could not afford to garrison a large
number of soldiers in Malacca. The extremely strong fort was
intended to make up for the small number of troops.

By 1541 a new power, the sultanate of Acheh, had grown up
on the island of Sumatra and soon clashed with the Portuguese
over rights to the Sumatran pepper trade. This began a three-
way fight among Malacca, Acheh, and the Johore Malays. As
the fighting went on, Acheh encroached more and more upon
Malay territory in Johore. This forced Johore to make a truce
with the Portuguese in Malacca, with whom they joined forces
to resist Acheh aggression. The temporary allies gave Acheh such
a beating in 1582 that Johore felt safe in breaking the alliance
with the Portuguese and resuming her attempts to retake
Malacca. The Portuguese successfully defended their stolen city
and retaliated by sacking Johore Bahru, the Johore state capital,
in 1587. Fighting continued for the rest of the century.

As the sixteenth century drew to a close, a far more formida-
ble European enemy than the Portuguese began moving into
Southeast Asia. This enemy was the Dutch. For two hundred
years the Netherlands had been part of the Holy Roman Empire,
but in the last days of the empire the Dutch had been practically
autonomous. Then early in the sixteenth century, dismemberment
of the Holy Roman Empire gave the Netherlands to Spain.
Philip II of Spain sent the dreaded Spanish Inquisition to the
Netherlands with orders to stamp out Protestant heresy and to
force the Dutch to accept Spanish Catholicism.

The Dutch revolted, starting a war for independence that
lasted eighty years. During this long struggle, a large part of the
cost of the war was met by profits made by Dutch merchant
vessels that bought Asian spices in Portugal and resold them in
Europe. This profitable arrangement with the Portuguese ended
abruptly in 1580 when Philip II of Spain gained control of
Portugal. The loss of the spice trade was a serious blow to the
Dutch economy, but in 1588 Sir Francis Drake and his English
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naval forces smashed the Spanish Armada, weakening Spain so
badly that fighting practically ceased between Spain and the
Netherlands, although the war continued officially until 1640.

When Philip 11 closed Portugal's ports to the Dutch he forced
the Netherlands to go directly to Southeast Asia for their spice
cargos. Since Portugal was now part of Spain, the Netherlands’
old enemy, Dutch captains had no qualms about attacking Portu-
guese outposts in the Orient. By 1633 the Dutch were sufficiently
strong to blockade Malacca but were not able immediately to
reduce the famous fort there. The fighting went on for seven
years before the fort fell because Portugal was unable to send
reinforcements.

Malacca was never very important under Dutch rule, although
the new rulers tried hard to revive the port's former glory as
the greatest trade center in Southeast Asia. The trouble was that
Malacca’s former success was based on Tun Perak’s free trade
policy while the Dutch founded their operations on monopolies.
They worked to gain exclusive trading privileges in their terri-
tories and vigorously excluded all ships not belonging to the
Dutch East India Company—or else they tried to collect exorbi-
tant tariffs and custom fees from the foreign traders. The Dutch
were also hampered by the rising might of the Bugis people
from Celebes, a curiously shaped island beyond Borneo.
These warlike people were determined to conquer the Malay
Peninsula.

European historians have written glowingly of Portuguese
and Dutch activities in Southeast Asia in this period, but the
truth is that both countries played only a minor role in the area’s
history. The people of Acheh and then the Bugis were the domi-
nant political and military powers. The Indians and Chinese con-
trolled the bulk of Southeast Asian trade. The Europeans were a
colorful group, but their impact was small at this time.

The British had trouble getting their share of business, al-
though they went as far north as Japan. This failure was due to
the incompetence of the men sent to make trade surveys and to
a lack of enthusiasm in the British East India Company, which
was more interested in conquering India than in expanding into
Malaya and Indonesia where conflict was sure to arise with the
Dutch.
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This situation started to change after Robert Clive—the
famous Clive of India—was successful in his Indian aggressions
in the middle of the eighteenth century. The conquest of India
changed the British East India Company from purely a group of
traders to the de facto government of India. Administrative
costs of ruling the nation became greater than the East India
Company'’s financial structure could support. This required new
markets and new sources of trade revenue. The English had de-
veloped a great taste for Chinese tea but could not trade British
products for this tea. China had plenty of silk and did not need
British woolen and cotton products. Her own ships supplied tin
and spices from Indonesia. As a result of the trade imbalance,
England was forced to pay in silver for Chinese tea, and silver
was in short supply.

Thus England had to expand her trade or see her Eastern
empire collapse. As it happened, the empire did not collapse,
thanks to a group of swashbuckling men of the type more often
found in romantic fiction than in real life.
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The City of the Lion

GREAT Britain was at a disadvantage in the China trade. There
were no British-controlled ports her captains could put into on
the long sail from India to China and back. Malacca had
served as an excellent halfway port under Malay control, but
both the Portuguese and the Dutch were British rivals, and
foreign ships were not welcome under their regimes. As the
China trade increased in importance, so did the need for a
British port in the Malay area. There was also a need to open
new markets for British products which the Chinese did not
want. These British products could be traded in Malaya for such
things as tin, damar (a varnish base), and rattan which the
Chinese would accept. Such barter would conserve English
silver which the East India Company needed to pay for Chinese
tea.

A couple of attempts were made to open ports in Borneo, but
they quickly failed. Then Francis Light, first of the British
adventurers to leave his permanent mark on Malay history,
founded a port on Penang, an island off the west coast of Kedah
in northern Malaya. Light was an illegitimate child who came to
India and Southeast Asia because he had no prospects at home.
He started as a private trader in his own ship and then joined
the East India Company. One of the arguments advanced by
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Light for a port on Penang was that it would make a good naval
base to protect East India Company ships on the China trade
Tun,

Light began negotiations with the Sultan of Kedah as early
as 1771 for use of Penang, then uninhabited, as a British trading
center. The original request was refused, but in 1785 Kedah was
threatened by both Siam in the north and the Bugis in Sengalor
in central Malaya. The sultan, fearful of being destroyed by one
or the other of his enemies, offered Penang Island to Light in
exchange for a British guarantee to aid him if attacked by Siam
or any of the other Malay sultanates.

Light was eager to make the trade, but the British Foreign
Office in London was afraid of becoming entangled in another
colonial war at this time. Britain had just lost her American
colonies. She was still involved in fighting in India, and had
started a conquest of Burma. A war with the Netherlands had just
ended and already Britain faced another one with France. Assis-
tance to Kedah against Siam might well cause Siam to join Burma
in trying to stop the British conquest in that country. The stakes
were too great to risk opening a struggle on a new front,

Still there was no denying that a base was badly needed both
to protect ships on the China run and to seek local trade in
Malayan tin. This double pressure caused the Foreign Office in
London to agree reluctantly to the acquisition of Penang. How-
ever, there was a flat prohibition against promising to come to
Kedah's aid if attacked. The Sultan of Kedah refused to sign a
treaty unless the guarantee was included. Light, a man in the
tradition of British colonizers, marched troops into Kedah and
forced the sultan to sign.

Penang, despite its promise, never prospered greatly. Two
factors worked against it. One was the founding of the great port
of Singapore in 1819. And the other was the development of a
market for Indian opium in China. This drug was in such de-
mand that in a short time the balance of trade shifted so that it
was China who could not supply enough trade to balance the
imports and had to start paying silver herself.

The Chinese government realized the danger of opium but
was powerless to stop its import. (Years later—in 1840—she did
ban the import of the “foreign mud,” but was forced to with-
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draw the ban when Great Britain won “The Opium War" with
China, 1839-1842.)

Events in Europe suddenly took a dramatic turn and the effect
of the upheaval was felt in Malaya as well. In 1789 the French
Revolution shook Europe. The new republic immediately found
itself attacked by other countries whose kings did not approve of
the French King being beheaded along with his queen. They
feared such heresy might spread if left unpunished. The bloody
revolutionary government came to an end in 1794 when the
tyrant Robespierre was overthrown. The government of France
was taken over by a Convention which ruled so poorly that go,000
guardsmen revolted with the intention of restoring the monarchy.
A little-known officer named Napoleon Bonaparte, utilizing only
4,500 men in the face of nearly seven-to-one odds, saved the
republic. In November 1799 Napoleon seized power as First
Consul of France and in 1804 had himself crowned Emperor of
France. Napoleon's rise to power started the Napoleonic Wars
in which Great Britain and a few allies tried to stop Napoleon's
conquest of all Europe.

French naval bases were too far from Malaya to cause British
shipping much damage. However, France overran the Nether-
lands. The Dutch king fled to England where he asked Great
Britain to take Dutch possessions in Southeast Asia to prevent
their falling to the French. English sailors stationed in India took
Malacca, the Spice Islands, and Djakarta on Java.

Back in Europe, Napoleon suffered a disastrous defeat in
attacking Moscow in the winter of 1812. Then two years later he
was forced to abdicate as Emperor of France, and the French
monarchy was restored under Louis XVIIL. The Netherlands then
asked Great Britain to withdraw from Dutch territory in the Far
East. The British East India Company objected, for it had diffi-
culty competing with the hard business practices of the Dutch
traders. The company asked the British Foreign Office to retain
Malacca and the Molucca Spice Islands. The request was turned
down. Britain still feared France and wanted the Netherlands as
an ally in the event of another war with France.

The return of the Dutch left Britain with only Penang as a
base in Malaya, and Penang was too far off the regular trade
routes to enjoy much prosperity. Navigation had improved so that
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ships no longer had to hug the coastline. They took a more direct
route across the Indian Ocean, bypassing Penang. This made
establishment of a new British base in Malaya imperative. Britain
particularly wanted a base between Sumatra and Malaya. This
would give her control of the shipping lanes as effective as that
of Gibraltar over Mediterrancan Sea trade.

The man who found the site and a way to get around inter-
national objection to it was Thomas Stamford Raffles, the most
famous English name in Malaysia’s history.

“Stamford Raffles was born on shipboard off the island of Ja-
maica on July sth, 1781, writes Charles Burton Buckley in his
one-hundred-and-three-year-old book, An Anecdotal History of
Old Times in Singapore. The book was based on files of the
Singapore Free Press, which Buckley edited, and on what he was
told by men he knew who had been in Singapore. “His father
was one of the oldest captains in the West India trade, sailing
out of London.” After two years in a boarding school, Raffles
was placed at the age of fourteen “as a clerk in the large offices
of the Honorable East India Company in Leadenhall Street, in
the City of London, where the vast political and commercial
interests of the East India Company were supervised from En-
gland.”

The boy seemed to have had a vision of his future destiny as
a colonizer in Southeast Asia, for Buckley says that Raffles spent
his time off duty studying languages. In 1803 the c pany de-
cided to increase the staff at Penang, and Raffles, now twenty-
four, was selected for the position of assistant secretary of the
trading station. On the voyage over he taught himself to speak
the Malay language, working from a Malay grammar written by
William Marsden, who had spent eight years in Java. This facil-
ity for language gave Raffles an ad ge over other b
of the East India Company staff who for the most part preferred
to deal through interpreters rather than take the trouble to learn
the language themselves.

Raffles quickly made a name for himself in the company and
was personally picked by Lord Minto, Governor-General of In-
dia, to govern Java during the British occupation of Batavia,
the capital of Dutch Indonesia during the Napoleonic War.
This tour lasted from 1811 to 1816 when plans were completed
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to implement the British-Dutch agreement of 1814 and return
Java, Malacca, and the Moluccas to control of the Netherlands.
According to Buckley, “When Raffles left Batavia [present-day
Djakarta, Indonesia] the sea roads were filled with boats,
crowded with people of all nationalities, who came to see his
departure. The deck of his vessel was quite covered with fruits

and flowers and offerings of every description . . . the people
declaring that Java had lost the greatest friend she had ever
possessed.”

Raffles’s fame penetrated even to Europe. Surprisingly, he
stopped at the Island of St. Helena on his way back to England
and asked to see Napoleon, who was in exile there following his
decisive defeat by the Duke of Wellington at Waterloo. The
former Emperor of France had been refusing to see visitors, but
he reccived Raflles and showed great interest in Java. After leav-
ing St. Helena, Raffles went to London, where he was knighted
for his work in Java. He returned to Indonesia in October 1816
as Lieutenant-Governor of Bencoolen, the British station on
Sumatra.

Bencoolen, a small station on the south of Sumatra, was
dominated by the important Dutch station at Palembang. Ex-
pansion was impossible and Raffles petitioned the East India
Company to let him find a better location for a station. Permis-
sion was granted over the almost violent objections of the Lieu-
tenant-Governor of Penang, who viewed the establishment of a
new station as the death blow to his port. One of Rafiles’s strict
orders was that the new location would in no way infringe on
Dutch territory or involve Great Britain and the Netherlands
in any international friction. The Dutch, familiar with Raffles’s
often unorthodox methods, viewed this new mission with appre-
hension.

Raffles set sail with Major William Farquhar, who until No-
vember 1818 had been Liecutenant-Governor of Malacca. Re-
lieved of duty when the Dutch' reassumed command at Malacca,
Farquhar was about to return to England when he received an
invitation to join Raffles. Later Farquhar claimed partial credit
for selecting the Singapore site for the settlement, but a letter
written by Ralfles to William Marsden before setting sail told
his old friend that “my next letter may be dated from the site
of the ancient city of Singhapura.”
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The island of Singhapura turned out to be a 224-square-mile
body of land at the very tip of the Malay Peninsula. At the
time Raffles selected it to be his settlement, the island had only
a few Malays under the direct government of the temenggong
of Johore. Apparently the island was little known, for Raffles
wrote a friend in Europe: “But for my studies, I should hardly
have known that such a place existed; not only the European,
but the Indian world was also ignorant of it. It is my intention
to devote the remaining years of my stay in the East to the ad-
vancement of a Colony which, in every way in which it can be
viewed, bids fair to be one of the most important . . . which
we possess . . . Our object is not territory but trade; a great
commercial emporium and a fulcrum, whence we may extend
our influence politically as circumstances may hereafter require.
By taking immediate possession, we put a negative to the Dutch
claim of exclusion, and, at the same time, revive the drooping
confidence of our allies and friends. One free port in these seas
must eventually destroy the spell of Dutch monopoly.”

It was as if Raffles were looking into a crystal ball when he
wrote this letter to the Duchess of Somerset in England, for it
all came true. However, before this could happen, Raffles had
to settle the touchy question of legal title to the island in such
a manner that the British government would approve the settle-
ment. The early history of the island is, as one historian puts it,
very obscure. We have nothing but legends, and the legends con-
tradict each other. K. G. Tregonning, Raffles Professor of His-
tory, University of Singapore, quotes the partly legendary story
of Paramesvara, the fugitive from Indonesia, who supposedly
settled at Tumasik—the site of the modern city of Singapore—
before going on to found Malacca in the late fourteenth cen-
tury.

On the other hand, Buckley has this legend in his book: “It
is said . . . that Sang Nila Utama settled on the island with
a colony of Malays from Palemb in § and founded
the city of Singhapura in A.p. 1160, wl hcn they changed the orig-
inal name of Tumasik to Singhapura.” This implies that the
settlement existed two hundred years before the date given by Tre-
gonning and that there was a settlement there before the Ma-
lays arrived. Another source gives the settlement date as A.p. 1260.
In any event, they all agree on the meaning of the name.
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In Sanskrit, Singha means lion and pura is city. Singapore, then,
is the Anglicized form of Singhapura or “The City of the Lion.”
Buckley quotes a legend to the effect that Singhapura's founder
saw a lion near the mouth of the Singapore River which caused
him to pick this name for his settlement. Later historians point
out that lions are not found in Malaya. It is possible that Buck-
ley's Sang Nila Utama saw a stone lion left from the ruins of
a previous city on this site.

An account of Raffles’s founding of Singapore is found in The
Hakayit of Abdulla, written by Munshi (teacher) Abdulla, who
was Raffles’s clerk. Abdulla's great-grandfather was an Arab who
married a Malay woman. The rest of Abdulla's ancestry is
Malay. His father was the scholar who taught Malay to William
Marsden, whose grammar text Raffles used to study the language.
Abdulla was a brilliant lad and by the time he was twelve was
employed by Raffles in translating Malay documents into En-
glish.

Later when Raffles founded Singapore he sent for Abdulla to
come from Malacca. He needed a trustworthy translator for the
difficult negotiations because he wanted a legal title to the island.

British colonial adventurers were not always so eager to ob-
tain legal title to their conquests. However, Raffles faced a
trying international situation. He had to consider Dutch reac-
tion to a British settlement at Singapore. For more than a hun-
dred years traders from the Netherlands had dominated
Southeast Asian trade, and the British government in London
would not take kindly to any colonial action that alicnated the
Netherlands. It was imperative that any British settlement, at
this time, be on land unclaimed by the Dutch. It was well
known that Raffles hated the Dutch, and they had mutual feelings
about him. During the Napoleonic Wars when Britain had occu-
pied much of the Dutch colonial empire, Raffles worked hard to
ensure permanent English occupation and then bitterly opposed
turning the settlements back to Dutch control under the treaty
of 1814.

Raffles's first goal was the island of Rhio south of Singapore.
But the Dutch, getting wind of his intention, moved onto the
island. This may have been a feint, since Raffles had earlier
written Marsden that Singapore was his goal. When Raffles




A bronze statue of Stamford Raffles in front of Victoria Memorial
Hall in Singapore. The eyes of the statue are said to be looking
directly at the spot where Sir Stamford first landed on the island in

1819.
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landed in Singapore, the island was inhabited by 150 Malays
who had come from Johore state with the Viceroy of Johore.
The viceroy told Rafiles that the island had been given to him.
No reason has been given why so high an official should have
left the capital and come to such a deserted island. The suppo-
sition is that he found it expedient to get away from Johore
for a while. In addition to the Malays from Johore, there were
a number of orang laut—men of the sca—who lived with their
familics on boats in the coves of the island. These hereditary
sailors lived by fishing and piracy.

The ruler welcomed Raffles, assuring the Englishman that he
would welcome a British settlement. There was a major diffi-
culty, however. Though the viceroy owned the island, it neverthe-
less came under the suzerainty of the Sultan of Johore. This in
turn presented a new complication. The sultan had recently
died and the succession to his throne was in question.

The oldest son and acknowledged heir, Hussein, was away in
Pahang state when his father died, and the monsoon had de-
layed his return. The dead sultan's temenggong, Rajah Muda
Japhar, had quarreled with Hussein and feared his return. Ja-
phar forced the council to accept Hussein’s younger half-brother
Abdul Rahman as sultan. Rafiles learned that the Viceroy of
Singapore was loyal to Hussein and was an enemy of Japhar, who
actually ruled through the weak sultan, Abdul Rahman.

Raffles decided that Hussein had the stronger legal claim to
the throne of Johore. He picked two trusted Malays as his
emissaries to treat secretly with Hussein, who was now in exile
on the Dutch-held island of Rhio. The Malays used an orang
laut pirate chief to smuggle them into the island without Dutch
knowledge. They presented Raffles'’s plan to make Hussein the
Sultan of Johore and, when Hussein agreed, smuggled him out
of Dutch control. They returned to Singapore with the sultan-
to-be on February 1, 1819.

Singapore was a very desolate place at that time. Munshi Ab-
dulla tells us that the harbor at the mouth of the Singapore
River had only a small clearing with less than fifty huts and a
house that served as the viceroy's palace. As for the general
location, the Arab-Malay writer sais No man dared to pass
through the Straits of Singapore; jinns and satans even were
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afraid, for that was the place the pirates made use of to sleep
and to divide their plunder. There also they put their captives
to death and killed each other in quarrels over their spoils. All
along the beach there were hundreds of human skulls, some
of them fresh with the hair still remaining, some with the tecth
still sharp .. .

Raffles knew that even deposed rulers loved pomp and cere-
mony. So he had his sailors cut trees to make a clearing and a
tent was pitched here to receive the sultan-to-be. When Hussein
landed, Raffles had bolts of red trade goods stretched across the
sand to make a red carpet for him to walk on.

Negoriations went well. In exchange for British recognition
of his position as Sultan of Johore, Hussein granted Raffles the
right to establish a factory (trading post) on Singapore Island.
In addition Raffles promised Hussein an annual pension of
$5.000 and protection of the British Army as long as the trading
agreement was in force. (The dollars to be paid were Straits
dollars and were worth about fifty cents U.S. each at that time.
Today the Singapore dollar is worth about twenty-eight cents
us.)

As soon as the treaty with Hussein was concluded, Raffles
returned to Bencoolen, his headquarters on Sumatra. William
Farquhar was left with the monumental job of turning one
tent and a cleared area into a trading center. Farquhar went to
work, surrounded by pirates and under threat of a Dutch at-
tack to drive him out. His troubles were compounded by a run-
ning feud that developed between himself and Raffles. Both were
able men, but their basic philosophies differed. Raffles insisted
that his orders be carried out exactly as he gave them, while
Farquhar—an army officer who distrusted civilians—felt that
he knew the problems better than his absentee master in Ben-
coolen.

Most historians side with Raffles. However, Tregonning has
this to say in his book, The British in Malaya: “One of the clues
to this ambitious, impetuous and clever man is his size; Raffles
was of small stature. Like most small men, he endeavored to
make up for what he lacked by a fierce watching of rights, by
self assertion; he took umbrage very quickly.”

Raffles’s action caused consternation in London. There was
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fear that his high-handed dealings as a sultan-maker would
involve Britain and the Netherlands in a colonial war. As ex-
pected, the Dutch government protested vigorously. It claimed
a trade treaty with Sultan Abdul Rahman included Singapore.
Raffles countered with a treaty Farquhar had signed with Abdul
Rahman giving the British trade rights in Johore in 1818, be-
fore Dutch territory was returned by the British following the
Napoleonic Wars. Raffles now claimed he had legal sanction
from both rulers; the legal ruler Hussein whom the British
supported, and the usurper Abdul Rahman whom the Dutch
supported.

The British Foreign Office in London protested that Raffles
and Farquhar would be overwhelmed by a Dutch attack, but
Lord Hastings, Viceroy in India, supported Raffles. While the
Foreign Office vacillated, unable to make a concrete decision,
the threat diminished. If the politicians back in London were
fearful of Singapore’s future, traders in the Far East were not.
Within four months of Raffles’s initial landing, Singapore had
grown from its original 150 Malays to a population of five
thousand. Within a year the population doubled again and busi-
ness was totaling four million Straits dollars annually. Singa-
pore was well on its way to becoming what it is today: the most
important seaport in Southeast Asia and the fourth largest in the
world.

Several factors worked to Singapore's advantage from the
start. One was its excellent harbor and perfect location in the
center of the water roads between the mainland and the islands
of Indonesia. Another was the reputation for fairness in
dealing with all traders which Raffles had won in his previous
work in Bencoolen and Malacca. Still another that aided
Singapore's rapid growth was free trade. Penang charged a 5
percent duty on all goods imported. Although Tregonning
claims that Raffles permitted duty-free trade ‘“half-heart-
edly” with the intention of adding a duty as soon as trade was
established, Buckley quotes a letter Raffles wrote to a group of
“European and Native Merchants of Singapore,” who expressed
fear when Raffles prepared to return to England in 1823:

“That Singapore will long and always remain a Free Port,
and that no taxes on trade or industry will be established to
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check its future rise and prosperity, I can have no doubt. I am
justified in saying thus much, on the authority of the Supreme
Government in India and on the authority of those who are
most likely to have weight in the councils of our nation at
home.”

The majority of the newcomers to Singapore were Chinese,
establishing a Chinese majority that continues to the present
day with 75 percent of the population being Chinese. Abdulla
has left a description of Singapore’s trade during the first two
years of the colony's operation:

“Every day the quantity of goods for sale increased. It is im-
possible to describe the wonderful variety of the goods brought
for sale by the Europeans, such as our fathers had never seen
before. Auctions were held constantly where the goods were
sold wonderfully cheap. At that time the auctioneer's gongs
were not beaten, nor was notice sent around. The custom was
simply to paste up notices at the several street corners that to-
morrow at 10 o'clock an auction would be held at Mr. So-and-
so's house, with a list of the articles for sale.”

Abdulla then goes on to describe the city in the second and
third years of its existence: “The houses were all attap [palm
thatch] except the one built of brick by Mr. McSweeney who
soon afterwards returned to England and it was then used for
a police station. There was not a single house on the other side
of the river. It was a mangrove swamp and all lived on the
Plain side of the river.”

Raffles made periodic visits to Singapore to check up on Far-
quhar, with whom relations were growing worse. After one
of these visits Raffles reported that during the first two and a
half years of the settlement's existence, 2,889 vessels had cleared
the port, handling $8,568,172 in business.

Singapore was rapidly becoming the most.important port in
Southeast Asia.
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Life in Early Singapore

THE LAND ceded to the British East India Company was at first
sold to traders. Then Raffles decided that he had made a mistake.
The sales contracts were canceled and ninety-nine-year leases
were substituted. To prevent hard feelings, Raffles canceled all
rents and lease fees for the full ninety-nine years to those few
who had sales contracts canceled. This fairness characterized all
of his intercourse with everyone except those who worked
for him. With his subordinates he became increasingly tyranni-
cal. In 1820, smarting under a fancied grievance, he removed
harbor control from Farquhar and placed it under Raffles Flint,
his nephew, whom all except Raffles thought incompetent.

Abdulla mentions an incident to show how far Raffles would
go to support one of his ideas. Farquhar and Raffles got into an
argument over which side of the river should be developed into
the mercantile center. Farquhar favored the side on which they
had landed, but Raffies thought it should be on the swampy
side. Rafiles agreed that it would be extremely expensive either
to fill the swamp or to build the stores on pile foundations.
However, he pointed out that if he let merchants build on the
good side of the river, the other side would not be settled for
a hundred years.

Rafiles gathered up three hundred Chinese coolies and put

30




Life in Early Singa-porz 3

them to work tearing down a hill back of Singapore. The dirt
was carried in baskets on their backs and dumped into the swamp.
Abdulla says, “Mr. Raffles came twice a day to give directions.
After about three or four months the hill was completely cut
down, and all the hollows and streams of the swamp filled. After
the marshy land was filled up, raised, and embanked, it was
measured out into lots and sold by auction.

“Mr. Raffles advised me to buy four or five lots, as afterwards
this part of town would be valuable. I answered where could 1
get money enough to pay for land. 1 saw the lots selling for
S1.200. Mr. Raflles smiled and said, never mind the money,
take the land first and we'll walk about the payment later.”

Abdulla said frankly that he did not expect Singapore to suc-
ceed and turned down the offer. Later he learned that none of
those who bid on the property ever paid for it. Raffles arranged
for the big prices to keep out “paupers,” as Abdulla calls them,
who would have flocked in if they had known the land was
free.

While the hill was being leveled to fill the swamp, the dig-
gers found a curious rock. It had been flattened on one side and
carved with some lettering. The lettering was worn so badly
that it could not be deciphered. In fact, no one could be sure
what language it was written in. Raffles insisted that it was
Hindu simply because this Indian race was the first in the area
who were capable of writing. The Chinese claimed it was Chi-
nese writing, but that not enough remained to tell what was
written. Abdulla said that it looked more like Arabic to him.

Raffles was an antiquarian and had written a book on the his-
tory of Java. He was much interested in the stone, for he in-
tended also to write a history of Malaya. He had the stone
washed with acid, rubbed with a dark substance, and viewed by
slanted light. All attempts to make the inscription legible failed.
A description of the rock claimed it was of red sandstone and
contained about fifty lines of writing. Raffles hoped that it would
ceventually shed light on the past history of Singapore. However,
the stone was eventually broken up and cut into slabs of build-
ing stone. The original stone was said to have been about nine
by ten feet in height and width, and two to three feet thick.

Years later a naval officer, studying an early translation of the
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Malay Annals, found three stories connected with stones in the
Singapore area. The first two dealt with people who were turned
to stone in a miraculous manner. But the third scemed to ex-
plain the mysterious Singapore stone. The Rajah of Singapore
had in his retinue a famous strong man named Badang. In
Kling, India (now Coromandel), the king heard of Badang and
sent his own champion to challenge the strong man. The rajah
and the Indian king bet seven ships on the result. The test was
made by raising a great rock near the rajah’s palace. The Indian
raised it to his knees and let it drop. Badang raised the Tock
above his head and threw it into the mouth of the Singapore
River, “where it remained ever after.” The rajah was so de-
lighted that when Badang died he had two stone pillars in-
scribed and placed as a monument over the strong man's grave.
The officer believed that the mysterious Singapore stone was
one of these inscriptions.

Another reminder that Singapore was once an important
place is the ruins of a fortress wall ten feet thick which w:
found in one place. According to a story told by John Cam-
cron, editor of the famous newspaper Straits Times a hundred
years ago. the city these walls guarded fell because of treachery
sometime about A.n. 1250. The kings of Java made several un-
successful attempts to take the city but were defeated every
time. Then the prince who ruled the city married the beautiful
daughter of his viceroy. The prince’s other wives were jealous
of the lovely girl and soon accused her of infidelity. The angry
ruler ordered the girl impaled on swords. The viceroy pleaded
for his innocent daughter’s life. When this failed, he begged
for a less degrading death for her. This too was refused and the
girl was slain. The bitter father secretly contacted the Javanese
and opened the citadel’s gates to them in the night. The city
was destroyed.

In January 1829 Raffles wrote the East India Company in
Calcutta asking to be relieved for reasons of poor health. At the
same time he wrote an entire page insisting that Colonel Far-
quhar (who had been promoted from major to lieutenant colonel
by the British Army) was incompetent and should not succeed
him. Farquhar, however, continued as Resident (governor) of
Singapore under Raffles's Bencoolen command until May. At
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that time Raffles relieved Farquhar of command because the sub-
ordinate had sent a report to India instead of to Raffles.

Without detracting from Raffles's accomplishments, many
historians and writers feel that Farquhar was ill treated by the
domineering Raffles. Farquhar was in command of Singapore
for its first four years and deserves as much credit as Raffles
for its outstanding success. Farquhar returned to England and
died in 1839 as a major general in the British Army. Although
his accomplishments have been overshadowed by those of Stam-
ford Raflles, in the history of Singapore he must be given his place
on the roll of great pioneers.

There is absolutely no doubt that Stamford Raffles was an
enlightened ruler. The regard the natives felt for him is appar-
ent in their actions both when he left Bencoolen and later when
he left Singapore. His draft for a constitution for Singapore
shows his insistence upon fair play for all races within his juris-
diction. The first part of his “Proclamation of Laws" pointed
out the different backgrounds of the Malays and Chinese who
made up the bulk of Singapore’s population and how this back-
ground differed from that of Europeans. “Under these condi-
tions,” he wrote, “it is not always possible to apply the laws of
Europe direct.”

In general he said, “Nothing should be endured in the Settle-
ment, however sanctioned by local uscage of particular tribes,
that has a direct or a notoriously strong tendency to endanger
the safety or liberty of person or the security of property.” He
went on to enumerate such basic laws as honest weights and
measures, prohibition against frauds, sanctity of oaths, prohibi-
tion against imprisonment for debts, etc.

Raffles’s character and his differences from so many early co-
lonial administrators are shown in the way he explained the need
for changes he forced to make in local customs and laws.
One such change was the age-old Malay tradition of redressing
a wrong by slaying one's enemy. “It ought to be understood,”
Raffles said, “that while individuals are allowed to protect them-
selves against wrongs, the redress of wrongs cannot be left to the
resentment or revenge of the parties conceiving themselves in-
jured.

“Therefore, no one being allowed to revenge his own case,
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arms or weapons capable of inflicting instant death as worn
habitually by the Malays become unnecessary. By dispensing
with them, the greatest temptation to end the power of doing
to others the greatest and irremediable wrong in depriving them
of life is in a great measure removed.”

Raffles went on to tell how il one accused a neighbor of
stealing a cow and later found the neighbor was innocent, redress
could be made for the error; but if one takes the life of a fellow
n in anger, nothing can bring back that life if the Killer should
later find he was wrong.

In the clause on prohibition of gambling, Raffles also went
out of his way to explain the need for the law instead of telling
his subjects that they would stop betting on game cocks.

Later in the document he wrote: “The constitution of En-
gland defines the absolute rights of the subject as follows:

“yst. The right of personal sccurity. 2nd. The right of per-
sonal liberty. And srdly. The right of property.

“There scems to be no reason for denying corresponding
rights 1o all classes of people residing under the protection of
the British flag at Singapore.

“Let all men be considered equal in the eye of the law.

“Let no man be banished from the country without a trial

}IK'EI‘S.

¢t no man be deprived of his liberty without a cause, and
no man detained in confinement beyond 48 hours without a
right to demand a trial according to due course of law.”

Raffles was also guilty of some rather peculiar legal ideas. In
one place he wrote that the purpose of laws was to secure legal
obligations, and that they must never transcend moral obliga-
tions. “The English practice of teaching prisoners to plead not
guilty, that they may have a chance of escaping from punishment,
is inconsistent with this aim and consequently objectionable.”

Raffles’s successor was John Crawfurd. Crawfurd had been
in the Bengal (India) Medical Service and later served as civil
surgeon in Penang. He was a very cold person and quite coolly
regarded by the people of Singapore, who had liked Raffles and
Farquhar very much. Abdulla wrote of him: “His impatience
prevented him from listening to long complaints, and he did not
care to investigate matters. As sure as there was a plaint he would
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cut it short in the middle. On this account I have heard that most
people murmured and were dissatisfied, feeling that they could
not accept his decision with good will, but by force only.

Rafiles left Singapore in June 1823 for Bencoolen, from where
he embarked for England with his wife and infant child on
the ship Fame. Both he and his wife were in poor health and
several of their children had died in Southeast Asia. Shortly
after departure a torch carried by a steward drawing brandy
from the ship's supply caused a fire that destroyed the ship.
Raffles and his family escaped in small boats and returned to Ben-
coolen, but all their property was lost. The greatest loss was
historical. In Raffles's own words:

“The loss I have to regret, above all, is my papers and draw-
ings; all my notes and observations; my intended account of
the establishment of Singapore; Eastern grammars, dictionaries,
and vocabularies; and all my collection of natural history.”

Additional information about the loss comes from Abdulla,
who wrote: “When 1 heard the news I was breathless, remem-
bering all the Malay books of ancient date collected from vari-
ous sources; all these lost. As to Mr. Raffles’s other property 1
did not care, for, if his life was spared, he could reinstate this.
But the books could not be recovered, for none of them were
printed but were in manuscript; they were so rare. 1 further
remembered his intention of composing a work on these coun-
tries, and his promise to put my name in it. All these are gone."

The loss was a great blow not only to history but also to
science, for the collection contained over two thousand drawings
of rare plants and animals of Southeast Asia. It had been Raf-
fles’s intention to spend his retirement using this material in a
collection of histories of Malaya, Borneo, and Sumatra to fol-
low his previously published history of Java.

He immediately booked passage on another ship, but the cap-
tain went mad before it could sail. He took still another and
finally departed, arriving in England in August 1824. He spent
the next two years arguing with directors of the East India
Company in London about sums due him, and then he died on
July 5, 1826. He was forty-five years old. “A young age,” Buck-
ley wrote, “for one who had done so much for the good of all
around him, and for his fellow countrymen after him."”

High-level talks between the British and the Dutch over Raf-
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fles's occupation of Singapore began in 1819 soon after the
Dutch learned of the landing. By 1823 Singapore had proven
5o valuable that the British had no intention of leaving, regard-
less of what action the Dutch took. The only dissenters were
the merchants and governor of Penang whose business fell off
drastically as trade bypassed the older island settlement and
came to Singapore.

The cussions finally ended in the Anglo-Dutch treaty of
1824. In effect, the two countries drew a line along the equator.
Territory above the line was reserved for English influence. Be-
low the line was the Dutch sphere of influence. The East India
Company withdrew from Bencoolen on Sumatra in accordance
with this treaty. The Dutch gave up some harbors in India and
the port of Malacca. The trade benefited both sides. Bencoolen
had never done much trade since the Dutch at Batavia (now
Djakarta, Java) got the lion's share. The English had retained
only Bencoolen because of some valuable pepper plantations
there. On the other hand, the Dutch had never made any money
out of Malacca. The harbor was silting up so badly that ships had
difficulty getting in. So each side got rid of its white elephants in
the deal. From the British point of view the valuable prize was
Dutch acknowledgment of British sovereignty in Singapore. At
the same time John Crawfurd, Raffles's successor, negotiated a
new treaty with the Sultan of Johore which ceded the entire
island to Great Britain. Rafiles’s treaty had provided for space to
build only a trading settlement.

Since the Indian headquarters of the East India Company
could not govern its far-flung commercial empire from India,
sections of that empire were broken into “Presidencies.” Each
Presidency was maintained by a li LOVETNor Tesy ibl
to the governor of the East India Company in Calcutta, India.
It is important to remember that the East India Company be-
gan as a private enterprise and did not become government-con-
trolled until the end of its long operations. The actions of the
company and its men were the actions of private individuals.
However, as in the case of official British government reaction
to Rafiles’s territorial encroachment, the company's actions and
expansions had to coincide with official policy. Otherwise Great
Britain might find herself involved in a war.

R —
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The private nature of the East India Company also explains
why Great Britain did not—as the Dutch did—seize territorial
and political control of all areas where their trade settle-
ments were located. The British did grab total control in India,
but once this was done, the company had to bear the costs of
administering the new acquisition in the years before the In-
dian government was taken over by the British crown. The costs
were enormous. The purpose of the East India Company was to
make money—not to pay it out governing countries.

This policy is what kept the Malay Peninsula independent in
the fifty years following the settlement of Singapore. British di-
rect control extended only to Singapore Island, Penang Island,
and the small state of Malacca which surrounded the city and
port. These three areas were combined into a Presidency, gov-
erned first from Penang and then from Singapore. In the 1830s
these areas became known as the Straits Settlements to differen-
tiate them from the rest of Malaya.

The rest of Malaya was divided into states and sultanates. Or-
dinarily a state was governed by a rajah who owed allegiance
of varying degrees to a sultan who—at least in name—governed
one or more states. At the time the Anglo-Dutch treaty was
signed in 1824, the peninsula was controlled mainly by the Johore
Sultanate, the Thais from Siam who had influence over several
northern Malay states, and the independent state of Negri Sem-
bilan north of Malacca.

The Siamese had been trying to add the peninsula to their
territory for more than four hundred years. Kelantan, a large
state on the east coast, was created from a number of petty
states and became a sultanate in 1800 under nominal Siamese
suzerainty. Trengganu, on the east coast south of Kelantan,
sent tribute to both the Siamese and the Sultan of Riau, the
Dutch-controlled archipelago. The Riau Sultanate also claimed
suzerainty over Pahang, the central and largest of the Malay
peninsular states at this time. Kedah, on the west coast opposite
Penang, was completely under Siathese control. Perak, south of
Kedah, was independent and was ruled by the last of the line of
old Malaccan sultans.

There was a misunderstanding over how far Dutch territory
extended inland from the city of Malacca. When the British

'
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took over Malacca in 1825, this area was controlled by the tiny
state of Naning. Difficulties arose and a war resulted which
ended in the annexation of Naning to Malacca, enlarging the
port citystate to the size of the present state of Malacca. The
war, while successful militarily, cost the East India Company so
much money that critics used it as an example of why the Brit-
ish should keep away from territorial expansion and confine them-
selves strictly to trade settlements. This again became the policy.
Great Britain and the East India Company paid little atten-
tion to the internal activities of the Malay states unless Great
Britain had some direct involvement.

In the meantime Singapore continued to grow in importance.
By 1830 the city’s port was doing more than twice the business
of Penang and Malacca combined. Settlement of the British-
Dutch trouble brought fifty years of peace which greatly
aided trade expansion. While the British were content to sit on
their conquests, the Dutch were rapidly expanding through the
Indonesian area. Although Britain and the East India Company
were content with maintaining the status quo, individual English-
men were not. This attitude brought to Southeast Asia a re-
markable man and one of the most colorful of the swashbuckling
adventurers who did so much for the British Empire during its
years of imperialistic expansion. James Brooke, the “White Ra-
jah of Sarawak,” came to the arca in his private ship, made
himself ruler of a private kingdom, and founded a dynasty that
ruled until World War 1. He was the kind of man who ap-
pears more often in fiction than in real life.




CHAPTER FIVE
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The White Rajah

JAMES BROOKE, who became the white rajah, was born in
India where his father was a civil service judge for the East
India Company. He was sent to England to be educated when
he was twelve but was not a successful scholar. He was permit-
ted to return to India in 1819 when he was sixteen to join the
Gith Native Infantry as an ensign. He was thrilled to hear of
Stamford Raffles's conquest of Singapore. Right then was born
his own dream of pushing back the frontier of the British Em-
pire in the Orient. James was unhappy with his assignment of
Sub-Assistant Commissary General. He felt he was fitted for
better things than furnishing subsistence to the Army. But his
work kept him busy. And at the moment there was little James
could do about his ambition.

His big chance came in 1825. Lord Amherst, Governor-Gen-
cral of Bengal Province, learned from native spies that Burma
was plotting a surprise attack on British headquarters in Cal-
cutta. In late 1824 Amherst declared war against Burma to fore-
stall the Burmese invasion. Brooke got into bate in January
1825 and displayed such bravery that he was “mentioned in dis-
patches.” This is the way the British commend acts below those
meriting an actual medal for heroism. Being mentioned in dis-
patches was and still is an honor and often puts the recipient
in line for promotion.
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Brooke was now working with the cavalry. In order to get
out of the infantry c issary job, he vol 1 to raise a
troop of light cavalry for reconnaissance and scouting. Several
days after his first fight, Brooke's scout troop again contacted the
enemy. There was a pitched battle. Brooke was shot and left
for dead but later was picked up and survived. The bullet, which
had lodged near his spine, was taken from his body and sent to
England, where it was kept by his mother as a souvenir. She
displayed it in a glass case in the Brooke parlor.

James received a three-and-a-half-year convalescent leave. As
he was returning to India to resume his commission, his ship
was wrecked and his health relapsed. He again recovered and
started back once more. However, his time was running out.
James was not commissioned in the British Army. He was in
the East India Company’s private army. Company regulations
required anyone whose leave of absence was longer than five
years to forfeit his commission. James knew he could not get
back to Calcutta on time. He put in to Madras on the southeast
Indian coast and asked to be temporarily enrolled in the Madras
Division of the Army so he could be carried on the rolls be-
fore the five years elapsed. His request was refused. He turned
his back on the Army and took passage on a ship that went to
Penang, then to Singapore, and finally to Canton, China.

James returned to England, on fire to become a trader. He
persuaded his father, who had since retired in England, to buy
him a ship, but James and the ship's captain quarreled. As a
result the voyage was a failure and the cargo had to be sold at a
loss. Young Brooke came back to England, where his father died
in 1835. The son's share of his father's estate was about the
equivalent of $150,000 in U.S. currency. James immediately
bought a 142-ton schooner with six 6-pound cannon and a num-
ber of swivel guns capable of beating off pirates.

His intention was to avoid conflict with other traders by
opening new territory. For some time he had been considering
Borneo as the base of his operations. This large island east of
the Malay Peninsula had some minor Dutch settlements in the
south, but the north had no trading centers at all. The British
twice tried to make settlements there but failed both times.

Borneo lies four hundred miles east of Singapore and is the
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largest land mass on the Sunda Platform. It stretches more than
six hundred miles from northern tip to southern tip and is cut
by the equator. It is hilly and mountainous. The mountains of
the north are part of the long range that forms the Philippine
Islands north of Borneo. The largest part of the island, even to-
day, is so choked with rain forest that no human beings live
there except for a scattering of wandering aborigine tribes. What
settlements there were had been established on the narrow allu-
vial plains and around the mouths of the rivers.

Borneo has no written history. The distant past was a com-
plete blank until around 1954 when diggers harvesting bat
guano in some huge limestone caves near Niah in north Sara-
wak discovered remarkable prehistoric remains. “Among the
finds were the almost-perfect skeletons of small people with
beautifully made and polished stone axes and adzes lying among
them,” writes Harry Miller, a historian. “Wall paintings in red
haematite [iron ore] on the limestone wall of another cave and
some fragile relics are believed to date back to 50,000 B.c." The
curtain drops here and nothing else is known about Borneo un-
tl A.p. Goo when it is mentioned in Chinese records. Some his-
torians interpret earlier Chinese documents as referring to
Borneo, but such references are so vague as to be subject to
differing interpretations.

The aborigine tribes still represented in Borneo today are
kin to the Malays and show their Mongoloid origin. The larg-
est of the aborigine groups is the Dayaks. Dayak is a Malay
word meaning “savage” and was indiscriminately applied to all
aborigine people by the first Europeans coming into Borneo. Later
the natives were classified as Sea Dayaks and Land Dayaks, al-
though they are not the same people. They are, however, ethnically
related. Of the two, the Sea Dayaks, originally a ferocious pirate
group, gave Europeans the most trouble. The Land Dayaks were
shy and wanted only to be left alone. They retreated into the
interior as settlers came.

For centuries the entire west coast of Borneo was a pirates’
haven. These pirates were not individual free enterprise killers
like those of the Western Hemisphere. In Borneo entire tribes
and sometimes nations were organized under their sultans to
prey on shipping between China and India. Writers of this
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period were unanimous in calling the Dayaks the most vicious
people on earth. A favorite pirate method of attack was to catch
a becalmed vessel at night. The Dayaks would row their low
boats in close and then swarm onto the deck of the merchantman.
All prisoners taken by the pirates who were not slain were sold as
slaves or tortured for amusement.

Sometime around A.p. 1500 Malays from the peninsula settled
in Brunei in Northwest Borneo. Shortly after this a famous pi-
rate called Sultan Bulkiah seized power. This man, known as
Nakhoda Rag he Singing Captain—brought a large section
of Borneo under his rule. Then, swinging north in his conquests,
Bulkiah conquered several islands in the Sulu Sea and even
sacked Manila in the Philippines. The current name Borneo is
a corruption of Brunei and goes back to the sixteenth century
when Bulkiah's Sultanate of Brunei controlled most of the big
island.

The ships of Ferdinand Magellan, first man to circumnavi-
gate the globe, called at Brunei during the height of its power.
Magellan was slain while helping the Sultan of Cebu in a war,
but his crew continued the voyage. The expedition’s historian,
a Portuguese named Pigafetta, told how the voyagers were
welcomed to Brunei. The city of Brunei, he wrote, was
just a collection of thatched huts “built entirely in the salt wa-
ter.” From this we infer that the buildings were raised on poles
along the beach like so many villages found today in Borneo and
throughout the South Seas. The sweep of the tide serves as a ready-
made means of keeping such a village clean. Such an arrangement
is considered more sanitary than a village built on land. An excep-
tion to the beach houses in Brunei was the sultan’s palace and
the homes of his immediate retinue.

Magellan’s men were welcomed by the Bruneians and mounted
on clephants which took them to the sultan’s palace. Pigafetta
says they rode right into the building, passing between a guard
of three hundred men who stood with drawn swords. The sultan
sat on a dais behind a curtain which slaves lifted so he could
see the visitors. The foreigners were not allowed to speak to the
sultan directly, but spoke to intermediaries who passed the
conversation among three of them before it reached the ruler.

After this visit Europeans showed little interest in Borneo
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until the end of the sixteenth century, when the Dutch established
a settlement on the south end of the island. As time passed most
of the island came under Dutch influence. When James Brooke
arrived in 1839 nothing remained of the once powerful Brunei
sultanate except the northern states of Brunei, Sarawak, and
part of Sabah.

Brooke's arrival in Brunei was not accidental. He had learned
carlier that there was trouble in the sultanate and he hoped to
take advantage of it. Brunei was then under the rule of Sultan
Omar Ali. A wribe of Dayaks in Sarawak had rebelled against
their governor, a rascal named Makota who was also a relative
of the sultan. The sultan sent his deputy, Rajah Muda, to put
down the revolt. Muda moved to Kuching, the capital of Sara-
wak, a miserable, fever-ridden swamp where lived about 1,500
people. He was making no headway at all in containing
the revolt when James Brooke arrived in his armed ship. Brooke
was the first white man the rajah had ever seen. He had heard
of them, however, and nothing he had heard was good. He sus-
pected the Englishman of being a spy. He craftily refused to
speak ill of the Dutch and kept asking Brooke which was the
more powerful nation, the Netherlands or Great Britain. Brooke
gravely assured him that Great Britain was the world’s most
powerful nation.

The next day Brooke met the crafty Makota, “a real liv-
ing Dayak of Lundu. The Dayak’s complexion was somewhat
darker than the average Malay. The countenance intelligent,
the eye quick and wandering; the forehead of medium height.
His stature was five feet two inches, his limbs were well formed
and muscular. He was by no means shy or reserved,” Brooke
wrote later,

Questioning Makota, Brooke learned that the Dayak was a
head hunter, but that he hunted heads only during a war, He
never went out and cut off heads just for the pleasure, the
Dayak explained through an interpreter.

Later Brooke took a hundred-mile boat trip up the Lundu
River to visit villages inhabited by Dayaks such as the one he
met in Kuching. He traveled by night and wrote of the glorious
moon, the dark fringe of the jungle, and “here and there a tree
flashing and shining with fireflics.” He carried his own camping
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equipment, but after a sudden rainstorm spent the rest of the
night in a native house.

His description of a Borneo “long house” shows how little
things have changed in the 132 years since Brooke made his
first trip into the Borneo interior. Such communal homes are
still to be found among wilder tribes in the back country today.

“There is one enormous house for the entire village popula-
tion. It measures 594 feet in length, and the front room or
street, is the entire length of the building, and twenty-one feet
broad. The back part is divided by mat partitions into private
apartments of the various families, and of these there are forty-
five separate doors leading to the public apartment. The widow-
ers and young unmarried men occupy the public room, as only
those with wives are entitled to the advantage of scparate
rooms,

He went on to describe the general building. It was raised
twelve feet from the ground and the stairway for entry was noth-
ing but a pole in which notches were cut. “A most steep, diffi-
cult and awkward ladder,” Brooke reported. “In front is a ter-
race fity feet long. This platform, as well as the front room,
is the resort of pigs, dogs, birds, monkeys and fowls, and pre-
sents a glorious scene of confusion and bustle.”

On top of the long house was a second-story cache where
food and implements were stored. The people slept on cots
made from hollow logs, and the place was decorated with thirty
skulls, trophies of their head-hunting prowess. The Dayaks did
not shrink their captured heads like the Indians of the Amazon
in South America, but just retained the skulls. All his life
Brooke was to make apologies for the head-hunting activities of
his Dayak friends, insisting that they were taken only in time
of war and then from fallen focs. No man ever killed just
to get a head for a trophy, However, there is evidence that, in
some tribes at least, a young man was not permitted to marry
until he had taken a head. It is hardly reasonable to believe
that he waited for a convenient intertribal war, since bachelor-
hood was considered unnatural.

On his return from these explorations Brooke again pressed
the rajah concerning the fighting in Sarawak. Rajah Muda kept
insisting that there was no fighting and that the situation was
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well under control. Brooke then sailed for other islands, but
returned eleven months later on his way to the Philippines and
China. He found a very agitated Rajah Muda. The insurrection
had gotten completely out of hand, and Muda feared his sultan’s
wrath. The rajah begged Brooke to help him. This was what the
British adventurer had been waiting for. He quickly agreed to
help, but found that Muda was strangely reluctant to act on
any of the plans he advanced. Finally Brooke threatened
to leave. Again Rajah Muda begged the Englishman to stay,
even going so far as to promise him the governorship of Sarawak
if he would help in the fighting.

Brooke wrote a letter home in which he said that he was not
sure that Rajah Muda was serious in his proposal to make
him ruler of Sarawak Province, but just the same, the idea
appealed to the English adventurer. In the meantime, Muda
kept hindering Brooke's efforts to defeat the rebels. Later
Brooke discovered that Muda's indecision was caused by Makota
who hated the Englishman and worked to change Rajah Muda’s
mind each time the rajah agreed to Brooke’s plans. Finally
Brooke went ahead with some of his own men and defeated the
rebels.

Brooke now tried to hold Rajah Muda to his promise to make
him Rajah (governor) of Sarawak. Muda repeated his prom-
ise and drew up an agreement. The agreement, when translated
by Brooke, proved to be only an agreement to trade. Muda ex-
plained to the angry Englishman that this was done deliberately
because Sarawak was a state of the Brunei Sultanate and Sultan
Omar Ali would have to approve any transfer of territory. This
would be done eventually, Rajah Muda assured Brooke, but it
would take some time. Muda claimed that his strategy was to
get Omar Ali used to Brooke's presence as a trader before
broaching the subject of making the Englishman Rajah of Sara-
wak.

The dickering and bickering continued until James Brooke
lost his temper. His anger was partly at Rajah Muda and partly
at Sultan Omar Ali. Omar Ali had thirty shipwrecked English-
men in captivity and was demanding ransom for them.

What happened next is recorded in Brooke's journal: “Re-
pairing on board my ship, I mustered my people, explained my
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intentions and mode of operation, and having loaded the vessel's
guns and brought her broadside to bear, 1 proceeded on shore
with a detachment fully armed.”

Brooke drew up his armed guard in front of the rajah’s pal-
ace. Gaining an immediate audience with Rajah Muda, Brooke
accused Makota of villainy and undermining all the good
Brooke had accomplished. Even though he knew that Makota
was the relative of both Rajah Muda and Sultan Omar Ali,
Brooke informed the frightened Muda that he intended to drive
Makota from the country by force.

“Iexplained to the Rajah,” Brooke wrote, “that several chiefs
and a large body of Siniawan Dayaks [the rebels Brooke had
lately defeated] were ready to assist me, and that the only course
left to prevent bloodshed was immediately to proclaim me gov-
ernor . . . After this demonstration, affairs proceeded cheerily
to a conclusion. The Rajah was active in settling; the agreement
was drawn, sealed, and signed. Guns fired. Flags waved. And on
the 24th September, 1841, 1 became the Governor of Sarawak
with the fullest powers.”

Brooke took his new position as Rajah of Sarawak seriously.
He immediately set up court in his cottage and began dispens-
ing justice. He kept four Englishmen from the ship to help him
in Kuching, the capital of Sarawak. The rest of his men were
sent out in two ships to continue trading. Brooke began work
to bring law and order to his state. In the manner of Oriental
potentates, he sat as judge in his own court and made a journey
inland to settle a quarrel between two men as to which should
be chief of a native tribe. His letters home give the unmis-
takable impression that Rajah Brooke was thoroughly enjoying
himself.

He was aware that his title to Sarawak was shaky. All he had
was an agreement signed by Rajah Muda which was yet to be
endorsed by Sultan Omar Ali in Brunei. However, Brooke did
not think it wise to go immediately to Brunei. He wanted to
wait and let the sultan get used to the idea of having a white
rajah governing his province before he approached Omar Ali
about making the agreement with Rajah Muda permanent.
When Brooke finally went, he found the famous city was nothing
like the glamorous place he had imagined. Brunei city was as
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miserable looking as Brooke's own Kuching. It was a jumble of
native-type houses built on stilts and joined with rattan bridges
to keep people out of the mud that never seemed to dry. There
were some permanent-type public buildings, but all were poorly
kept.

Omar Ali proved to be a fat man with a child-like manner.
He quickly agreed to legalize Brooke's rajahship of Sarawak and
was pleased over the arrangement for him to receive an annual
payment in licu of the taxes that Brunei had never been able
to collect anyway. Directly upon returning to Kuching,
Brooke had to put down a revolt of Dayaks. This pleased Omar
Ali. However, Brooke's next action pained the sultan, although
Omar Ali could do nothing but smile and act pleased. This was
Brooke's attack on the 20,000 or more pirates who swarmed
around Borneo. The sultan had always received a cut of the
pirates’ booty in exchange for not disturbing their activity. This
ended when Brooke suppressed piracy. After Brooke first fought
a couple of sea battles with the pirates, most of the fighting was
done by his good friend Captain Henry Keppel, who com-
manded a British Navy ship patrolling the Straits area. This
help ended when Keppel was transferred to China, His successor,
Captain Sir Edward Belcher, hated Borneo and Brooke. He saw
no reason for helping the white rajah hold his private princi-
pality.

No one had expected Brooke to last long as Southeast Asia's
only white rajah, but he got along quite well. In 1846 he per-
suaded the sultan to cede Lubuan Island, off the coast of Bru-
nei, to the British. The British government then appointed
Brooke Governor of Lubuan and British Consul-General to
Brunei. The adventurous Englishman was now both a British
government official and the independent ruler of his own state.

In this way Brooke laid the foundation for eventual British
takeover in North Borneo, founding states that would someday
take their place in the Federation of Malaysia. But quite a num-
ber of years, many fateful events, and two great wars had to
come and go before this became possible.




CHAPTER SIX

2333

The Growing Years

BRITISH policy in the second half of the nineteenth cen-
tury still favored trade over territorial expansion. However, the
government in London began to take more political interest in
Southeast Asia as the British East India Company gradually
collapsed. The decline began in 1833 when the company lost
its China trade poly and new competi took over some
of its business. This forced the company to concentrate more on
India, which worked to Singapore's disadvantage, since that port
was founded primarily to assist the China trade. The disadvan-
tage to Singapore was not in any loss of trade; in fact, business
continued to grow. But because administration of the island was
under the company’s headquarters in faraway Calcutta, India,
the East India Company administrators were not i d i

in
improving Singapore or spending any money on it. So from
1850 on there was growing agitation by businessmen in Singa-
pore to remove the island from Calcutta’s control and to make
the Straits Settlements (that is, all British interest states in Ma-
laya) a Crown Colony under direct control of London.

As the shipping busi continued to boom, farsighted men
saw the need to develop native Malayan industries and re-
sources. Little had been done in this line during the three hun-
dred years that Europeans had been in Malaya. Settlements were
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still restricted to small river areas. These river-states, as they
were called, were little more than kampongs or native Malay
villages. The interior of the peninsula was still as wild as it had
ever been. While sultans in the larger Malay states claimed
suzerainty over these river-states, in actual practice they could
exercise little control. The situati bled the relationshiy
between James Brooke and Omar Ali of Brunei: Brooke owed
allegiance to Brunei, but Omar Ali was powerless to enforce his
will on the White Rajah of Sarawak. Malacca and Penang held
on as entrepdts, but had become of minor importance. Commer-
cially speaking, Malaya was Singapore and Singapore was Ma-
laya. The entire population of the Malay Peninsula at the mid-
point of the nineteenth century was estimated at only 300,000.

Two factors of extreme importance to the peninsula’s future
were the development of the tin industry and the influx of a
large number of Chinese immigrants. Both would play a decid-
edly important part in Malaya's future, and the two were tied
together. The Chinese were imported by their fellow countrymen
who developed large-scale tin mining in Perak and Sengalor
states. Tin became so important that today the Malay Peninsula
supplies the bulk of the world's tin supply. The mining is car-
ried on in the plains area where the metal is extracted from
alluvial sand that has been washed down from the mountains
during a million years of erosion.

While development of the tin industry gave the Malay econ-
omy a much-needed local product boost, it introduced disturb-
ing racial discord that has increased with the years and continues
to the present. The sced of all current racial troubles in
Malaysia goes back to the Chinese immigration of the mid-
nineteenth century.

The trouble was and still is that the Chinese are extremely

aggressive and brilliant busi They soon domi eco-
nomically any area where they settle. In the tin mining areas
the Chinese population soon lled the Malayan population.

q
Racial resentment arose inevitably as the Chinese prospered to
a greater extent than the native people. There was an equal re-
sentment on the part of the Chinese who, although they com-
prised half the population, were deprived of all political partici-
pation in the state. Religion also played its part in increasing
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racial discord. The Chinese were primarily Buddhist, whereas the
Malays were Muslim.

The tin mining settlements were similar to the old Western
towns of the United States. Gambling, lawlessness, and fighting
were common and little could be done about it. Later the
development of Chinese secret societies (on the order of the
tongs of New York and San Francisco Chinatowns) added to the
trouble. These societies were formed by immigrants banding
together for mutual protection, but soon they were like private
nations. Members were under the absolute orders of the society
leaders who held court and even sentenced members to death
for infraction of society rules. Each society was independent and
often made war on other Chinese secret societies.

Tin had been mined in Malaya for nearly a thousand years
before this time, since the metal was in demand to alloy with
copper to produce bronze. This mining was small scale, however,
and was carried on in a primitive fashion. A canal was cut beside a
river which ran through an alluvial tin deposit. Ore-bearing
sand was pushed into the canal. Water from the river was di-
verted through the canal, washing the sand away and leaving the
heavier tin on the bottom of the canal. This is the principle of
the sluice box which was used by the California gold miners in
18409.

The Chinese introduced an improved method of mining.
First they dug holes in the earth to locate tin-bearing sand. This
sand was dug out and carried in baskets on the backs of coolies
to specially built sluice boxes where as much of the tin as possi-
ble was separated. Then women and children, using wooden
pans called dulangs, panned the tailings to get the tin not caught
in the sluice boxes. This double method greatly increased
production. The Chinese miners had to pay a portion of their
profit to the sultans for mining privileges. Thus tin rapidly
became the mainstay of the sultans’ treasuries.

An attempt to grow spices failed completely. Beginning with
Stamford Raffles, numcrous people tried planting nutmeg and
clove trees, and at one time there was a spice boom. But those
who invested in Malay spice plantations eventually lost every-
thing, for the trees grew well at first and then sickened and died
after a few years.
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Promoters of Malay industry had better luck with gutta-
percha, a rubberlike substance obtained from sap of the getah
tree. The rubberish compound could be made to harden on
€xposure to air, but it could be softencd in hot water so it could
be molded into various shapes. Although unknown to Europeans
in Malaya until the mid-1840s, gutta-percha had been used by
Malays for centuries. Charles Buckley quotes an interesting arti-
cle published in an 1856 issue of the Singapore Free Press which
said that gutta-percha had been used since “time immemorial” by
inland Malay tribes who molded it into handles for krisses and
swords. “It was first brought to the attention of Europeans by a
Malay of Singapore, who in the year 1842, commenced manu-
facturing riding whips of gutta. These had all the tough and
elastic properties for which the shamboks [rhinoceros-hide whips
of South Africa] are so celebrated.”

The substance got its greatest boost in 1851 when a British
experimenter discovered that gutta made a perfect insulation for
submarine cables which were just coming into use for telegraph
lines between England proper and its channel islands. In 1844
Singapore exported one and a half piculs of gutta. (A picul is an
Asian measure which denotes the amount of weight a man
can carry on his back. It varies from 132 to 140 pounds.) In
four years this jumped to 21,600 pounds. The price began at
cight dollars a picul in 1844 and by the end of the century
reached a price of seven hundred dollars a picul. The discovery
that it could be used for bicycle tires aided the boom.

It was not all work in Singapore in the mid-nineteenth cen-
tury. This account from the Free Press shows how everyone,
native and European, enjoyed the traditional holidays:

“New Year's Day was celebrated with the usual rejoicings, the
Esplanade being crowded with the natives who had assembled to
enjoy the accustomed sports and pastimes. There was an abun-
dance of amusement suited for every taste, from a well-greased
pole for those inclined to display their powers of perseverance to
dancing girls for those fond of the ballet. There were three hack-
pony races with a number of entries, foot Taces, and a pig race, or
rather a race after a pig.

“The most exciting sport, however is football [soccer] in
which all joined. The day was fine, a breeze for the most part
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prevailing, and the varied and gay costumes of the natives, and
especially the Malays, who were present in great number and
dressed in their best, formed altogether a very animated and
enlivening scene, enhanced by the good humor which seemed to
animate all.

“The aquatic sports were no less well got up and successful.
There were sailing races, yachts, sampans and canoes, as well as
rowing. All were well contested, and proved highly interesting.”

Tigers were a problem at this time, with an average of one
death per day attributed to the ferocious cats. Cats as a species
hate water, but tigers can swim, and their increase on Singapore
island was caused by the big cats swimming the Strait of Singap
between the island and Johore. The situation got so bad that the
Free Press suggested several possible solutions. One was to import
skilled tiger hunters from India. Another was to “employ third
class convicts to beat the jungle once a month with tomtoms,
horns, etc., which, if they do not lead to destruction of the tigers,
may frighten them away from the island.”

John Cameron also added stories about tigers in his book,
Our Tropical Possessions in Malayan India. Cameron wrote that
tiger hunting was difficult. “There is nothing exciting about
tiger shooting here, and consequently few join it from pleasure
... Itis usual to tie a bullock to a stake in the center of guarded
trees as a lure. Watches of this kind often continue for weeks and
the chances of a tiger appearing are ten to one.” Even experts
found the Singapore tigers too wily for them. Cameron told
about an “old American backwoodsman, who has many years
devoted himself to tiger destruction, but he has had but poor
sport of it here in Singapore—though I believe he killed many
tigers in Johore.” This American was said to have been very
eccentric but was much liked by both the Malays and the Euro-
peans in Singapore.

The papers of the period carried a full share of crime news.
Pirates were still active, and Chinese secret societies were more
troublesome than ever. Catholicism had come to Southeast Asia
with the Portuguese but had made few inroads against the
strongly entrenched Muslim religion. There were scattered con-
verts among the Chinese. Buckley reports: “A very slight pre-
tense was laid hold of for sacking and pillaging the plantations

|
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belonging to Christian Chinese and for carrying off individuals
and holding them for ransom.” He claimed the kidnaping was
done by one or more of the secret societies from whose ranks the
converts had come. Leaders feared that such defections would
destroy the societies. The Free Press said: “The Christians came
to town from all parts of the country as to a place of refuge, and
people yesterday in flourishing circumstances are today reduced
to the greatest misery. The list of planters ruined proves there
exists a conspiracy throughout the entire island.”

The anti-religious attacks were not confined only to Chinese
converts. The vengeful secret societies also attacked priests, as
witness this story from the Free Press: “The Revd. Mr. Issaly
had gone to Sungei Benoi to attend a sick Christian woman, wife
of a Chinese planter. He was informed that a band of heathen
Chinese intended to attack him. He took refuge in the jungle
and stayed for twenty-four hours. He finally escaped to the
coast where he met a boatman who charged him the exorbitant
sum of eight dollars to carry him to town.”

The police went to execute some arrest warrants for the
destruction. They had arrested twelve men when they were
attacked by a force of two hundred Chinese, acting on secret
society orders to rescue their fellow members, A police gunboat
was sent up the Singapore River to aid in the fight. It is rather
startling to learn that this attacking force sent to restore order
included thirty convicts from the Singapore jail. Although Singa-
pore evidently trusted its own convicts, using them for public
work and even as auxiliary police, the city did not appreciate
“foreign” convicts, When Calcutta tried to use Malaya as a site
for transporting Europeans convicted in the India courts, the
entire city rose up in righteous wrath.

In the meantime, Sir James Brooke (he had recently been
knighted) was having trouble in Sarawak with the Chinese, who
resented river tolls instituted by Brooke as a tax on their gold
mining in the interior. Suddenly a large Chinese force attacked
Kuching. Brooke fled just in time to save his life, but returned
with a superior force and defeated the rebels,

What Brooke did in his own Sarawak was none of Great
Britain's business, but he was also governor of Lubuan Island
which was a British gow position, An angry English
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who had been an agent for Brooke used this technicality
to prefer charges against the white rajah in Singapore. He
charged that Brooke had been unnecessarily cruel in putting
down disturbances in the Lubuan territory. After an official hear-
ing in Singapore, the charges against Brooke were dropped. How-
ever, the action hurt Brooke. Borneo natives took it as a sign
that the white rajah no longer enjoyed the confidence and respect
of the British government. Brooke made no effort to change his
ways. He continued to enlarge his state of Sarawak at the ex-
pense of Brunei. The weak Brunei sultan could do nothing about
.

Brooke was ailing and it was expected that his illegitimate
son would succeed him. This son was a surprise to everyone. He
turned up late in Brooke's life, claiming he was the result of an
affair Brooke had while back in England. Brooke did not ques-
tion the young man's story and accepted him as his son. However,
the young man—whose name was Reuben George—did not live
up to his father's expectations. Brooke did not feel that he had
the ability to be a future ruler of Sarawak. So before he died of
a paralytic stroke in June 1868, James Brooke made a will leav-
ing Sarawak to his nephew, Charles Johnson, with the under-
standing that Charles would provide an annuity for Brooke’s
son. Charles changed his name to Charles Brooke and became the
second White Rajah of Sarawak.

Charles Brooke also tried to enlarge Sarawak, but he ran into
competition in North Borneo. There, an American named
Torrey secured trading rights which he then sold to Baron Von
Overbeck of Austria and Alfred Dent of England. Then in 1877
Von Overbeck and Dent persuaded the sultan to cede them the
entire section of North Borneo which would eventually become
the Malaysian state of Sabah. There was a conflict in that the
Sultan of the Island of Sulu also claimed the territory. Sulu had
once been a vassal of Brunei, but he had broken away to form a
new sultanate when Brunei's power waned. Just to be on the safe
side, since Sulu’s military power was greater than Brunei's, Von
Overbeck made a separate treaty with the Sultan of Sulu in which
the sultan ceded the two traders the same land that they had
obtained from Brunei. Von Overbeck later withdrew from the
partnership, and Dent, together with other business associates,
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formed the British North Borneo Chartered Company to ad-
minister the 30,000 square miles they had obtained.

These imperial land grabs did not please the British govern-
ment. One official complained that if something was not done
soon to curb Brooke and the North Borneo Company, nothing
would be left of Brunei.

However, change was in the wind. Soon the British govern-
ment was forced to alter its policy of not taking over local
governments. This policy, it will be remembered, was based not
on humanitarian desires to protect these native governments, but
on a reluctance of the British government to take on additional
expensive administrative responsibilities such as it had in India.

In Borneo the Dutch were claiming larger sections of land.
Germany was also showing interest in Borneo, and the actions
of the American Torrey indicated a possible interest of the
United States. Under the circumstances the British government
thought it wise to grant the North Borneo Company a royal
charter.

Meanwhile conditions on the Malay Peninsula were worsen-
ing. Several states were in civil war. Secret society fights were
disrupting tin mining. Piracy was on the increase. And lawless-
ness in some areas reached the point of near anarchy. As early
as 1873 a group of 250 Singapore merchants petitioned Governor
Ord of the Straits Settlement to do something about the disorder
“for the richest areas of the peninsula have fallen into the hands
of lawless persons.” Governor Ord forwarded the petition to
London where it was considered for some time. Nothing was
done until a new governor was appointed. He was Colonel
Andrew Clarke, who received these instructions: “The anarchy
which prevails and appears to be increasing in parts of the
peninsula, and the consequent injury to trade and British inter-
ests generally, render it necessary to consider seriously whether
any step can be taken to improve this condition.

“Her Majesty's government have, it need hardly be said, no
desire to interfere in the internal affairs of the Malay States. But
looking to the well-being of the British Settlements, Her
Majesty’s government find it incumbent upon them to employ
such influence as they possess with the native princes to rescue,
if possible, those fertile and productive countries from ruin.”

|
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Clarke's instruction went on to order him to make an investi-
gation to see whether it was advisable to appoint a British
resident commission to each state. The instructions hastened to
add that a Resident (actually an overseer of the sultan) would be
appointed only with the “full consent of the Native Govern-
ment."

Colonel Clarke, the new governor of the Straits Settlements,
did not need to make an investigation as suggested in his orders.
He had already decided that British intervention was necessary.
He obtained the services of W. A. Pickering, a man who had
had much experience with the Chinese through several years in
Taiwan. He sent Pickering into Perak state, where Chinese secret
societies were causing trouble in the tin-mining area. Pickering
arranged for leaders of the two factions to meet with Clarke at
Pangkor Island at the mouth of the Perak River in January
1874. Leaders of the rival Chinese groups, the Ghee Hin Society
and the Hai San Society, were told in no uncertain terms that
peace was necessary and that they would be fined $50,000 each
if the peace was broken. Clarke divided the tin territory, giving
an exclusive territory to cach society. He also settled an argu-
ment among the Malays concerning who would succeed to the
Perak throne. He then arranged for the new ruler, Sultan Abdul-
lah, to accept a British Resident whose counsel was required for
all matters except those involving the Malays’ religion and racial
customs.

The matter of British protection of Perak settled, Clarke next
intervened in Sengalor. This state had been disrupted for some
time by civil war, and the disturbance led to an increase in
piracy along Sengalor's coast which fronts on the Straits of
Malacca. Clarke demanded that the pirates be punished and had
a British naval squadron anchored off the coast. The sultan took
the hint. The suspected pirates were tried and hanged. (Sir
Frank Swettenham, then a young governmental official, said
years later that the wrong men were hanged. This did not bother
Clarke, since the action frightened both guilty and innocent and
worked toward keeping future peace.)

In his report to London, Colonel (later Sir) Andrew Clarke
claimed that he had not forced a Resident upon Perak but had
merely served as the chairman for a meeting of the Malays who
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made the decision. When Clarke first went to Perak, the sultan
had in his employ a British adventurer known as “Captain
Speedy” who served as the sultan’s chief of police. Clarke left
Captain Speedy as acting Resident until September 1874 when
young Frank Sw ham was appointed Assi Resident until
a Resident could be appointed from London.

Swettenham would in time make quite a name for himself in
Malaya and even leave his name on the land in the form of Port
Swettenham in Sengalor. He was a great admirer of the Malay
people and wrote some very popular books, including Malay
Sketches, and an autobiography, Footprints in Malaya. In one
of his Malay Sketches, Swettenham gives an idea of the worth
placed on young colonials just fresh from England: “So in
January 1871, at the age of twenty, I found myself where I would
be [i.e. in Malaya] . . . The Government of the Colony paid me
the dollar equivalent of £240 a year, and added that, if that was
not sufficient for my needs, I should look to my relatives for
help during the next two years during which I should be learn-
ing my trade and be of no particular use to my employers.”

However, young Swettenham became very proficient in the
Malay language, proving more useful than the usual beginner in
colonial service. His linguistic ability got him the job of inter-
preting for top officials and brought him to the notice of those
who could advance the young man'’s career. It also nearly got him
killed in the first revolt against the Residency system.

Four Residencies were established in Malaya. In every case
they were at first welcomed by the Malay ruler, for it meant
British help against enemies threatening to unseat him. However,
this initial welcome disappeared when it quickly became ap-
parent that the British had come to rule, not to help. The
Resid considered th lves as the rulers of their Residen-
cies and the sultans as their messenger boys.

The first break came in Perak state. When the British first
moved in, Captain Speedy was appointed acting Resident with
Frank Swettenham as his assistant. Soon Speedy was replaced by
James Birch, a colonial official from Singapore. Swettenham was
returned to interpreter duties and Speedy was made Assistant
Resid Birch i diately d yed all the goodwill that
Speedy and Swettenham had built up. He stunned the sultan by
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announcing that he would collect all the taxes hereafter and
would give the sultan what he needed to run his court. Next Birch
announced that all female slaves would have to be liberated, that
putting people into slavery for non-payment of debt must be
abolished, and that Christian ethics would be observed.

The infuriated sultan was goaded still further by Major
General Sir W. F. D. Jervois, the newly appointed Governor of
the Straits Settlements. Jervois was convinced that none of the
Malay sultans and rajahs was fit to rule. He reported to London
that the Residency system, based on advising local princes only,
would not work. “My proposal,” he wrote, “is to govern the
countries in the name of the sultans by means of Queen’s Com-
missioners.” London officials gave serious study to Jervois's pro-
posal because they had evidence of Germany's interest in Malaya
and greatly feared that some foreign nation would attempt to get
a foothold in the British sphere of influence in Southeast Asia.

Meanwhile, Malay resentment of Birch and the British in
Perak reached the exploding point. Neither Birch nor Jervois
showed much concern for the Malay resentment. Reports
reached Birch that he had been marked for death. He shrugged
and said, “If they kill Mr. Birch, then ten other Mr. Birchs will
come to take his place.”

He was wrong only in the number. When Birch was finally
slain, it was not ten but 1,200 “Mr. Birches” who came to avenge
his death.




CHAPTER SEVEN

2233

The Residents of Malaya

THE conquest of India and the beginning of the conquest of
Burma were made by the Fast India Company. The British
government itself was not directly involved. In the same manner
the conquest of Malaya, beginning with Raffles and extending
through the formation of the Federation of Malaya, was effected
by imperialistic individuals over the objections and nervousness
of the British government back home which did not want to
provoke a foreign war. The conquests of the Brooke rajahs in
Borneo pushed into territory which the Dutch claimed. Siam
claimed several of the northern Malay States. France had carved
out her sphere of influence in Indochina. And the Germans, who
had taken Samoa, were hungrily eying the Malay Peninsula.

These foreign interests in Malaya and Southeast Asia made
British officials and merchants on the scene in Singapore more
certain than ever that Great Britain should assert her rights in
the area. They kept pushing forward, seizing every excuse to act
and then apologetically informing Whitehall—the British For-
eign Office in London—that they had been “forced by circum-
stances” to do so.

Governor Jervois candidly made known his feelings. The
sultans and rajahs must be reduced to figureheads taking orders
from British Residents. Birch in Perak was strongly pushing
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just this policy. Sultan Abdullah at first refused to go along with
Birch's orders. When the Resident threatened to bring in British
troops, the sultan reluctantly signed the proclamation demanded
by Birch, establishing tax collectors under British control and
abolishing slavery-for-debt. Then under Birch's continued pres-
sure Abdullah agreed to cede Perak to the British for a pension
of $2,000 a month.

This agreement was concluded on October 1, 1875. Two weeks
later Abdullah called a secret meeting of his highest officials.
They agreed to murder Birch while he and Frank Swettenham
were on a trip to the interior to post proclamations declaring
Great Britain's intention to govern the state. On November 1
Birch's houseboat arrived at Pasir Salak on the Perak River.
Rajah Lela of Pasir Salik had already received a gift of a jeweled
kris (dagger) from Sultan Abdullah. This was a secret order for
the rajah to kill Birch.

Lela gave the order and a soldier named Pandak Indut carried
it out, thrusting a spear through the rattan wall of the floating
bathhouse attached to the back of Birch's boat. Then another
Malay rushed in and hacked the wounded Englishman's body
with a sword. Frank Swettenham had taken another route and
escaped his assassins.

Two days later word of Birch’s murder reached Singapore.
Governor Jervois rushed to Perak with a force of 150 men and
urgently requested additional troops from India. He feared the
assassination would trigger a general uprising against the British.
Twelve hundred troops were sent from Calcutta, and Jervois
occupied Perak state for the next eighteen months. All those
implicated in Birch’s assassination were relentlessly hunted
down. Rajah Lela and four others were hanged. Sultan Abdullah
and several others were exiled. A rajah named Yusuf was made
regent after it was determined that he had had no part in the
murder.

The trouble was scarcely settled in Perak when a new dis-
turbance broke out in the state of Sungei Ujong. Jervois sent in
six hundred soldiers to restore order. Then in November 1876
Jervois half-persuaded, half-forced the rulers of a number of
small central states to form a federation which eventually be-
came the present Malay state of Negri Sembilan. The state of
Johore, across the strait from Singapore, was already under strong




The Residents of Malaya 61

British domination. Jervois’s actions gave Great Britain effective
political control of all the peninsula except the states of Kedah,
Kelantan, and Trengganu which were still claimed by the
Siamese.

All the Residents who have left memoirs have been unanimous
in agreeing that theirs was the world’s worst job. The British
government refused to go along with the requests of both
Clarke and his successor Jervois to take over the Malay states
completely. Orders directly from London forbade interference
in the internal affairs of any Malay state by the assigned Resi-
dent. Cooperation, London insisted, must be accomplished by
persuasion and advice. Unfortunately for the Residents, the sul-
tans and rajahs did not want to be persuaded or advised.

The unenviable job of taking over as Resident in Perak was
assumed by Sir Hugh Low, who had been an administrative
officer on the Borneo island of Lubuan for the previous thirty
years. Low, according to historian Harry Miller, was “one of the
greatest Residents in the history of the peninsula. He laid a pat-
tern which others were to follow elsewhere in the peninsula . . .
He had learned how to adapt the administrative ways of the West
to people whose existence had been ruled by custom and religion.
Low soon won trust by his sympathetic approach and by clearly
showing his carnest wish to establish good relations and not to
interfere with Malay customs.”

Frank Swettenham in Sengalor state was another who under-
stood the advantage of getting along with the sultans rather than
trying to use force as Birch had done. Where Birch tried to
eradicate Malay customs, Swettenham studied them and respected
them. Instead of laughing at Malay creation legends or con-
demning them, Swettenham found them interesting, and much
of his writing for publication dealt with legends of the Malays.
One story he retold explained how the spirits were created. The
Creator fashioned the first man of clay and put a spirit in the
head of the clay image. The spirit was so strong that it burst
the clay body. The pieces flew in all directions to create the
spirits of the air, land, and water who bedeviled or helped the
common man. The Creator then tried again. This time He
mixed iron with the clay and made a body strong enough to
contain the spirit of life. Thus was the first man created,

John Cameron of the Straits Times in Singapore was another
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who helped the British understand the Malays by publishing
folklore and stories of Malay culture and customs. Cameron was
particularly interested in the aborigine tribes. “These tribes,” he
wrote, “wander about the hills and valleys very much as they did
in olden times but with this difference, that they have now
altogether forsaken the coast line, and retreated to the fastnesses
of the interior before the encroaching inroads of the Malays.
The more lonely the spot of their encampment the better suited
to their tastes. It is difficult to conjecture as to their numbers,
but it is generally believed that they do not exceed 7,000 or
8,000 souls.”

Cameron records several creation myths of these aborigines.
A curious fact is that most of them claim that their forefathers
came to the Malay Peninsula in boats, hinting that the myths
might be distorted ancestral memories of a prehistoric migration.
In one of these the tribe claimed their ancestors came from
Heaven in a boat which sailed around and around the world
until it finally became grounded on a high mountain that extended
up from the sea. The mariners multiplied until attacked by ene-
mies. Then a great hero named Batin Alam built an ark and car-
ried all his people away to Malaya where they have lived ever
since.

Batin was also given as the name of the Adam of another ab-
origine tribe. This Batin was created by God in Heaven. God
thought Batin so beautiful that He wanted his creation dupli-
cated. So God sent Batin and a woman companion in a boat to
carth, and from these two all the people of the tribe descended.
Since it is improper for brother to mate with a sister, the legend
insists that the children of Batin’s wife were born in her legs,
one in cach leg, and therefore were not brother and sister.

Still another legend of these tribes points to a creation that
is much like what scientists believe. As quoted by Cameron: “The
ground, they say, on which we stand is not solid. It is but the
skin of the earth. In ancient times God broke up this skin, so
the world was destroyed and overwhelmed by water."”

Then a mountain appeared above the water and a covered
boat floated to a stop against the upraised land. Inside the boat
were a man and woman which God had made and set adrift.

Most folklore deals with the olden days of a people, but Cameron
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repeats a legend he got from a Catholic priest who was a mis-
sionary to an aborigine tribe near Malacca. This unique tale
concerns the tribe's prediction of the end of the world: “A
great wind will rise accompanied by rain. The waters will
descend with rapidity. Lightning will fill all the spaces around,
and the mountains will sink down. Then a great heat will occur.
There will be no more night and the carth will wither like the
grass in the field. God will then come down surrounded by an
immense whirlwind of flame."”

Then, after the people are judged, their souls will be burned
and weighed. Those who come through the fire purified will g0
to heaven. The rest will be condemned to hell where they will
be punished by serpents and tigers. And then “lastly, God having
taken a light from hell, will close the portals and then set fire
to the earth.”

Sir Frank Swettenham gave his own reasons for studying
Malay myths, superstitions, and legends in one of his Malay
Sketches. He began by saying that many said it is impossible
for the Western mind to understand the character of the East-
erner. He disagreed. “If you live in the East for years—if you
make yourself perfectly familiar with the language; literature,
customs, prejudices, and superstitions of the people; if you lie
on the same floor with them, eat out of the same dish, fight with
them and against them, join them in their sorrows and their
joys—then reading their character is no longer an impossible
lﬂ$k¢"

John Coleman, another Straits Times reporter, wrote a de-
scription of a Malay village of this period. Things in the back
country are so little changed that his 110-year-old account might
well have been written today:

“Their hamlets are composed of twenty or thirty neat little
houses or huts. They are built of leaves of a species of palm tree,
usually raised on posts some four or five feet from the ground,
with little ladders reaching up to the doorways. The houses are
uniform in appearance, but not planted with much regard to
order. The entire hamlet generally reposes under the shadow of
a cluster of coconuts and other fruit trees. The people of a
hamlet are generally connected by birth or by marriage, and
share each other's joys and sorrows."

e
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All these early writers spoke with admiration of the Malays'
honesty. Piracy was not regarded by them as dish but as a
profession. In fact many of the pirates operated under orders of
their sultans. All, except Malays of the ruling classes, obeyed
their leaders without question. The Residents learned early that
there would never be any trouble with the Malays if the sultans
and rajahs could be controlled.

“In their domestic relations they are frank, amiable, and often
generous,” Coleman wrote. “Deceit forms but a small part of
their nature. They are strongly attached to home and family.”

Women had much more freedom in Malaya than in any other
part of the East, or for that matter than either American or
European women of the time. This freedom was surprising when
one considers that the Malays were devout—but not fanatical—
Muslims. They practiced polygamy and were permitted four
wives by the Koran. Apparently few Malay men took advantage
of this religious law. Coleman wrote, “I once asked a sensible
Malay how it came that so few of his countrymen had more than
one wife, when the Prophet [Mohammed] authorized polygamy
both by precept and by example.

“He replied, “The women in the Prophet’s time must have
been different from what they are now: for I never knew a man
yet who kept two wives in one house here and led a happy life.””

The outstanding contribution of the four British Residents
in the years before 19oo—in addition to keeping order—was
their vigorous support of resource development. They laid the
beginning of a system of roads which has developed today into
the best in the Orient. Then in 1885 Sir Hugh Low in Perak
state built a railroad from the tin mines to the coast. Shortly
after this Sir Frank Swettenham began work on a railroad in
Sengalor state. Despite the poor soil, the Residents expanded
agriculture to meet increased demands caused by the steady
influx of Chinese and Indians. Pineapples were grown success-
fully in Johore, sugar plantations were started, and tapioca
growing became commercially important. Copra and palm oil
became important products. Coffee, however, was a failure.
As with the spice cultivation, when coffee trees were first
planted they grew well and there was a rush of European in-
vestors to cash in on the new crop. However, the climate was




The Residents of M;:Ia)'n 65

unsuited to the trees. Soon they died and investors suffered heavy
losses.

The failing coffee plantations were replaced by rubber plan-
tations which in time would develop into an industry second
only to trade and tin as the economic backbone of the Malay
Peninsula. Natural rubber is a product of the Americas and was
not introduced into Malaya until 1876. At that time plantation
owners had not yet learned that coffce trees were unsuited for
the peninsula and only a few experimented with rubber. One
of these was Resident Sir Hugh Low in Perak. Then, when coffee
failed, a larger number planted rubber trees.

Early explorers found the Indians of Central and South
America using crude rubber, but the discovery made little im-
pact until 1735 when a French explorer took samples back to
France. He called the substance caoutchouc after the Indian
name for the tree from which the rubber juice—latex—is taken.
Then in 1823 Charles Macintosh, a Scottish inventor, produced
the Macintosh raincoat by putting a thin layer of latex between
two layers of cloth. By this time caoutchouc had been named
“rubber” by Joseph Priestly, a British chemist, who discovered
that it could rub out pencil writing. At this time rubber products
were sticky in hot weather and became so hard in cold weather
that they often cracked. This slowed the development of the
rubber industry until the American Charles Goodyear accident-
ally discovered a way to cure latex with a heat process so that the
product stayed firm in both heat and cold.

Goodyear’s discovery spurred the rubber industry. As a result
the British government imported 70,000 sceds, part of which
were planted in greenhouses in Kew Gardens, London. The rest
were sent to Malaya and Ceylon.

The demands for rubber increased as new products were de-
veloped. By 18go there were 50,000 acres of rubber trees in
Malaya and Ceylon. Then the invention of the automobile
brought a demand for rubber tires. This demand was so great
that by 1905 the number of acres in rubber plantations in
Malaya and Ceylon doubled. By 1910 when the rubber boom was
at its height, Malaya, Ceylon, Borneo, and Indonesia were pro-
ducing the greater part of the world’s export supply of rubber.

The growth of rubber’s importance and the realization that




A Tamil Indian boy checks the late flow from a rubber tree in a
Malaysian plantation. The rubber industry once provided the coun-
try's second most important export product after tin, but it has been
hard hit by competition from synthetic rubber. The government is
encouraging rubber growers to switch to palm oil, for which there is
greater demand.
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rubber trees would flourish in Malaya’s poor soil caused a greater
interestamong British government officials in tightening their con-
trol over Malaya. This led to two important developments. One
was the formation of the Federation of Malaya. The other was the
ridding of Siamese control in several of the northern Malay states,
establishing the present northern border of Malaysia.

The Federation of Malaya grew from an idea of Sir Frank
S who rec ded in 1893 that the four Malay
states having British Residents be formed into a federation with
a central government. This would include Perak, Sengalor,
Pahang, and Negri Sembilan. In his rec dation to the
British Colonial Office in London, Swettenham pointed out that
communications were so difficult in Malaya that Singapore had
no really effective control of the Residents in the four states.
Each did very much as he pleased. If a Federation was formed
with a Resident-General, this official would be able to oversee
the actions of each Resident. The Resident-General would in
turn be directly responsible to the High C issi for the
Straits Settlements or to the Governor of Singapore. The Resi-
dent-General and the central Federation would not make laws but
would ensure that the same laws were passed in each state so
there would be uniformity in taxation and governmental policies.

The Colonial Office agreed to the Federation, provided the
sultans of the states found it acceptable. Inasmuch as the sultans
had just about lost all their power to the Resident anyway, they
did not see how the Federation would hurt their situation.
While the Residents were supposed merely to advise and persuade,
they were supported by both the British Fleet and the British
Army. Cor ers were casily ded to come to the aid of
the Residents if necessary. A good reason for intervening could
always be thought up to pacify the Colonial Office.

The Federation was formed July 1, 1896, with Sir Frank
Swettenham as the first Resident-General, Swettenham was highly
regarded, but the sultans quickly found that they were all
reduced to the practical rank of rajah and that the Resident-
General was the real sultan.

From the middle of the nincteenth century France had been
gradually taking control of the Indochinese peninsula. The land
that is now North and South Vietnam, Laos, and Cambodia came
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under French control. Then the French began nibbling away at
Siam’s eastern border. Great Britain was fearful of sharing a com-
mon border in Asia with the French, for it was sure to lead to
trouble. The British began to support the Siamese in order to
keep a free buffer state between Burma, which Great Britain con-
trolled, and Laos and Cambodia which were in the hands of the
French.

Both King Chulalongkorn of Siam and his late father, King
Mongkut, feared the British. But most of Asia was falling to
European imperialists during the nineteenth century, and Siam
needed to play England against France in order to keep her
independence. In 1go2 an Anglo-Siamese treaty recognized Siam's
paramount rights in the Malay states of Kelantan and Treng-
ganu. However, Britain feared that France would move into
these Siamese-controlled states and decided to bring them under
British protection.

British historians claim that Siam agreed in a friendly manner
to relinquish control of Kelantan, Trengganu, Kedah, and Perlis
to Great Britain in exchange for certain concessions. In
actuality, Siam was forced into the agreement. Siamese history
records that King Chulalongkorn was so disturbed by what he
considered British aggression that he became physically ill.
Great Britain by the agreement did not gain total control of
the four Malay states, but only the right to afford “protection.”
Swettenham by this time had risen to the position of High
Commissioner of the Straits Settlement, the top British govern-
ment position in Southeast Asia. He tried to get the sultans of
Kelantan, Trengganu, Kedah, and Perlis to join the Federation
of Malaya. They resisted the suggestion vigorously, and Swetten-
ham did not care to use force. These states became known as the
Unfederated States of Malaya, and their sultans had more in-
ternal control than did the rulers of the Federated States of
M: k

Conditions as a whole were improving in Malaya because of the
Residents who worked hard to improve sanitary conditions and
build industry. Tin production rose until half the world's
supply came from the Malay Peninsula. Iron mines were opened
in Johore. Chinese and Indians continued to immigrate to
Malaya in great numbers. The population increased enormously.
This was partly because of immigration and partly because of de-
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creased infant mortality, resulting from better health standards
introduced by the Residents.

The pot trade in Singapore inued to grow as part of
a world-wide distribution system. For example, American cotton
was shipped to India, where it was woven into cloth, and then
transported to Singapore for further distribution in China, Indo-
china, and Indonesia. American cotton had long been an im-
portant trade item in Singapore and was one of the reasons why
officials took such a calm view of the Alabama affair in 1863,

The Alabama was a famous Confederate raider which at-
tacked Yankee shipping in the Far East. British sympathy was
with the American South in the Civil War, and the Alabama was
welcomed in Singapore harbor after sinking three United States
ships in Sunda Straits. John Coleman reported that the Alabama’s
captain, Semmes, was told that the Yankees had just burned
Charleston, South Carolina. “It is no matter,” Semmes replied,
pointing to the Confederate ensign on his ship's mast. “That flag
will never come down."”

Alfter coaling at Singapore, the Alabama sailed northward along
the west coast of the Malay Peninsula where she took a merchant
vessel, Martaban. The Martaban’s captain angrily claimed to be
British and produced the ship’s papers to show that she was of
British registry. The crew and captain, however, were American.
The ship had been registered in India to sail under the British
flag as a subterfuge to outwit Confederate raiders. Knowing this,
Semmes sank the ship and landed the crew on the Malayan
coast after extracting a signed promise not to bear arms against
the Confederacy for the rest of the war.

The Martaban’s captain registered a vigorous complaint to
British authorities. There was no question about it. The ship
was flying the British flag and was legitimately registered to sail
under British authority. Although Semmes did not return to
Singapore, he dispatched a letter which was printed in the
Straits Times three days after the sinking. The Confederate cap-
tain maintained that his action was justified and that, British flag
or no British flag, the ship was a Yankee vessel. Since all the
influential people of Singapore liked Semmes and had Confed-
crate leanings, the matter was dropped. Coleman claimed that
the Alabama was so feared that twelve Yankee vessels refused to
leave Singapore harbor while Semmes was in the vicinity.




CHAPTER EIGHT
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The Fall of Singapore

ALTHOUGH the sultans chafed under the restraints put on
them by the Residents, the first two decades of the twenticth cen-
tury were good years for Malaya. The '3os were bad years because
world trade was suppressed by the worldwide depression that fol-
lowed the stock market crash in the United States in 1929. Things
began to improve in the mid-1930s when the growth of Nazism in
Germany caused Great Britain to start rearming. The outbreak
of World War II in Europe in September 1939 definitely caused
business to boom, but it also raised some apprehensions as to the
future of Singapore.

Singapore did not fear the Germans. They were too far away
and Hitler's naval threat was primarily the submarine. There was
doubt in Singapore that the submarine threat would affect the
Southeast Asia arca much. It was too far from German bases.

However, the Japanese threat was real indeed. Japan had been
fighting China in Manchuria since 1931 and had been at all-out
war with China since 1937. Japan had concluded treaties with
both Hitler's Germany and Mussolini’s Italy. She was in posses-
sion of Canton, just up the Pearl River from Britain’s Hong
Kong, and the island of Hainan which put her in striking dis-
tance of Southeast Asia. After the collapse of France in 1940,
Japan moved into French Indochina and concluded a non-
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aggression pact with Thailand (Siam) which permitted Japanese
troops to cross Thai territory.

These were all ominous signs, but still there was only mild
worry in Singapore. The official position was that although Japan
would probably attack somewhere in Southeast Asia, the attack
would be aimed at Dutch oil fields in Borneo. Singapore, both
the citizens and the British Army felt, was “impregnable.” The
term “Gibraltar of the East” was freely used in discussing the
military position of the British base in Malaya. However, rein-
forcements were sent to strengthen the Army forces there. All
the new soldiers were pitifully untrained, as future events were
to show. This could not be helped. The British had suffered a
near-disastrous defeat on the European continent and narrowly
escaped total rout by a brilliantly conducted evacuation at
Dunkirk. England was enduring an all-out air blitz as Hitler
tried to soften up the island for a coming invasion. The best
troops from Australia, Canada, and India were already fighting
in Europe. There were none left to reinforce Singapore.

Winston Churchill, the British Prime Minister, did dispatch
a battleship, Prince of Wales, the battlecruiser Repulse, and four
destroyers to the Singapore area. He thought this show of naval
force, plus the threat of the United States Pacific Fleet based at
Pear]l Harbor in the Hawaiian Islands, would deter any Japanese
attempt to make an amphibious landing in British territory in
the Far East.

President Franklin D. Roosevelt had frozen Japanese assets
in the United States when Japan announced its “protectorate”
over Indochina. This cut off Japan’s access to imports from the
United States. War now seemed inevitable between the United
States and Japan. However, [1pan sent a peace ml%slon to Wash-
ington for last-minute neg ions which acc lished

The question of further bolstering British defenses in Malayn
was discussed by the United Kingdom Chiefs of Staff. Prime
Minister Churchill did not think reinforcements necessary. As
he recorded in his book, The War Against Japan: “The political
situation in the Far East does not seem to require, and the
strength of our Air Force by no means warrants, the maintenance
of such large forces in the Far East at this time.”

In the meantime Japan kept pouring more troops into Indo-

e
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china. An official Japanese government statement placed the
number of Japanese soldiers in Indochina at 50,000. Actually it
was 200,000. This discrepancy in numbers seems to have escaped
the notice of United States and British intelligence officers, The
announced 50,000 troops could possibly be needed to “preserve
order in Indochina because of troubles arising from the fall of
France," as the Japanese announced. But 200,000 troops could
only mean that a new aggressive campaign was being pl d for
some Southeast Asian target. The Japanese were then fighting a
bitter war with Chiang Kai-shek in central China and could not
possibly have spared so many men just for a police action to
prevent a local war between Vietnam and Thailand, as they
claimed.

The British still based their plans on the impregnability of
Singapore. With 85,000 British troops in Malaya, backed by the
battleship Prince of Wales and the cruiser Repulse, there was
supreme confidence in London that Malaya was not in any im-
mediate danger. Commanders in Malaya were asking for rein-
forcements, but their requests were ignored.

A Japanese Foreign Office statement in November 1941 again
rattled the sword. Ever since her attack on China, Japan had
been plugging a “Co-Prosperity Sphere” in the Far East. This
plan envisioned economic cooperation of Far East countries
under Jag dominati The in the Nippon
Times, an official gover: | i newspaper published
in Tokyo, said: “Japan’s Co-Prosperity Sphere must be acknowl-
edged and Manchukuo [Japan's new name for Manchuria],
China, Indochina, Thailand [Siam), the Netherlands East Indies
and other states and protectorates must be allowed to establish
their own political and economic relations with Japan without
any interference of any kind.”

This was a clear statement that Western nations would be shut
completely out of the entire Far East area where Japan intended
to be the dominant power. The warning had little diplomatic
effect in London and Washington. The U.S. Secretary of State,
Cordell Hull, continued to meet with Japanese Ambassador
Kichisaburo Nomura with each side presenting its latest de-
mands. While these fruitless Washington talks continued, a
Japanese carrier flect was already steaming toward Pearl Harbor
where the American Pacific Fleet was based.

—_—
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Winston Churchill was correct in his previous estimate that
British ships in Southeast Asia operating from the great naval
base in Singapore and the American Pacific Fleet operating out
of Hawaii would pose a major threat to Japan’s war aims. What
he did not realize was that Japan had made careful plans to
remove these threats before striking to bring about the Co-
Prosperity Sphere which Japanese government-controlled news-
papers had announced as inevitable.

On December 5 two Japanese convoys were spotted, but
British intelligence thought they were mounting an attack on
Siam. A general alert was declared in Singapore, but nothing
else was done. Then two days later on December 7, 1941, the
Japanese carrier fleet under Admiral Chuichi Nagumo struck a
devastating blow at the American Fleet in Pearl Harbor. It was
already December 8 in Singapore because of the International
Date Line. Somewhere around midnight word flashed to Singa-
pore that a Japanese amphibious landing was in progress at
Kota Bahru in Kelantan on the east coast of Malaya. Japanese
planes were also reported to be bombing strategic points in
North Malaya. An hour later air raid sirens were screaming in
Singapore.

There was surprise in Singapore but no panic. Residents and
military alike were convinced that their military bastion
was impregnable. Then word was received that the United
States Fleet at Pearl Harbor had been knocked out by the
Japanese attack. Shortly after this, news from the Philippine
Islands indicated that the bulk of United States war planes there
had been destroyed by the Japanese attack. British Malayan
troops had not been able to prevent the Japanese landing at
Kota Bahru. Soon a three-pronged attack was moving down the
peninsula toward Singapore.

When the attack came the fleet was in Singapore harbor, but
on the evening of December 8 it was dispatched northward to help
defend the coast against further Japanese landings. The flect, it
will be remembered, consisted of Prince of Wales, Repulse, and
the four destroyers. A report came in that a Japanese landing
force had attacked Singora in Siam, about 180 miles north of
Kota Bahru. This proved incorrect, and the fleet turned back
in time to receive another message that the Japanese were land-
ing at Kuantan, 150 miles south of Kota Bahru. The fleet then
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changed course and headed for Kuantan on the evening of
December g. Japanese planes were sighted on the morning of
the yoth, but the battle did not begin until just after 11 A
when the first wave of Japanese bombers hit Repulse. The
second wave of Japanese bombers attacked the battleship Prince
of Wales, coming in at 1,000-foot altitude. Both of the Prince of
Wales's port propellers were knocked out and the steering gear so
badly damaged that it was useless. The battleship could do
nothing but flounder helplessly before the continued Japanese
attacks.

Another torpedo-bomber attack sank Repulse. One of the
destroyers came in and picked up eight hundred of the ship's
thirteen hundred crewmen. An hour later Prince of Wales sank.
Again the Japanese stood back and did not interfere when a
British destroyer picked up survivors.

Loss of the two ships destroyed the backbone of British naval
defense in Southeast A For the first time, Singapore was
stunned. So was London. Writing in his war memoirs years later,
Prime Minister Churchill related how he was awakened in the
night and informed of the loss. He said that in all the war he
never received a greater shock. “There were no British or Ameri-
can capital ships . . . in the Pacific except the American survivors
of Pearl Harbor, who were hastening back to California. Over all
this vast expanse of waters Japan was supreme, and we every-
where were weak and naked.”

On land the Japanese Army was also moving forward trium-
phantly. By New Year's Day, 1942, it had pushed the British
back to Johore,

Some reinforcements landed, but they were poorly trained In-
dian troops. Other reinforcements started to Malaya, but were di-
verted as the situation grew worse on the peninsula. Churchill
decided that the fall of Singapore was inevitable and that it was
more important to keep open the Burma Road so that supplies
could be funneled into China, where Chiang Kai-shek’s army was
fighting the Japanese on the Chinese mainland. Not wishing to
lose both Burma and Singapore, the Prime Minister decided that
if Singapore could be held “only for a few weeks, it is certainly
not worth losing all our reinforcements and aircraft.”

The decision infuriated the Australian government, for it left
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Australia undefended and directly in the route of the advancing
Japanese Army. The cream of Australia's fighting men were in
Europe, and the Australians believed that the decision to con-
centrate British strength in Burma could possibly be fatal to
them. This decision sealed Singapore’s fate, although the fight
would continue for another two and a half weeks. By the end of
January 1942, the military situation on the Malay Peninsula was
hopeless. On the night of January go the British forces began evac-
uating to Singapore Island, moving across the causeway that linked
the island with the peninsula.

Singapore was in a desperate situation. Before the war the
city had a half-million population. The retreating army and the
accompanying flood of refugees swelled the population to more
than a million. Each day the situation was made worse by continu-
ous Jaf bombing. Ten th d injured (both military and
civilian bombing victims) jammed the hospitals. Food was still
available, but water became a major problem. The pipeline that
supplied water from Johore was destroyed by the Japanese, cut-
ting off half the island’s supply. The three reservoirs which
supplied the remainder were under constant air and land bom-
bardment.

The assault on Singapore itself began in earnest on the night
of February 8, 1942. Sir Archibald Wavell, commander-in-chief
of Far East British Army forces, flew in from his headquarters in
Java. He quickly realized the hopelessness of the situation. Be-
fore leaving, Wavell ordered the remaining units of the air force
to leave the island, but told the local commander, Lieutenant
General A. E. Percival, that no surrender was contemplated
and that Singapore's defenders must fight to the end. At the same
time Churchill told the House of Commons in London that the
defenders of Singapore numbered one hundred thousand. “In
these circumstances the defenders must greatly outnumber
Japanese forces who have crossed the Straits [i.e., those actually
fighting on Singapore Island]. In a well-contested battle they
should destroy them. At this stage there must be no thought of
saving the troops or sparing the population. The battle must be
fought to the bitter end,” Churchill said.

Despite this show of defiance, the end was just a few days
away. On February 11 some nurses, women, and civilians were
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evacuated on a cargo ship. One evacuation ship, Vyner Brooke,
was torpedoed with a loss of three hundred women and children.
Small boats and crafts were commandeered to take more refugees
to Java and the Indonesian islands.

The city was ablaze. Death and destruction were everywhere.
The soldiers were exhausted. Supplies were running low. Gen-
eral Percival informed General Wavell in Java that he doubted
the city could hold out more than two more days. Wavell cabled:
FULLY APPRECIATE YOUR SITUATION, BUT CONTINUED ACTION 1§
NECESSARY. Another group tried to escape the beleaguered is-
land in fifty small boats. Forty of the boats were sunk by the
Japanese.

By this time, Singapore city was one mass of devastation. The
streets were impassable, and uncontrolled fires continued to
burn. Still, orders from Java and London demanded that the
dc(elud city keep fighting. Finally on the morning of February
14—St. Valentine’s Day—General Percival was informed that
the water supply had failed. Bombs had broken water mains, and
the reservoirs were emptying unchecked. Faced with this final
disaster, Percival notified Wavell, who gave permission for the
local commander to take whatever action he deemed necessary.
Percival then called his staff together. They decided that sur-
render was the only alternative to total destruction of the city and
the death of every person in it

On February 15, Percival, with top members of his staff carry-
mg a “hlle flag, went to see Lieutenant General Tomoyuki

der of the Jap i ion force. Back in
Tokyo, \umashun was hailed as “The Tiger of Malaya” for
completing the conquest of the peninsula and Singapore a full
month ahead of the timetable set by the Japanese Army's
Imperial General Staff.

The first six months of Japanese occupation was a time of
terror for Europeans and Chinese. As part of their campaign to
discredit the white race in Asia, Japanese commanders under-
took a campaign to humiliate their European prisoners. They
also started a vendetta against the large number of Chinese in
Singapore, a by-product of their war with China. The Japanese
authorities suspected the local Chinese of spying for Chiang Kai-
shek. A number of British prisoners were shipped to Thailand to
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work on the military railroad. This incident, years later, was the
factual basis for the famous motion picture, The Bridge on the
River Kwai.

One of the first Japanese actions under her “Asia for Asians”
policy was to transfer Trengganu, Perlis, Kedah, and Kelantan
back to the control of Thailand (Siam). The Thais established a
Resident in these four Malay states but did not try to force any
action on the sultans of any of the four Unfederated Malay
States. In the four Federated States the Japanese professed to
return full control to the sultans, but in actuality the native
rulers had less freedom than under the British. The conquerors
also tried to organize the Indians of Malaya into an “Indian
National Army" to fight the British in Burma. Those who re-
fused to join were conscripted into labor battalions.

The Malays received the best treatment under the Japanese
occupation but suffered greatly from the resulting economic
depression. The entrepdt trade declined alarmingly. Tin and
rubber exports, vital to Malay economy, almost came to a stand-
still because much of the processing machinery was destroyed by
the British during the retreat down the peninsula. Even after
the mines were producing again, lack of shipping held up ex-
ports. The shipping crisis was caused by American submarine
action which was aimed at depriving Japan of desperately needed
rubber and tin.

The Japanese occupation was equally hard on the people of
British Borneo. The enemy landed in the state of North Borneo
(present Sabah) a week after the beginning of the attack on
Malaya. They quickly overran North Borneo, Brunei, and Sara-
wak. Rajah Brooke, the third of the famous white rajahs, was in
England at the time and did not return to Borneo until after
the war. The conquerors left internal control in the hands of the
sultans, but commandeered the oil from the rich fields in
Brunei. In Sarawak the natives had grown used to the paternal-
istic rule of the Brooke rajahs and were bewildered by the turn
of events. The Chinese in North Borneo, harshly treated by the
Japanese, made contact with American guerrillas in the Philip-
pines and helped organize a resistance group in Borneo. This
organization led to an uprising against the Japanese in October
1943. North Borneo resistance fighters captured Jesselton, the
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state capital, and killed a number of Japanese. The resistance
was put down with savage brutality. The Japanese used whole-
sale executions for the next six months to prevent new trouble.

After six months of uninterrupted victories, Japanese forces
got their first setback in the Battle of the Coral Sea and then
ook another defeat in the Battle of Midway. These defeats were
followed by American victories in New Guinea in 1948, when
forces under General Douglas MacArthur began a slow move to
retake the Philippine Islands. The war was turning against
Japan. It now seemed to Japan a good idea to begin courting
the favor of natives in the countries that Japan had occupied.
To further this aim, in 1943 the Japanese established Malay
advisory councils to assist the military governors. Since the
Japanese generals refused to heed any advice, the plan was of
little benefit.

Resistance to the Japanese occupation was organized under
Communist direction. The Malayan Communist Party was orga-
nized in either 1927 or 1930—authorities differ. British law at the
time required political bodies to register their constitutions and
aims. The newly formed party had no intention of complying
and operated as a secret organization during its early years. This
is what makes it difficult to pinpoint both its organization date
and its earlier operations. Communism did not appeal to the
average Malay. The party drew most of its members from the
Chinese and particularly the coolie class. Because of this, the
British authorities did not consider the party much of a threat.

This attitude changed after Russia signed a non-aggression
pact with Hitler’s Germany in 1939. There were then 37,000
known Communists in the Federation of Malaya with about
half of these in Singapore. They began a series of anti-British
strikes that virtually stopped tin and rubber production. These
strikes halted abruptly on direct orders from Moscow when
Germany suddenly attacked Russia in June 1941. When Japan
attacked Malaya in December 1941, the head of the Malayan
Communist Party offered the party's full cooperation against
the common enemy. Two hundred Communists who had had
guerrilla training were supposed to stay behind the Japanese lines
and disrupt communications as the enemy advanced. The plan
failed. The Communists claimed the failure was caused by the
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British not trusting them with demolition equipment. The
British claimed that the Japanese advance was so swift that
assistance could not be gotten to the guerrilla bands.

As soon as Singapore fell the Japanese started to eradicate
the Communists. Party members fled into the jungles where they
formed the Malayan People’s Anti-Japanese Army, or MPAJA
as it was popularly called. Most Malays were indifferent to
MPAJA, but the Chinese population of Malaya almost to a man
supported the guerrilla army with food, supplies, and intelligence
about Japanese movements. The British Army in India para-
chuted in some supplies but were not too much interested in
helping to build up a strong force because they knew that
MPAJA was Communist controlled. By this time the war had
progressed to the point where it appeared that the Allies would
eventually win, and the British feared that the MPAJA would
turn out to be a problem when the war ended. After considerable
argument the MPAJA leaders agreed to register all weapons the
British had smuggled in to them and to return them at the war's
end. Even so, the MPAJA never became much of a threat to the
Japanese occupation forces in Malaya.

The MPAJA forces continued to grow as more Chinese fled
from the towns to escape Japanese persecution. By 1945 there
were at least seven th d bers in the People’s
Anti-Japanese Army. After Japan's surrender in August 1945,
following the atomic bombing of Hiroshi and Nagasaki,
British administrative forces returned to Singapore in September.
In keeping with their wartime agreement, MPAJA leaders
disbanded the guerrilla army, and part of the weapons were
returned. However, many of the guns parachuted in were re-
ported lost or captured by the Japanese. In reality these were
cached in the jungle awaiting the time when they could be used
in a Communist-led revolt.

The Malayan Communist Party now came into the open,
registering as a legal political group. Because Russia, England, and
the United States had cooperated during the war, there was no
valid reason under which the British authorities could ban the
party even though it was no secret that the Malayan Communist
Party was dedicated to ousting the British.

At this time there was little the Communists could do except
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develop future power in the Malayan labor unions operating in
Singapore, Penang, Johore, and Malacca. There was no Malay
support for the Party. Malayans in general had welcomed the
return of the British. However, the war had destroyed Malayan
faith in Great Britain. The entire British administration of
Malaya from the beginning had been based upon “protection.”
The Malays now knew that British protection was not what they
had thought it would be. As a result there was an increasing move-
ment toward independence.

Nothing came from this growing nationalism immediately.
The entire peninsula and the three Borneo states were in a
miserable state. Malaria was rampant. Smallpox was again a
danger, and other diseases reached epidemic proportions because
of the complete breakdown of medical and sanitary facilities dur-
ing the last days of the war. Crime reached the point where the
cities were almost in a state of anarchy. The police force had de-
clined under Japanese rule and was riddled with thieves and
Japanese collaborators. Nothing could be done about this at first,
for even a poor police force was better than none. Widespread un-
employment that followed the end of the war added to the spread
of crime. And in addition to the other troubles, there was a se-
vere food shortage. Malaya's poor soil had not been able to
produce sufficient food to feed her population since the expansion
began in the fourteenth century. She had to depend on consider-
able imports, and food was in short supply all through Asia at
this time.

Thailand (Siam) had collaborated with Japan by permitting
Japanese troops free passage as the invaders moved toward
Malaya at the beginning of the war. Great Britain now
used this as an excuse to treat Thailand as a conquered nation,
despite the heroic work done by the Thai underground for the
Allies during the war. The United States tried to soften the
harsh demands put on Thailand by Great Britain, but Prime
Minister Churchill brushed American objections aside. He first
demanded that Thailand provide several million tons of rice,
cost free, for distribution in Malaya. This would have wrecked
the Thai economy and probably caused a revolt of Thai rice
farmers who would have received nothing for their crops. Finally
after considerable pressure from the United States, Britain agreed
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to pay for the rice, but at a price below that of the world market.
This eased the food shortage in Malaya.

Slow reconstruction added to Malaya’s disillusionment with
her British protectors. Before the war Malays showed little in-
terest in politics. Rajahs fought with their sultans, primarily
over succession, but the people showed little concern. They
obeyed their leaders because they had always done so. Then the
British loss of face and the growth of the Communist Party
began to change this indifferent attitude. Political parties in-
creased in number and size. In November 1945 Indonesians who
envisioned absorbing Malaya into their nation as soon as the
Dutch could be expelled backed a new Malay Nationalist Party.
Then the Chinese formed the Malayan Democratic Union (MDU)
to protect the interests of non-Malays. Friction between the
Malays, Chinese, and Indian components of the Malayan popula-
tion had increased during the war.

The British restored the Malayan government to its pre-war
status. That is, the country was divided into three sections: the
Federated States (Perak, Sengalor, Negri Sembilan, and Pahang);
the Unfederated States (Perlis, Kedah, Trengganu, and Johore);
and the Straits Settlements, which included Penang, Malacca, and
Singapore. It quickly became apparent that British rule was in
for a rough time. The Communist Party was pushing for a re-
public. The Nationalist Party wanted a union with Indonesia.
The aims of the Chinese-dominated MDU were not stated, but
increasing victories by Mao Tse-tung's Communist army in China
indicated that soon heavy pressure would be put on Malaya's
large Chinese population to support the victorious Red Chinese
against Chiang Kai-shek. The size of the Chinese population of
Malaya made this a distinct threat to the British in Southeast Asia.

Faced with this increasingly unstable situation, Great Britain
proposed a Malay Union which would bring the three separate
divisions of Malaya under a central control. Under this plan the
chief executive officer would be a British-appointed governor and
would be assisted by advisory councils. There would be one
of these councils at each state level, with the state sultans pre-
siding. These councils, however, could only advise. The actual
handling of the government would be vested in executive and
legislative councils. This plan would reduce the sultans, who
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had lost most of their power anyway, to the position of figure-
heads. Great Britain softened the blow as much as possible by
announcing that the council system would be temporary. As soon
as Malaya was ready, the British-dominated council government
would be replaced with self-government. Angry Malay leaders
believed this process would take about a hundred years. They
were not willing to wait so long.

The first result of the Union proposal was to spur the forma-
tion of a new political party devoted to fighting the Malay
Union. The new party was organized by Dato Onn bin Ja'afar
of Johore who traveled about the country urging support for his
United Malays National Organization (UMNO) and resistance
to the Malay Union. Influential Englishmen in London also
denounced the Union. Sir Frank Swettenham, who had long
since retired to England, claimed that the Union imposed too
much British control. The opposition reached the point where
the British government abandoned the Union plan and instituted
in its place the Federated plan which developed into the Federa-
tion of Malaya.

The Federation brought all Malay states except Singapore into
one group, exactly as the Union proposed. The difference was
primarily in greater recognition of states’ rights. The sultans
at last regained power and the British Resident was moved back
to an advisory position again. The federal government was under
a British High G issil , but his appoi ent had to be
approved by the Malay sultans. Local government was entirely
in the hands of the state governments, but the federal govern-
ment could act to ensure uniform policies throughout the federa-
tion. A Conference of Rulers, consisting of the state sultans, was
set up to meet three times a year. All amendments to the Federa-
tion constitution, immigration law changes, and appointment of
senior government officials had to be ratified by this conference.

The Federation gave the Malays the greatest voice in their
country’s government since the establishment of the British
protectorate system. However, there were restrictions on citizen-
ship of non-Malays, and certain land reservations were made in
favor of the Malay people which in effect made the Chinese and
Indian minorities second-class citizens. Such actions laid the basis
for the continuing strife that has wracked Malaya and its suc-
cessor Malaysia to this very day.




CHAPTER NINE

23233

Merdeka

THE years immediately following World War II saw the destruc-
tion of colonialism. India and Burma gained their independence
from England. The Dutch lost Indonesia. And the French empire
in Indochina was also lost to the demands for national inde-
pendence. The d d for deka—freed, ame slower in
Malaya than it did in the other countries of Southeast Asia, but
it was no less sure. The British government realized this, and the
Federation of Malaya was intended as a stop-gap measure to make
the inevitable transition from colonialism to self-government as
smooth as possible. British colonial policy was now to permit
former colonies and protectorates to achieve independence within
the framework of the British Commonwealth of Nations. Com-
monwealth nations, while politically independent, were pledged
to mutual defense and trade agreements.

The Communists were not interested in the success of the
Federation. They felt that it meant continued British domina-

tion of the peninsula. The C ist goal was a republic with
Communist leadership. So two months after the Federation was
formed in February 1948, the C ists began an i

struggle against the new political arrangement. The men who had
fought in the Malay Peoples’ Anti-Japanese Army had been held
together by an “Old Comrades” veterans' organization. Now
former MPAJA leaders called back the veterans to serve the party
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again. Guerrilla warfare was resumed against the Federation and
the British,

Guerrilla strategy involved first taking over a small area.
Natives within the area were intimidated into giving full sup-
port. The initial small areas were gradually enlarged until they
met other Communist-dominated areas. This gradual growth
eventually permitted the takeover of entire states. Attacks were
made on tin mines, rubber plantations, towns, and police sta-
tions. Most of the attacks were against Europeans, Indians,
Chinese businessmen, and foreigners. The Malays were generally
left alone, since the Communists were wooing their favor.

At first the federal government refused to believe that the
increasing violence was Communist inspired. Officials blamed the
disorder on criminal gangs formed during the breakdown of
discipline in the final days of the Japanese occupation. But by
June 1948 the evidence was overwhelming. An armed revolt was
actually underway. The government hastily declared a state of
national emergency on June 18, and six days later the govern-
ment of the Crown Colony of Singapore followed suit.

British and Commonwealth troops from India and Australia
were hastily shipped to Malaya. Mine and plantation owners
organized their employees into shock troops to defend their
property. Volunteer guard units were recruited to patrol and
protect the kampongs (villages). Areas of Communist control
were broken up, but the defending troops—although greatly out-
numbering the Communists—could do little to stop the rebels’
terrorist hit-and-run raids. The war dragged on for several years,
with the Communists gradually losing ground.

In 1951 Onn bin Ja'afar, founder of the United Malays Na-
tional Organization (UMNO) suddenly quit the political group
to form a new one called the Independence of Malaya Party.
Onn had become dissatisfied with the purely Malay nature of
UMNO. He decided that no political group could succeed by
representing just one of Malaya’s ethnic groups. He wanted his
new Malaya Ind e Party to rep Malays, Chinese,
and Indians. As it happened he drew support only from the
Indians, and his political power declined.

As Onn was fading out of the political picture after making
a brilliant start with his UMNO, his successor as head of the
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United Malays National Organization, Tunku Abdul Rahman,
became the new star in Malaya’s political sky. Tunku means
prince and Abdul Rahman was a member of the royalty of
Kedah. As a young man he had studied law and was Assistant
Government Prosecutor in the Federation government when he
assumed the leadership of UMNO. The Tunku (in Malaysia he
is almost universally called by his title instead of his name)
lacked Onn'’s fire, but he was a much shrewder politician. He was
friendly and tolerant, getting along well with all the races that
make up modern Malaysia. Thus he made a good compromise
leader whom all the parties could back. In 1953 the Tunku
worked out an alliance with the Malayan Chinese Association
and the Malayan Indian Congress that greatly strengthened his
political hand.

The Alliance, as the coalition was known to the public, now
announced independence as its national goal. By 1955 the
Alliance was in control of the federal government with Tunku
Abdul Rahman as prime minister. Once started, the indepen-
dence movement moved swiftly. Great Britain still maintained
control despite the great advances made in self-government, but
she realized that independence for Malaya was inevitable.

The British finally agreed to permit complete independence
for Malaya. “Merdeka” was proclaimed on August 31, 1957.
The Duke of Gloucester came from England to personally
represent Queen Elizabeth II at the ceremony. The duke pre-
sented the new nation's constitution to Tunku Abdul Rahman
to symbolize the transfer of supreme authority from Great
Britain to the new nation.

The constitution provided for a federation of Malay states
headed by a prime minister. The nominal Head of State, who
reigned but did not rule, was the Yang di-Pertuan Agong (Su-
preme Ruler). He was elected by the sultans of the nine original
Malay states from their own ranks. The Supreme Ruler would
serve for a five-year term and then would be replaced by another
elected Yang di-Pertuan Agong. He would hold a ceremonial
position comparable to that of the Queen of England. The prime
minister and his cabinet would run the government according
to laws passed by the Malayan parliament.

At the Merdeka ceremony the Duke of Gloucester read a
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message to the Malayan people from her Majesty Queen Eliza-
beth: 1 am confident that Malaya will respond worthily to the
chall tasks of independence and that she will continue to
show to the world that example of moderation and goodwill
toward all races that has been so marked a feature of her history.”

Then Tunku Abdul Rahman, his voice shaking with emotion,
read the Proclamation of Independence, saying: “I do hereby
proclaim and declare that the Federation of Malaya is, and with
God's blessing shall be forever, a sovereign democratic and in-
dependent State founded upon the principles of liberty and
justice and ever seeking the welfare and happiness of its people
and the maintenance of a just peace among all nations.”

Then the Duke of Gloucester, the prime minister and the Yang
di-Pertuan Agong saluted together as the flag of the new nation
was raised.

The new independent nation was still at war with the Com-
munist terrorist gangs in the jungles. Earlier the Communist
leader Chan Peng had announced that the terrorists were only
fighting for a free Malaya. Now that independence had been
achieved, Tunku Abdul Rahman called on the guerrillas to stop
fighting. Soon after the Merdeka ceremony Chan Peng asked for
a meeting with the prime minister. The Tunku agreed, but
refused the amnesty demands of the Communist leaders. The
fighting dragged on for another two years, involving both Malay
and British Commonwealth troops, for the independence agree-
ment required the British government to give military assistance.

Gradually larger and larger groups of men deserted from the
terrorist ranks. Chan Peng fled to sanctuary across the Thailand
border. The fighting finally ceased in 1960. By this time the
twelve-year jungle war had cost the lives of twelve thousand peo-
ple, including both military and civilian. Shortly after the shoot-
ing stopped, Tunku Abdul Rahman lifted the state of emergency
which had been proclaimed twelve years earlier.

Defeat in Malaya did not stop the Communist drive. Their
main effort was merely transferred from the peninsula to Singa-
pore, long the terrorists’ chief supply base. Singapore had
achieved the status of a self- gmcrmng state under British con-
trol and had its own mini i David Marshall, a
native-born Singaporean of halfjemsh half-Iragi blood, be-
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came prime minister. He immediately began a drive for complete
independence, but he was forced to resign the next year (1956)
when his talks with the British ended in failure. He was suc-
ceeded by his friend Lim Yew-hock as prime minister. The
main reason for Great Britain's refusal to grant Singapore full
independence was the extreme danger of a Communist takeover
if Britain relinquished control of security.

The new prime minister began a vigorous program to stamp
out subversion. Communist organizations were suppressed. Dem-
onstrations were brought under control. And a large number of
C and their sympathizers were arrested. Great Britain
was impressed by Lim’s decisiveness and agreed to reopen talks
about possible independence. The British government balked at
going beyond the previous self-government concessions it had
made to Singapore, claiming that the 224-square-mile island was
too weak to defend itself alone. The opinion was expressed to
Lim during one of his trips to London that independence would
be granted only if Singapore could ally itself with Malaya, The
Tunku refused to consider joining Singapore with Malaya.

As the arg for full independ for Singapore con-
tinued, preparations were made for the first fully free elections
under the self-governing constitution. It quickly became appar-
ent that Lim Yew-hock and his government were in serious
trouble with the voters. The rising star in Singapore politics was
a young Chinese lawyer named Lee Kuan Yew. Lee had been a
founder of the People’s Action Party (PAP) which was accused
of being a Communist-front organization. Despite the fact that
several of its top members were in jail, PAP easily won the elec-
tion, taking 43 out of 51 seats in the Assembly.

Lee, as leader of the winning party, was invited by Sir Wil-
liam Goode, Governor-General of Singapore, to form a gov-
ernment under the parliamentary system. While Goode may
have had misgivings about Lee Kuan Yew, under the constitu-
tion granting self-government the governor had no choice. Lee,
however, refused to form a government unless PAP members in
jail were released. Governor Goode agreed and Lee became
prime minister, heading the government of Singapore. Goode,
as provided in the agreement for self-government, resigned as
governor and was transferred to Borneo. Singapore, despite its
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self-governing status, was still a part of the British Empire, and
agitation continued for full independence.

Lee Kuan Yew surprised both friend and foe. He acknowl-
edged that there were Communists in his party, but disavowed
communism himself. He professed to be a Socialist, which also
frightened Singapore's merchants. Socialism is government regu-
lation of business as well as other essentials of a nation’s well-
being. Singapore had no industry of any importance. It existed
solely on its earnings as a free port of trade. Socialist regulation
would stifle a port like Singapore. Because merchants, unlike
big industries, do not have enormous plants which are difficult
to move, they can shift their bases of operations with ease. The
Dutch found this out when they tried to regulate trade in
Malacca after taking the city from the Portuguese, at which
time Malaccan merchants moved to Singapore. However, Lee
Kuan Yew—while professing Socialistic leanings and admitting
Communist support—very effectively stifled Communist attempts
to take over the island and has maintained Singapore’s free
port status.

When elections came up again in 1961, Lee frankly admitted
to the people of Singapore that he had accepted Communist sup-
port, but added, “The PAP is one of the few groups that have
worked in a united front with the Malayan Communist Party
and have not been absorbed into it.” And it was true. As Harry
Miller, former chief reporter (the newspaper’s designation) for
the Straits Times, put it: “Lec gained the confidence of busi-

local and by d rating comg e, integ-
rity of purpose and freedom from corruption.” These qualities
not only solidified Lee's position, but have kept him in office
despite some serious crises that have rocked his island city-state.

From the beginning Lee urged unification of Singapore with
Malaya. The British also favored the union, repeating their
stand that full independence for Singapore would not come until
such unification was achieved. Lee pointed out that 41 percent
of Malaya's imports moved through Singapore and that 31 per-
cent of her exports were also handled by Singapore’s ports. Tunku
Abdul Rahman, while professing friendship for Singapore, still
refused to permit unification of the two countries. The Tunku
denied being afraid that Singapore's one and a half million
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Chinese would outbalance the Malays if Si
10 join the Federation of Malaya.

The Tunku explained his position in a later speech in which
he said, “I was of the opinion that integration of the two ter-
ritories would spell trouble—trouble for all of us, trouble for
this country and the security part of our lives. The differences
in outlook of the people of the Federation and Singapore were
so pronounced that for me a merger at that time was out of the
question."”

He mentioned religion—Islam in Malaya and predominantly
Buddhism in Singapore—and the Malay language in contrast to
the Chinese language as examples of these differences.

“In the event of a merger of the two territories, the different
views of the people of the Federation and Singapore might clash,
and clash violently.”

Then, beginning in 1961, the political situation in Singapore
took a turn that disturbed the Tunku, and he began to view the
situation in Singapore as a future threat to Malaya. In another
speech to his people Tunku Abdul Rahman reviewed the back-
ground that led to his change of position toward union between
Malaya and Singapore:

“Alter the clection of 1959 Singapore tried to set up an ex-
treme Socialist Government under the party called PAP . . .
Businessmen of Singapore had their own misgivings and fears
about the extreme Socialist policy—they were transferring their
interests into the Federation of Malaya. This was serious for
Singapore, bearing in mind that the economy of the island rests
solely on business, trade, and commerce.” He went on to say
that Lee Kuan Yew found it difficult to run the island’s govern-
ment without the coof ion of busi and that Singap
was in danger of destroying itself by driving away the commerce
upon which its economy was built. “The responsible leaders
then realized that they owed a duty to the people rather than to
themselves. So the sceds of difference between the non-Commu-
nist clements and the pro-Communist elements in PAP were
sown.”

PAP was a coalition of several political elements. When
Prime Minister Lee Kuan Yew broke with his Communist
supporters, he lost considerable support. Though his party won

gapore was permitted
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in the 1961 elections, retaining control of the government, the
Tunku was frightened by the election in Malaya, for it indicated
that there was a distinct possibility that Singapore would go
Communist in the future. A Communist Singapore could well be
a disaster for Malaya in the next confrontation between Malaya
and the Malayan Communist Party.

“The division of Singapore and Malaya might be all right
while Singapore is under control of Great Britain. But a time
will come when Singapore will be given independence—I have
no doubt they will be given independence—and that time is not
far off and new talks will be held in 1963,” the Tunku told the
Malayan parliament.

With this situation facing him, the Tunku was now ready to
admit Singapore into the Federation of Malaya, provided he
could assure himself that the island’s large Chinese population—
one and a half million—would not upset the racial balance in
Malaya and permit the Chinese to dominate Federation politics.
He knew very well how ambitious and brilliant Lee Kuan Yew
was. The Tunku could envision Lee one day becoming prime
minister of the Federation, of Malaya.

Still the Tunku was convinced that Malaya's future security
depended upon taking Singapore into the union. After consider-
able secret discussions with his own ministers and with Lee Kuan
Yew, the Tunku finally approved a plan he thought would
solve the problems of union with Singapore. Instead of taking
Singapore into the Federation, the Federation would be dis-
solved and replaced with a completely new nation to be called
Malaysia.

To counterbalance the large number of Malaysians of Chinese
origin who would come into the new union with the admission
of Singapore, the Tunku called for the admission also of the
Malay states under domination of the British in Borneo. These
were North Borneo State (now Sabah), Brunei, and Sarawak.
This, Tunku Abdul Rahman thought, would ensure Malay pre-
dominance in the new nation.

It appeared to be a masterly solution to a difficult problem.
However, the Tunku failed to take into consideration three
factors that proved later to be vital. One was the opposition of
the ancient sultanate of Brunei to joining the new nation. An-
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other was the driving ambition of Lee Kuan Yew. And the
third factor which would cause serious trouble was the surpris-
ing objection of the Philippine Islands and of the new nation
of Indonesia.

Malaysia was in trouble before it was even formed.



CHAPTER TEN

2333

Trials of a New Nation

ONCE the Tunku made his decision to bring about the merger
of Malaya, the British Borneo states, and Singapore into the new
nation of Malaysia, he moved swiftly to get domestic and inter-
national support for his plan. This began with a “trial balloon"
issued as a fecler to test response. The feeler was dropped in a
casual manner as part of a speech the Malayan prime minister
made to the Foreign Correspondents’ Association of Southeast
Asia at a meeting in Singapore on May 27, 1g61.

In the course of the speech the Tunku said, "Malaya today
as a nation realizes that she cannot stand alone and in isolation
. . . Sooner or later she should have an understanding with
Britain and the peoples of Singapore, Borneo, Brunei, and
Sarawak. It is premature for me to say how this closer under-
standing can be brought about, but it is inevitable that we
should look ahead to this objective and think of a plan whereby
these territories can be brought closer together in a political
and economic cooperation.”

Reaction to this feeler was good in Malaya and Singapore.
There was less acceptance in Borneo. The three states there
felt that they would be only exchanging British overlordship
for Malayan domination. The states of North Borneo and
Sarawak had earlier suggested a federation of the Borneo states,
but Brunei resisted both a Borneo federation and the proposed
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nation of Malaysia. The Sultan of Brunei had but recently
achieved self-government, and his country was doing well because
of royalties from rich oil deposits.

Great Britain, however, pushed hard for the union with
Malaya and Singapore. Her position was much like that of the
old East India Company in its first dealings with the Malay
Peninsula. Direct ad 1 was too i
and growing nationalism promised nothing but trouble for im-
perialistic nations in the future. Britain hoped that by freeing
all her colonies and ining them as independ bers of
the British Commonwealth, she could still have her trade advan-
tages without the expense of administration. However, the Com-
munist push in the Far East, plus the greed of Indonesia and the
Philippine Islands, revealed that any small country with desires
for independence would soon fall under the domination of a
stronger neighbor or be taken over by the Communists. Federa-
tion of Malaya and Singapore would solve this problem, creating
a stronger nation which would be able—with Commonwealth
defense treaties—to protect its independence,

The first public reaction of Borneo officials was a total rejec-
tion of the merger plan. This reaction began to change after
a regional conference of delegates from Malaya and Borneo met
in Singapore on July 21, 1961, less than two months after the
Tunku's speech to the correspondents launched the idea of a
merger. A high level committee met early in 1962 to determine
if such a merger would be to the advantage of Borneo states. The
group was called the Cobbold C ission after its chai
Lord Cobbold, a former governor of the Bank of England.

The Cobbold Commission reported that the merger was in
the interest of the Borneo states because of the difficult world
situation. At the same time the Commission tried to find a
compromise for the ticklish questions of state sovereignty and
religion. Under the Malayan constitution only a sultan of one of
the original nine Malay states could be elected Supreme Ruler
(Yang di-Pertuan Agong). The two states formed from part of the
original British Straits Settlements were barred from this honor-
ary position. The Commission recommended that the bar be
held for Sarawak and North Borneo, but that the Sultan of
Brunei be made eligible for election to the high post.

On other disputed the C ission said, “It is
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agreed that the three Borneo territories should have certain
local safeguards in respect to colonization, taxation, customs
and fiscal matters.” On the subject of religion, the Commission
said, “A great deal of attention was directed to the question of
Islam, as the religion of the Federation. It is satisfied that the
acceptance of Islam as the religion of the Federation will not
endanger religious freedom within Malaysia.” The report went
on to point out that the present constitution of Malaya con-
tained definite safeguards respecting freedom of religion and
other personal freedoms.

Work on resolving problems continued throughout 1962. By
the end of the year it appeared that the formation of Malaysia
was nearing reality. However, in December 1962 a revolt broke
out in Brunei, led by Sheikh A. M. Azahari, who founded the
Rakyat Party., Azahari had long been an ardent anti-colonialist
and a bitter foe of the British. At the end of World War I1
Azahari fought with the Indonesians in their war for indepen-
dence from the Dutch. He returned to Brunei in 1952 and soon
after formed the Rakyat political party. Azahari had remained
sympathetic to his Indonesian friends, and Indonesia, through
its fircbrand president Sukarno, had expressed great displeasure
at the plan to take the British Borneo states into the proposed
nation of Malaysia, Azahari wanted to mold North Borneo,
Brunei, and Sarawak into a new nation called North Kalimantan
under Ind ian influence. Ind ia now controlled all of
Borneo except the British states and had renamed the island
Kalimantan.

When it appeared that Malaysia would be formed, Azahari
began a revolt in Brunei and adjacent areas of Sarawak and
North Borneo. He did not lead the action himself, but went to
the Philippines. After the rebels seized several strong points,
including the Shell Oil Company’s fields, Azahari announced
from Manila that he was the new “prime minister of the Revo-
lutionary State of North Kalimantan.” Unfortunately for Aza-
hari’s plans to force a union of the Borneo states, a company of
Indian troops, followed by military forces from the other Com-
monwealth nations, smashed the revolt in ten days.

The Sultan of Brunei declared martial law and suspended
the assembly because of the large number of Azahari supporters
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in its membership, In Malaya the Tunku assailed Indonesia for
supporting the rebels. President Sukarno of Indonesia denounced
the Tunku and denied that Indonesia officially supported the
Brunei rebels, although he admitted that “all Indonesia sympa-
thizes with the people of northern Kalimantan [Borneo] in
their struggle for freedom.” Sukarno then began a systematic
denunciation of the proposed Malaysia treaty, calling it a plot
to encircle Indonesia and to save Borneo's natural resources
for the benefit of imperialistic nations.

Even more surprising to Malaysia than Indonesia’s attitude
was an attack by the Philippine Islands on the principles of
the Malaysia treaty. President Macapagal of the Philippines
objected to the inclusion of North Borneo in the new nation,
because, he claimed, the territory had been illegally ceded to
Baron Von Overbeck and Alfred Dent, founders of the North
Borneo Company, which later ceded the territory to Great
Britain. The founders of the North Borneo Company, afraid
of future claims, had made two treaties. One was with the local
sultan in North Borneo, and the other was with the Sultan of
Sulu because of the sultan’s claims on the territory.

President Macapagal claimed that even if the Sultan of Sulu
had a right to sign the treaty, it was not his intention to make
a permanent gift of the Jand but only to give the company
limited trading privileges. The London Times refuted this
claim by quoting from the original treaty-deed: “On behalf of
ourselves, our heirs and successors we hereby grant and cede of
our own free will and sovereign will to Gustavus, Baron Von
Overbeck and Alfred Dent, Esq., as representatives of a British
Company forever and in perpetuity all rights and powers be-
longing to us on the mainland of Borneo.”

Faced with this definite statement of intent, the Philippine
president then insisted that the Sultan of Sulu had had no right
to cede the territory. When the treaty had been made with the
North Borneo Company, the Philippine Islands were under
Spanish jurisdiction, and Spain, not the Sultan of Sulu, had
sovereignty over North Borneo. This claim was refuted by a
treaty signed in 1885 between Spain and Britain in which Spain
recognized British right in Borneo and Britain renounced any
claim to the Sulu islands.
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As further evidence against the Philippine claim to North
Borneo, the British Foreign Office pointed out that the United
States had replaced Spain in the Philippines after the Spanish-
American War of 1898. The United States had then formally
recognized British claims to North Borneo in a convention
signed in 1930. The Philippine counterclaim insisted that an
independent nation such as the Philippine Islands could not be
bound by agreements made by the colonial governments that
preceded it

In the meantime, Sukarno of Indonesia continued to fight
the union of Malay states as a distinct threat to his own plans for
expansion. At one point he said that Indonesia would withdraw
her objection to the North Borneo states joining Malaysia if a
United Nations Commission would conduct an investigation to
certify that the people of the three states, North Borneo,
Sarawak, and Brunei, did wish to join in the proposed Malaysia
federation. At first Great Britain objected to the United Nations
intervening in the Malaysian dispute, but finally she agreed.

At the same time that Sukarno was saying that he would with-
draw objections if the United Nations certified the federation,
he and President Macapagal of the Philippines endorsed a loose
federation of all the Southeast Asian countries with predomi-
nantly Malayan people. This federation, in which each member
nation would retain its independence, was to be called Maphi-
lindo—a curious name created by taking the first letters of
Malaya, the Philippines, and Indonesia. The plan never received
serious consideration.

Meanwhile, Sarawak and North Borneo agreed to join the
Malaysian federation, but in June 1963 Brunei announced that
she would never join. The negotiator had agreed to permit the
Sultan of Brunei to become part of the royal circle from which
the supreme ruler would be elected, but the negotiations broke
down over the question of oil royalties from public land in Brunei.
The Tunku agreed to permit Brunei to continue collecting the
royalties for the next ten years, but after that time the money
would go into the Malaysian treasury. This was totally unac-
ceptable to Brunei, and the Sultan announced that his tiny
country would remain a self-governing member of the British
Commonwealth.
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At a meeting in London, Great Britain, Malaya, and Singa-
pore agreed that the new nation of Malaysia would be created
and become effective on August g1, 1963, This date had to be
postponed to permit the United Nations Commission to make
its study and report to U Thant, the United Nations Secretary-
General. Then both Indonesia and the Philippines insisted that
they be permitted to send observers with the United Nations
group. Great Britain agreed, but President Sukarno stalled again.
This time he insisted that Indonesia be allowed to increase its
ten observers to thirty. The demand was refused and both
the Philippines and Ind ia withheld their observers for ten
days before giving in and sending them to join the inquiry.
This incident gave Sukarno another excuse to blast the United
Nations, Great Britain, and the plan to form Malaysia.

The Commission announced that it would render its report
on September 14, 1963. The Malayan government, in concur-
rence with the Borneo States, Singapore, and Great Britain,
then announced that the nation of Malaysia would be formed
on September 16. This action angered United Nations Secretary-
General U Thant, for the Commission had not yet concluded
its investigation and the Secretary-General viewed the announce-
ment as a declaration that Malaya and Great Britain were con-
temptuous of the United Nations and did not care what the
investigation revealed.

Meanwhile, Indonesia stepped up military action along the
1,000-mile front between Kalimantan (Indonesian Borneo) and
the British Borneo states. Guerrilla bands penetrated into the
states of North Borneo, Sarawak, and Brunei. Sukarno did not
admit that these were regular Indonesian forces, but tried to
preserve the fiction that they were remnants of the rebels who
had supported Azahari's attempt to overthrow the Sultan of
Brunei.

August 31, 1963, had been the intended date for the creation
of Malaysia before the postponement for the United Nations
survey. The governments of Sarawak, North Borneo, and Singa-
pore had objected to the postponement. These governments now
decided to keep the original date for their declarations of inde-
pendence as a means of dramatizing their objection to the delay
and to what they felt was unwarranted United Nations interfer-
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ence in their activities. So on August 31 Lee Kuan Yew issued a
proclamation declaring Singapore's independence from Great
Britain and stating that his island city-state would conduct its
own foreign policy and defense until Malaysia was created. Up
to this time Great Britain had conducted Singapore's foreign
relations and defense from the great Singapore naval base, al-
though Singapore was self-governing in all other respects.

Sarawak and North Borneo also chose the g1st of August as
the time to put into effect the governments that they would have
under the Malaysian federation. North Borneo then changed
her name to Sabah. These actions increased Sukarno's rage.
While arguments continued, a new enemy of Malaysia suddenly
appeared. The Pan-Malayan Islamic Party of Kelantan, the
Malayan state on the east coast of the peninsula, asked the Su-
preme Court of Malaya to stop the Tunku from taking the
Federation of Malaya into the new nation of Malaysia. The
party, which controlled the government of Kelantan state, was
strongly pro-Malay. It feared the introduction of the large
Chinese population of Singapore into a union with Malaya. The
court rejected the petition on the grounds that the states of the
Federation of Malaya had no authority to object to the actions
of the federal government and that there was no need for the
federal government to consult the states when acting for the
common welfare.

As the date neared for the delivery of the United Nations
report, Indonesia stepped up her anti-British campaign. Events
made it obvious that Sukarno had no intention of abiding by
his statement—made at Manila in July—that he would accept
a United Nations Commission finding concerning the desires of
the people of Borneo about joining the union of Malaysia. On
September 12 an Indonesian mob tore down the British flag at
the British Consulate in Surabaya in northeastern Java. Then
the UN Commission report was issued on September 14, and—
as expected—was favorable to the creation of the new nation
of Malaysia.

In concluding his report of the Commission’s findings to the
General Assembly of the United Nations, U Thant said: “From
the beginning of this year [1963], I have been observing the
rising tension in Southeast Asia on account of the difference of
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opinion among the countries most directly interested in the
Malaysia issue. It was in hope that some form of United Nations
involvement might help to reduce tension that 1 agreed to re-
spond positively to the request made by the three Manila powers
[i.c., Malaya, the Philippines, and Indonesia]. I would hope
that the exercise in which my colleagues and I [the UN inquiry
mission to Borneo] have been involved in this regard would
have this effect, and that the coming into being of Malaysia will
not prove to be a continuing source of friction and tension in
this area."”

U Thant was not to get his wish for a lessening of tension,
Instead the situation exploded in greater violence. The forma-
tion of Malaysia was formally proclaimed on September 16,
1963. The next day representatives of the fourteen states making
up the new nation met at Merdeka Stadium in Kuala Lumpur,
the national capital. This was the same location where, six years
carlier, Tunku Abdul Rahman had proclaimed the indepen-
dence of Malaya. Indonesia and Philippi T ives were
not among the diplomats from foreign nations who assembled
for the ceremonies. They were recalled by their governments.
The Tunku retaliated by ordering Malaysian ambassadors to
leave the Philippines and Ind ia, breaking dipl ic rela-
tions.

In concluding his address to the assembly, Tunku Abdul
Rahman said: “Malaysia shall by the grace of God, the Lord of
the Universe, forever be an independent and sovereign State
founded upon liberty and justice, ever secking to defend and
uphold peace and harmony among its people and to perpetuate
peace among nations."

The Tunku’s hope for peace and harmony among Malaysia’s
people proved as vain as U Thant's hope that tension would
lessen in Southeast Asia after the UN Commission rendered its
report. Indonesia observed Malaysia Declaration Day with up-
risings against British citizens in Djakarta and by more savage
guerrilla auacks in Borneo. Sukarno called the new attacks
“Confrontation,” and announced that his aim was to “crush
Malaysia.” He kept repeating that Malaysia was a threat to
Indonesia. In actuality the only threat was to Sukarno's personal
ambition to control all the Malay world himself.
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While Malaysia was in truth a new nation, officially it was
not acknowledged as such. The Tunku called it an expansion
of the old Federation of Malaya even though a new name and
constitution were introduced. This was done for practical politi-
cal reasons. By calling Malaysia an expansion of Malaya, the
Tunku did not have to seck new diplomatic recognition from
foreign nations or new membership in the United Nations nor
did he have to replace missions.

Various Asian and European nations tried to mediate the
Malaysia-Indonesia dispute, but none were successful. In January
1963 President John F. Kennedy of the United States sent his
brother Robert to Indonesia to talk with Sukarno. Kennedy
was no more successful than previous diplomats. In fact, the
trouble intensified after Kennedy's visit. It was as if Sukarno
suspected possible American intervention and intended to crush
Malaysia before this happened. Such a fear was ill founded, for
the United States was becoming more involved in Vietnam and
was in no position to extend her involvement into Malaysia,
Borneo, and Indonesia.

The British came immediately to Malaysia’s aid in accordance
with a defense treaty which was part of the independence agree-
ment. British and Commonwealth troops were moved into
Borneo, for up to this point the actual shooting phase of the
*Confrontation” had been restricted to the frontier between
Malaysia’s Borneo states and Indonesia’s Kalimantan. Then in
August 1964 Sukarno landed a force of one hundred men on
the southwest shore of Johore state at the tip of the Malay
Peninsula. The landing party was supposed to furnish a nucleus
for a jungle guerrilla band which would draw new members
from Indonesian sympathizers in Malay

The infiltration plan failed and Malaysian police and soldiers
quickly rounded up the landing force. Sukarno was not daunted.
He followed up this invasion of West Malaysia with another
hundred Indonesian guerrillas who were parachuted into Johore.
Again Sukarno had overestimated the number of Indonesian
sympathizers in the Malay state. The guerrillas were turned in
by loyal Malays and arrested before they could set up operations.

Sukarno at first angrily denied that the two invasions were
inspired by Indonesia. He insisted that they were independent
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“freedom fighters." Malaysia retaliated by making a complaint
to the United Nations Security Council. In the debate that fol-
lowed, the Indonesian delegate to the UN reiterated Indonesia’s
claim that the formation of Malaysia was a British plot to en-
slave all Malay people and thereby was a direct threat to Indone-
sia’s future.

The Malaysian delegate charged that the paratroopers dropped
into Johore were regular members of the Indonesian forces and
that the plane used was a Hercules (American-built) transport
from the Indonesian Air Force. In addition the paratroopers
included ten Malaysian Chinese C ists who had been se-
lected to serve as guides for the infiltrating guerrillas. Two of the
Chinese were women. The Malaysian delegate displayed a large
amount of ammunition and equipment seized after the landing,
Many of the grenades, detonators, and packages of TNT bore
Indonesian markings. The Russian delegate was chairing the
Security Council meeting on this occasion, and he demanded
that the munitions be removed because of danger to the other
delegates.

The Indonesian delegate continued to denounce the British,
saying: “Since Indonesia’s independence, my country and my
people have suffered much from colonialism and imperialism.
The neighboring areas, which are now called Malaysia, inhab-
ited by our brother peoples, have been used by British coloni-
alism as a base from which to challenge, to fight, and to subvert
our Republic, our Revolution, politically, economically, and
militarily.”

The delegate went on to say that Indonesia had never been
against the formation of Malaysia, but what she objected to was
the formation of a Malaysia dominated by the British. The In-
donesian actually meant that the objection was to the British
defense agreement. The presence of British forces in Malaysia
would prevent Sukarno's expansion plans. The Indonesian dic-
tator hoped first to absorb the former British Borneo states
into Kalimantan (Indonesian Borneo) and then to dominate or
take over the peninsular Malay states at a later date.

The Indonesian delegate, Suwardjo Tjond , went on to

8
insist that the defense arrangements between Malaysia and
Britain were a subterfuge to permit Great Britain to meddle in
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the affairs of all Southeast Asia under the guise of “preserving
peace.” He added that Indonesia would not have objected to the
formation of Malaysia “if it had been founded on the coopera-
tive will for freedom of the peoples in Southeast Asia rather
than on the power and protection of Britain.”

He ended by admitting for the first time that some of the
guerrillas fighting in northern Borneo had been trained in
Indonesia, but insisted that British and Malaysian troops in
Borneo had also violated Indonesian territory.

The evidence left no question that Indonesia was definitely
the aggressor. However, the Security Council failed to take a posi-
tive stand for fear of a Russian veto of any condemnation of
Indonesia. This veto was assured for two reasons. One, it would
be a slap at world democracy. Secondly, the People’s Republic
of China through its Communist groups in Southeast Asia was
developing considerable influence in this area, and Russia wanted
to woo Indonesian goodwill to offset the Chinese, who were
becoming increasingly at odds with Russia.

Finally a watered-down resolution introduced by Norway was
passed, with Russia and Czechoslovakia voting against it. The
resolution merely “took note of the Malaysia complaint” regard-
ing the Indonesian landings on the Malay Peninsula, expressed
“deep concern by armed incidents in that region which have
seriously aggravated the situation,” and “deplored the incidents
which form the basis of the complaint.”

Then the resolution requested the parties concerned to make
every effort to avoid a recurrence of such incidents; called upon
them to refrain from “all threat and use of force and to respect
the territorial and political independence of each other”; and
finally recommended that Indonesia and Malaysia resume their
talks on a diplomatic level.

The resolution might be considered a moral victory for Ma-
laysia, but from a practical standpoint it was worthless. This
resolution underscored the futility of United Nations actions
to settle international difficulties of small nations when the giant
world powers take opposing sides.




CHAPTER ELEVEN

2332

A Nation in Danger

CONFRONTATION continued. Indonesian guerrilla forces
continued to attack the Malay Peninsula. At the same time Indo-
nesian-trained Malaysians of both Malay and Chinese extraction
started riots in Malaysia cities. One of the most serious occurred
in July 1964 as the Muslims were celebrating the birthday of
the Prophet Mohammed. Thiry-five people were killed and more
than a thousand rioters were arrested in Singapore.

The opening of 1965 brought a new turn in the hostilities. It
was Malaysia's turn to take a temporary seat on the United
Nation's Security Council, alternating a two-year term with
Czechoslovakia. Sukarno threatened to withdraw Indonesia from
the world body if Malaysia were permitted to take the Security
Council seat. The threat was ignored by the UN, and Indonesia
resigned. (She was reinstated the next year, 1966),

It became apparent that Sukarno was motivated by something
other than anger at the seating of Malaysia. Malaysia could have
taken no action on the Security Council that would have en-
dangered Indonesia, for Russia would have vetoed any such
move. Sukarno simply used the seating as an excuse to withdraw,
He was planning a new and stronger attack on the Malaysian
states in Borneo and did not want to be hampered by United
Nations membership. The Tunku was alarmed by the turn of
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events and appealed to the Security Council for assistance should
Indonesia attack in force. Until this time the fighting had been
among small guerrilla groups. The UN reaction was not too
favorable. To make matters worse for the Tunku, who was an
avowed anti-C ist, the Ind ian G ist Party ap-
peared to be on the verge of gaining enough strength to take
over Indonesia.

Then more trouble developed closer to home. The Tunku
suddenly became fearful of the ambitious Lee Kuan Yew in
Singapore. It will be recalled that the Tunku had been afraid to
admit Singapore to the original Federation of Malaya because of
the effect such a large number of Chinese (nearly one and a half
million) would have on the nation’s elections. He thought the
inclusion of North Borneo Malays would offset this and finally
agreed to include Singapore in the Malaysian federation. Now it
appeared that he had made a mistake.

The Tunku's government held power through the “Alliance
Party,” a coalition of the United Malays National Organization
UMNO (the Tunku's party), the Malayan Chinese Association,
and the Malayan Indian Congress. The Malayan Chinese Associ-
ation (MCA) had always distrusted Lee Kuan Yew and his
People’s Action Party (PAP). Lec was known as an ardent Social-
ist, and his PAP party was acknowledged to have Communist
members. The Malayan Chinese Association, on the other hand,
was composed of middle-class Chinese living on the peninsula
away from Singapore where Lee had his influence. These pen-
insular Chinese were primarily interested in getting along with
their Malay neighbors and wanted nothing to disturb their
businesses.

In the 1964 elections, the first held since the formation of
Malaysia, Lee Kuan Yew set out to directly challenge the MCA.
His objective was to get members of his own PAP party elected |
to seats held by MCA members and thus increase the pressure |
he and his PAP top officials could put on the Tunku. Lee won
only one seat in the Assembly by this maneuver but gained the
enmity of powerful Malay politicians.

Lee's action in the election caused the Tunku to take a hard
second look at this enterprising Chinese politician. The Chinese
population of Malaysia, including Singapore and the Borneo |

e |
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States, was about 47 percent of the total. If Lee could swing the
total Chinese vote and the Indian vote as well, the Chinese-
Indian coalition could sweep the Malays out of power in their
own country. Even though these Chinese had been in Malaysia
for generations, the Malays had never looked upon them as
natives. They remained Chinese and the Indians remained In-
dians, both nationalities separated from the Malays by race, cus-
toms, ideals, and religion. Even if a Chinese citizen's father and
grandfather had been born in Malaya, he still remained a for-
eigner and an interloper in the eyes of the Malays.

Such an attitude was an open invitation to dissension. Stern
British discipline had prevented trouble in the past, but the Brit-
ish were gone now and the Malays controlled the government.
The Chinese had begun to settle in Malaya only after the British
established trading centers in Penang and Singapore. Then ex-
pansion of the tin mining industry had brought a great migration
of Chinese. Chinese industry and ability to amass wealth irri-
tated the Malays, who were by nature a more casygoing peo-
ple, lacking the intense drive for success that motivated the
Chinese. Then the bloody riots of the mid-1880s when Chinese
secret socicties fought each other had further alienated the
Malays.

Malayan fear and distrust of the Chinese were clearly reflected
in the constitution drawn up when Malaya got her independence
from Britain. This discrimination was then carried over into the
Malaysian constitution. Restrictions on citizenship were included
that favored the Malay population over the other two nationali-
ties. Chinese language classes could no longer be conducted in
Chinese secondary schools. The language of instruction had to be
either Malay or English. In addition certain “Malay rights" were
written into the constitution. These are rather complex but can
be summarized as placing restrictions on the number of Chinese
and Indians who can be employed in the Malaysian civil service
or who can serve in the Malaysian armed forces. Government
scholarship awards for students are under the same national quota
system. And large areas of public land are set aside as “Malay
reservations.” Only Malays are permitted to own land within
choice reservation areas.

While not spelled out in the constitution, as are the other
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restrictions, there also seems to be an unofficial—but none the
less strict—quota system for establishing new businesses and ob-
taining franchises. John Slimming, a British reporter, notes
thata Chinese taxi operator in Kuala Lumpur told him that one-
third of the taxi company's profit had to be turned over to a
Malay front man for the use of the Malay's name as the official
owner of the company.

These restrictions do not outwardly bother established Chinese
businessmen in Ma - Although as a result they are barred
from taking a prominent place in the government, they do not
care who rules as long as they can pursue their businesses. As a
result, the Malayan Chinese Association party was glad to join the
Alliance coalition with the Tunku's United Malays National
Organization party. Middle-class Chinese only wanted to preserve
what they had.

Lee Kuan Yew had an opposing view. He did not draw his
political strength from what he called “the Capitalist Chinese,”
but from the dock workers and poorer classes in Singapore who
were attracted by his socialistic leanings. Lee angrily de-
nounced the MCA Chinese for their willingness to be second-
class citizens and asserted that he supported equality for all races
in Mala After the election went against him, Lee made a
new move aimed directly at breaking the Malay grip on the
federal government. He organized a “Malaysia Solidarity Con-
vention™ with the intention of bringing together all Malaysian
people outside the Malays. If this could be done, then Lee
would have a majority of voters on his side.

The Convention flatly called for a “Malaysian  Malay
What this meant was spelled out in an inaugural speech by Lee
in which he said, “A Malaysian Malaysia means that the nation
and the State are not identified with the supremacy, well-being
and interests of any one community or race. A Malaysian
Malaysia is the antithesis of a Malay Malaysia, a Chinese Ma-
laysia, a Dayak Malaysia, an Indian Malaysia and so on. The
special and legitimate rights of diff Ies ities must be
secured and promoted within the framework of the collective
rights, interests and responsibilities of all races.”

The inaugural address went on to say that those who sup-
ported the concept of a Malaysian Malaysia were “determined to
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unite and work for its realization no matter how arduous and
protracted the struggle may be.”

The Malay population naturally reacted strongly to Lee's
declaration. The long-standing enmity between the Chinese and
the Malays was fanned into a greater flame. There was an uproar
in parliament where angry speeches denounced Lee for trying to
take away “Malay rights.” The Tunku had gone to England to
attend a Commonwealth Prime Ministers’ Conference in early
May, prior to Lee's call for a Malaysian Malaysia. In fact, there
is some suspicion that Lee Kuan Yew deliberately timed his
Malaysian Solidarity Convention to coincide with the Tunku's
absence from the country,

The Tunku was naturally informed of Lee's attack on “Malay
rights” but fell ill and had 1o g0 to the south of France to
recuperate. He did not return to Malaysia until early August.
In the meantime a war of words went on, with angry leaders on
both sides denouncing the other race. The Malays were warned
about Chinese control of the economy and told how Chinese
members of the wartime Malayan People's Anti-Japanese Army
had killed many Malays for alleged collaboration with the Japa-
nese. The Chinese in turn were warned by their leaders that the
Malays intended to destroy them.

There were demands in the Malaysian parliament that troops
be sent to Singapore to arrest Lee as a traitor. In Europe Tunku
Abdul Rahman realized that the situation had been blown up by
both sides to the point where the breach was too wide ever to be
repaired. With this certainty in mind, the Tunku returned to
Kuala Lumpur in the first week of August 1965 with his plan
of action. On his arrival at the Malaysian capital, the Tunku
was asked by newspapermen if he intended to confer with Lee
Kuan Yew. The Tunku replied soothingly that as soon as he
settled down he would certainly do so.

While the Tunku's was ! and ingly
without rancor, as were all his public statements, the Malaysian
deputy prime minister, Tun Razak, stated flatly: “I must warn
Mr. Lee that although we stand for racial harmony, for goodwill
and peace and unity, if as a result of his adventure, trouble
should break out in this country, we must hold him responsible.”

He went on to denounce Lee for “blackening the image of
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our country in the eyes of our friends abroad, creating doubt
and suspicions among the minds of our peoples, and undermin-
ing the goodwill and harmony of the various races” while “we
are faced with a threat to our independence and sovereignty
from outside.” The outside threat referred to was the continuing
Indonesian Confrontation.

Tunku Abdul Rahman returned to Kuala Lumpur on August
and on August 6 he and Lee had their fateful meeting. Lee,
along with the general public, assumed that the Tunku would
try to find a middle ground upon which the Malays and Chinese
could agree. Instead, the Malaysian prime minister laid down an
ultimatum. The stunned Lee was told he had two alternatives.
One was an armed intervention into Singapore, removing Lee
and his sympathizers. The second was the withdrawal of Singa-
pore from the Malaysian Federation. There was nothing Lee
could do to change the Tunku'’s decision—which apparently had
been made before the prime minister left Europe. An agreement
to the secession of Singapore from Malaysia was drawn up and
signed on the evening of Saturday, August 7, 1965.

The agreement to expel Singapore was made in such secrecy
that the British were totally unaware of it until the public
announcement was made on Monday, August 9. Lee read the
announcement at ten o'clock in Singapore, while Tunku Abdul
Rahman made the announcement to the Malaysian parliament
at the same time in Kuala Lumpur.

In his address the Tunku said that the only alternative to the
secession of Singapore was “to take repressive measures against
the Singapore government for the behavior of some of their
leaders.” He then added: “We feel that repressive measures against
a few would not solve the problem because the seed of this
contempt, fear and hatred has been sown in Singapore. Even if
we try to prevent its growth, I feel that after a time it will sprout
up with more virulent force.”

The separation was hailed with joy in Kuala Lumpur but
with dismay in Singapore. Singapore, because of its small size,
would be almost defenseless against foreign aggression. Also,
nearly 25 percent of the trade passing through Singapore’s
entrepot port originated in Malaysia, and three-quarters of
Singapore’s water supply still came from the peninsula. If
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Malaysia and Singapore could not agree on peaceful co-exis-
tence, then Singapore would be hard hit in every way. At the
same time the Tunku realized that if repressive measures were
taken against Singapore, Lee Kuan Yew's government would be
forced to find friends and trade where it could. This would
naturally be with Indonesia, the People’s Republic of China, and
Communist Russia.

As a result Singapore and Malaysia agreed on c eco-
nomic cooperation, and both nations committed themselves to
concluding no foreign treaties that would jeopardize the inde-
pendence or defense of the other. They also agreed on a mutual
defense arrangement. In fact, shortly after the separation, Lee
sent Singaporean troops to Borneo to aid Malaysia in fighting
Indonesian guerrillas.

There was concern in Kuala Lumpur over possible reaction
to the expulsion of Singapore among the people of the Borneo
states of Sabah and Sarawak. Chinese outnumbered Malays in
these states, although the governments were Malay dominated.
The governments of Sabah and Sarawak complained that they
should have been consulted before such a serious step was under-
taken. The Tunku took a hard line. He replied that he did not
need to consult East Malaysia for any action the Federal govern-
ment felt necessary for the common welfare, East Malaysia was
the name given to the Borneo states to distinguish them from the
peninsular Malay states, which became known as West Malaysia.
Sarawak grumbled but accepted the situation, though there was
angry talk of secession in Sabah.

The Tunku made a hasty trip to Sabah in late August. There
he told Sabah leaders that they lacked sufficient votes in parlia-
ment to withdraw legally from the Malaysian union and that he
would use force to oppose any attempt by Sabah to leave the
union itsell. The Malaysian prime minister then forced the
resignation of Dato Stephens, the Minister of Sabah Affairs, who
was the chief critic of the federal policy.

The Malaysian government, seeking a scapegoat for the dis-
satisfaction in East Malaysia, blamed the British. The Tunku
said that visiting Sabah and Sarawak was like visiting an old
British colonial possession. Everyone admitted that this was partly
true. Sabah and S k were still underdeveloped and the people
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untrained in administration. The governments of both states
filled the gap with trained British administrators. These admin-
istrators were contemptuous of orders from Kuala Lumpur as
a general rule, but—probably on direct order from London—
were unanimous in discouraging talk of Sabah seceding from
Malaysia. Anti-British sentiment in Kuala Lumpur was increased
by British Prime Minister Harold Wilson's Labour government,
then in power, because it scemed to favor Lee Kuan Yew and
the socialistic movement in Singapore.

Lee suddenly announced that he would like to make peace
with Indonesia. At the same time the Singaporean prime min-
ister started a definitely anti-American campaign. Lee announced
that if the United States tried to move into the political vacuum
left by British withdrawal from Southeast Asia, he would open
Singapore to Russia for naval bases. Actually, the United States
was so deeply involved in Vietnam that she could have done
little in Malaysia even if Washington had been inclined to inter-
vene in the Borneo trouble. It was suggested without confirma-
tion that part of Lee's anti-American sentiment came from his
belief that the United States was indirectly concerned with the
failure of Lee’s Malaysia Solidarity Convention through which
he hoped to gain political domination of Malaysia. This theory
claimed that Lee had been impressed with the way the dominant
white race in the United States was giving way under the pressure
of militant minorities. He assumed the same thing would happen
in Malaysia when he made his militant call for minorities to
join him. When this did not happen, Lee developed an unreason-
ing resentment.

Lee, of course, never revealed the reasons for his actions.
There is still another theory that he was never really anti-
American, but that anti-Americanism was popular in Southeast
Asia. It helped his rapport with Indonesia and with radicals
within his own government. Despite his threats to open bases to
Russia, his anti-American statements and his definitely leftish
leanings, Lee kept a firm grip on communism in Singapore. He
understood very well that Singapore's very life as a city and state
depended upon the free flow of trade. To this end he announced
that Singapore would not align itself with either East or West.

On the domestic front, Lee Kuan Yew echoed the principles
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he had put forth in the Solidarity Conference. The Chinese were
the majority race in Singapore, but Lee insisted that it was not
a Chinese republic—a third China, as one writer called it. Singa-
pore was to be, in Lee's view, the true multi-racial nation that
he had envisioned Malaysia to be. To this end he urged everyone
to consider himself as a Singaporean rather than a Chinese,
Malay, Indian, or European. Kuala Lumpur officials looked
upon Lee's actions in this respect as an attempt to show in a
model Singaporean community what could have been accom-
plished in Malaysia if his Malaya Solidarity Convention had been
accepted.

At the same time Lee continued to pursue his socialistic ideals.
Free trade continued, but citizens were heavily taxed to secure
funds for social improvements. Housing has improved and the
general standard of living has increased. Businessmen also have
been kept happy by trade that has continued to thrive under
President Lee Kuan Yew's policy of free trade.

The situation in Borneo (East Malaysia) was a paramount

worry to the Tunku and his Kuala Lumpur officials in the days
i diately following the sep of Singapore and Malaysi
Sukarno’s Confrontation was continuing. Although the British
had troops in Borneo to help the Malaysian army, and Singapore
had sent its one battalion—all it had—the regular troops were
having difficulty stopping the Indonesian guerrillas’ hitand-run
attacks across the long frontier. The dissatisfaction in Sabah and
Sarawak over the split with Singapore was the major cause of
the Tunku’s worry. This dissatisfaction could easily be turned
to Indonesia's ad ge. Sukarno in Ind thought the same
thing and believed that he would shortly overrun the two Malay
states. Then they would be absorbed into Kalimantan (South
Borneo).

Before this could come about Sukarno suddenly found himself
in trouble. His economic policies, expropriation of foreign busi-
nesses which ended foreign investment in Indonesia, and con-
tinual war making had brought Indonesia to the brink of bank-
ruptcy. As troubles built up, Sukarno turned more and more to
Communist help. Then on the night of September 30, 1965,
there was a sudden insurrection in Djakarta, the capital of
Ind, ia. Pro-C ist members of Suk 's party attacked
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General Nasution, the anti-Communist Armed Forces Chief of
Staff. Nasution was wounded, but escaped, although six other
army generals were killed. The revolutionary headquarters put
out a communiqué saying that the revolt was to prevent army gen-
erals, working in “connivance with the United States Central
Intelligence Agency,” from overthrowing President Sukarno.

The revolt was crushed on October 1 by Lieutenant General
Suharto, a hero of the war for independence against the Dutch,
who took command when General Nasution was wounded and
the Army Chief of Staff slain. The revolt then spread into
central Indonesia but was brought under control by October 15.
Sukarno issued a communiqué saying he was still in control. (He
had been elected President for life in 1962.) However, from that
point on the Indonesian army issued the orders. The Communist
Party was banned and its offices looted. The government-backed
trade union was abolished, and widespread executions of sus-
pected Communist sympathizers were carried on in the Indo-
nesian provinces. Sukarno continued as President, but in March
1966 General Suharto emerged as the army strong man. Sukarno
was kept in office as a figurchead for another year and then was
dismissed in 1967 when Suharto became acting President. Suharto
ended Sukarno’s “Crush Malaysia” policy and brought Indonesia
back into the United Nations.

The fall of Sukarno was a blessing to Malaysia, ending the
Confrontation in Borneo. This in turn eased some of the
Tunku'’s worries about Sabah and Sarawak. It did not, however,
solve the more pressing problem of interracial discord. The bit-
terness among Chinese, Malays, and Indians remained, waiting
only for an excuse to explode into violence.




CHAPTER TWELVE
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The Kuala Lumpur Riots

THE YEAR 1966 was a good one for Malaysia. The Confronta-
tion ended. Business boomed, The country’s balance of payments
went on the plus side as exports exceeded imports. Progress was
made in opening new lands for agriculture, and a good economic
plan was working to develop new industry. Palm oil, for exam-
ple, proved to be a good money crop that partially offset the
fall of rubber prices. On the international front the good news
included restoration of diplomatic relations with the Philippines
and the possibility of American aid to hasten Malaysia’s economic
five-year plan.

On the racial front the situation slowly grew worse. Prime
Minister Lee Kuan Yew of Singapore had not given up his
ambition to dictate Malaysian racial policy despite having been
thrown out of the Malaysian union for his previous efforts. The
Tunku warned Lee about his continued attacks on the touchy
“Malay Rights" question, but Lee ignored the warnings. Though
he could not operate directly in Malaysia, Lee had other means
to get his message across, A Malayan Indian named Devan Nair
registered a new party in Kuala Lumpur which he called the
Democratic Action Party. Outwardly there was no connection
with Singapore or its controversial prime minister, yet the Demo-
cratic Action Party followed the identical multi-racial course set
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by Lee’s PAP party in the days immediately preceding the separa-
tion of Singapore and Malaysia.

The year 1966 also saw a new crisis in Sarawak. The Chief
Minister, as the state executive was called, bitterly resented
interference in Sarawak affairs by the federal government in
Kuala Lumpur. The Chief Minister, Dato Ningkan, was an
Iban (Sea Dayak) and suspicious of the Malays. In June 1966
Dato Ningkan dismissed his Minister for Communications, who
was a Malay, accusing the minister of plotting the Chief Min-
ister's overthrow. The Tunku immediately removed Dato
Ningkan as head of the Sarawak branch of the Alliance Party
(the Tunku’s own party) and demanded his resignation as Sara-
wak's Chief Minister. Dato Ningkan refused and was ousted. He
ook his case to the Sarawak Supreme Court, which ruled the
ouster illegal. The Tunku then issued a proclamation of emer-
gency and had the federal parliament pass a law changing the
state constitution to permit the Chief Minister's removal.

Dato Ningkan denounced the action as a mockery of democ-
racy and claimed his ouster was caused by his refusal to get rid
of the British administrators in his state government. The Tunku
had denounced the continued use of British in these posts the
previous year, saying that a visit to Sarawak was like a visit to
pre-Merdeka colonial Borneo. Dato Ningkan claimed that there
were no Sarawakans capable of assuming these offices at this
time and that the Tunku knew it. The Tunku, Dato charged,
wanted the British removed so that Malays from West Malaysia
could take the positions. This would accomplish the double
purpose of giving the Tunku a more secure grasp on the state
government and preventing the Dayaks and other Borneo ab-
origines from being developed into government administrators.
The peninsular Malays intended to use every means to preserve
their rights to control the government and all the people of
Malaysia.

The racial situation in Malaysia was building up to an ex-
plosion. The younger generation of Chinese were not content to
remain second-class citizens, as their fathers were. Chinese youth
have, in addition to political resentment, a strong sense of racial
pride. The Chinese race, they feel, had a great civilization when
the Malays still ran naked in the jungles.
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This resentment was kept alive by segregation of the two
races. Neither had ever gotten to really know the other. Segrega-
tion in Malaysia was not forced as it was in the United States or
in South Africa, but was the result of mutual desire. Neither
race ever wanted to be assimilated into the other. Each had its
own background of culture and religion and ideals. And neither
wanted to change these. Intermarriage is a traditional way to
break down segregation between races living in a single country,
This did not happen in Malaysia because of the religious barrier.
Muslim Malays usually do not marry outside their religion. The
same religious barrier also prevented Malays and Indians from
intermarrying. While it is true that Muslim Indians first intro-
duced the religion of Islam to the Malay Peninsula, the bulk of
Indians who later migrated to Malaya were Hindus rather than
Muslims. This left the races of Malaysia segregated not only
physically and politically but also mentally, economically, and
spiritually.

Violence finally was provoked by the election of 196g. It was
a bitter and hard-fought campaign and gave notice that old
values were crumbling. The racial issue was paramount and
politicians played it up’ outrageously. The Tunku's Alliance
Party had won almost three-quarters of the votes in the 1965
election. None of the Tunku’s opponents thought he could
unseat the prime minister. What they were striving for was to
capture as many seats as possible in parliament. This would
show the strength of the opposition and force the Tunku to be
more cooperative. It would also give the opposition a platform
from which to build for future expansion, which they hoped
would eventually give the opposition control of the government.

The Democratic Action Party claimed to be for all Malay-
sians but was actually Chinese controlled. It directly challenged
the Malayan Chinese Association (MCA) which had cooperated
with the Tunku through the Alliance Party. It soon became
apparent that the Democratic Action Party (DAP) would draw
a considerable number of Chinese votes that had previously gone
to the “safe” Malayan Chinese Association candidates. Immedi-
ately DAP was attacked both by Tan Siew Sin, MCA chairman,
and the Tunku. Tunku Abdul Rahman accused DAP of being
inspired by Singapore’s Lee Kuan Yew.
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“The DAP is anti-Malay,” the Tunku charged in an angry
election speech. “This party owes its allegiance to a foreign
power."”

Next the Tunku warned the Chinese that the Alliance Party
would not deal with any Chinese organization except MCA, and
that MCA was the only organization that could adequately serve
Chinese interests. DAP countered with the claim that it was
more truly representative of all Malaysia than the Alliance
Party, which did not even assimilate its own members, but kept
the Malays segregated in the United Malay National Organiza-
tion, the Chinese in the Malayan Chinese Association, and the
Indians in the Malayan Indian Congress. “This proves that the
Alliance is race conscious,” DAP asserted. “MCA has surrendered
Chinese rights to UMNO.”

A cndidate of Indian extraction said bitterly, “Alliance
leaders have said that if we don't like it here we can go back to
India or to China. We will not go anywhere. We will sty in
Malaysia, the country that we have helped build with our sweat
and our blood!"

A Chinese candidate of DAP cried to another election rally:
“The Chinese and the Indians joined in the fight for independ-
ence because we were promised equality. Where is that equality?

Tun Razak, the Tunku's deputy prime minister, bluntly told
the constituents that if they expected state aid from the federal
government, to remember “that we reward support with benevo-
lence. This is no blackmail. This is straight and sincere talk.”

The election was held May 10, 1969. The results were a
surprise both to the government party and to the opposition. The
Tunku’s party won as expected, but the opposition parties gained
more seats than cither side expected. The Alliance Party's
eighty-nine West Malaysia scats in parliament were cut to sixty-
six. The Malayan Chinese Association had twenty-seven scats
previously and the new election cut them to thirteen.

The young Chinese hailed this as a tremendous victory and
staged a victory rally and demonstration in the streets of Kuala
Lumpur, This increased Malay uneasiness and distrust of the
Chinese. The Tunku's UMNO portion of the Alliance Party
announced that it would stage its own demonstration to counter-
balance the Chinese victory celebration. At the same time Tan
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Siew Sin, head of MCA, resigned as finance minister in the
Tunku’s cabinet. He had been given the post—the only one in
the cabinet held by a Chinese—as a reward for MCA support of
the Alliance Party in the past. When Tan Siew Sin resigned,
Tun Razak, deputy prime minister, said, “We told the electorate
that if they did not vote MCA, there would be no Chinese repre-
sentation in the government.”

In addition to being the state capital, Kuala Lumpur is also
the capital of the state of Sengalor. The state’s, chief minister
(governor) was barricaded in his home by groups of Chinese
youths on the morning of May 11. They shouted, “Malays are
finished! The Chinese will run the country!”

Two days later Malay youth groups began congregating in
Kuala Lumpur. Many came from outside the city and some
from outside the states, indicating that they were well organized.
They began a demonstration supporting the Tunku's UMNO
party, but the demonstration turned into a riot. The Malay
youths charged into the streets, attacking Chinese people and
their business places and overturning Chinese-owned cars.

“The ferocity of the Malays in the first clashes seems to have
surprised everyone,” wrote John Slimming, whose book Malaysia:
Death of a Democracy gives a vivid picture of the wild disorder
during the race riots.

In the business section of the capital, Chinese shopkeepers tried
to organize a defense of their property. They drove back the
Malays at one point and then attacked Malay property in retalia-
tion. This give and take was only temporary, for the Malays
quickly regained the initiative, and the fighting spread. The
government declared martial law, dispersed troops, and clamped
down a curfew. None of these measures did any good. The vio-
lence continued through the night.

The next day—Wednesday—was comparatively quiet, but the
seething fury was still there waiting for a new chance to break
loose again. Soldiers patrolled the city with orders to shoot to
kill. Fires were still burning in the city and many of the dead
bodies had not been picked up. The curfew was enforced rigidly
against the Chinese, keeping them indoors, but Malays continued
to roam the streets.

The government seemed afraid to crack down on the Malays.
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And the Tunku later claimed that he spent Wednesday morning
alternately praying and weeping. However, late Wednesday the
Tunku went on the radio to read a proclamation putting the
country in a state of emergency. He bitterly blamed the dis-
turbances on Communist elements, claiming that the terrorists
who fought to take over Malaya after World War II were back
to renew their struggle. The proclamation of emergency, first
drawn up to cover the state of Sengalor in which the capital
Kuala Lumpur was situated, was expanded to include the entire
nation. It also suspended the general elections which had not yet
been held in Sabah and Sarawak. This last stipulation created
additional bitterness in Borneo against the central government.
After one day of comparative quict, violence was renewed on
Thursday night when rampaging mobs of Malays—joined in
many cases by soldiers—began looting and burning Chinese
homes. By the next morning more than five thousand Chinese
were homeless and huddled fearfully in refugee centers.

The government was placed under a National Operations
Council headed by Deputy Prime Minister Tun Razak, who was
given dictatorial powers. Tun Razak hastened to announce that
he was still responsible to the Tunku and would form an emer-
gency council to aid in restoring order. This council, he d,
would be multi-racial. However, the only Chinese included in the
Council was Tan Siew Sin, the head of the Malayan Chinese
Association which so many Chinese voters had repudiated in
the ill-fated election that sparked the rioting.

The curfew was continued for the rest of the month of May,
and heavy press censorship was in force. The government was
especially bitter toward the foreign press, claiming that the riots
had been blown out of proportion by correspondents. Officially
the Tunku’s government said that only 176 persons had been
killed, while the correspondents’ estimates ranged from 8oo to
more than a thousand. Both the American Time and Newsweek
magazines were banned for the stories they carried on the riots
and so were such famous papers as the London Times. Copies of
The Times were smuggled into Kuala Lumpur and sold for as
much as MS$zo. (A Malaysian dollar at the time was worth 33
cents U.S.)

Both the Tunku and Tun Razak continued to hammer away
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at the claim that the riots were Communist inspired. This did
not help the situation since the average Malay, remembering
the long Communist campaign following World War 11, looked
upon all Chinese as Communist sympathizers. So the situation
settled into an uneasy truce. The Malays, mindful of the large
number of Chinese in their country, expected a Chinese retalia-
tion. The Chinese in turn were fearful of a repetition of the
bloody May riots and knew from bitter experience that they
could not count on police or army protection if the violence
was renewed.

Both the Tunku and Tun Razak insisted that the trouble
was over and tried to maintain the fiction that the disturbance
had not been as serious as reports indicated. One Malay official
compared the outburst of violence with the ancient Malay cus-
tom of “running amok.” Running amok among the Malays was
noted by early British writers, and it was a great favorite with
pulp fiction writers of adventure stories set in the Fast. Run-
ning amok has been described as the build-up of frustration
and anger in the usually peaceful and easygoing Malay until he
reaches the point where his emotions explode. Then he grabs
a parang (sword) and runs wildly down the street, killing and
slashing everyone in his path, friend or foe.

Running amok among individual Malays was never stamped
out by the British in their long years of judicial administration,
because like murder, running amok is caused by passions that
overbalance the victim's mind and judgment. However, prompt
application of the hangman’s rope for those who ran amok
greatly reduced its frequency in carly day Singapore and Pe-
nang. A peculiar characteristic of those running amok was that
if they were lucky enough to escape British justice, it was very
rare that the perpetrator ever repeated his crime. Those who
were caught never seemed to resent their punishment but took
it as their just fate. Charles Buckley quoted the story told by one
British judge who said that he wanted to be sure that the con-
demned man understood why he was being executed. The judge
felt that many of those he punished never really understood,
for their ideas of justice were different from British ideas. So
he gave a long discourse and then told the interpreter to pass
it along to the prisoner. The interpreter spoke two sentences
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and the prisoner nodded his head as if satisfied. “Did you tell
him all 1 said?” inquired the judge. “Oh, yes, tuan,” the inter-
preter replied smiling. “You said he’s wrong, he hangs. I told
him. He understands.

Though the rioters behaved like men running amok during
the violence, there is evidence that their behavior was not spon-
taneous and that men were brought in from the outlying sections
in deliberate anticipation of trouble designed “to teach the Chi-
nese a lesson.” It also varied from the traditional “running amok”
in that the trouble broke out again. The second explosion was
not as violent as the first and directed against the Indians,
Malaysia’s second largest minority after the Chinese. The new
trouble began on the night of June 28, 1969 and raged through
the night. By morning fiftcen Indians were dead and about
eighty were in refugee camps after their homes had been
burned. Following the attack on the Indians, the rioters then
turned and burned several Chinese homes.

As could be expected, the Kuala Lumpur riots shocked Singa-
pore, then 75 percent Chinese and naturally in sympathy
with the beleaguered Chinese in Kuala Lumpur. Some Chinese
youth gangs attempted to retaliate against Malays in Singapore
but were quickly controlled by the anxious government. Lee
Kuan Yew immediately formed multi-racial security groups to
patrol the city. The idea of having the security forces composed
of Chinese, Malays, and Indians was to prevent a situation occur-
ring as in Kuala Lumpur where Malay soldiers and the police
aided their own race instead of protecting the Chinese victims
of the riot. Singapore had suffered from bitter race riots in 1964
and the government was determined that they would not hap-
pen again.

There was no more violencerin Kuala Lumpur, but the bit-
terness and hatred remained. Racial antagonism remained at a
high pitch. Tun Razak did not feel safe in relaxing government
by decree and the parliament remained suspended until 1970.

One of the government's first moves to lessen the tension
was to require all schools to convert to teaching only in the
Malay language. Previously both English and Chinese were
used in the elementary schools, for many Chinese and Indian
children could not speak Malay. The reason for requiring all
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future teaching to be done in Malay was, the government said,
to give all races a feeling of belonging to Malaysia. This order
applied only to public schools, and many Chinese and Indians
were forced to send their children to private schools because
they did not speak enough Malay to continue their studies. As
a result, this order increased minority bitterness instead of les-
sening it, as the government claimed it was designed to do.

The Chinese and Indians insisted that the language order
was another government effort to humiliate them and to drive
their children out of government-supported schools, increasing
segregation. They also complained that the government housing
program was designed to drive minorities out of the capital. In
one case the government uprooted several thousand Chinese
from slum areas as part of a low-cost housing program. The
shanties occupied by the poorer class Chinese were destroyed,
but the new houses were never built. Then in mid-1970 the
funds allocated to the low-income units were cut off.

The most significant event of 1970 was the resignation of
Tunku Abdul Rahman as prime minister. The resignation
closed twenty years of political domination by the Tunku. He
had taken over as leader of the United Malays National Organi-
zation in 1951 and in 1955 he became Chief Minister of Malaya
under the British. Two years later he became prime minister
when Malaya achieved full independence. He continued as
prime minister through three general elections, but after the
riots he passed the job, if not the title, to his deputy Tun Ab-
dul Razak, who directed the government through emergency
decree.

The Tunku had come under increasing fire from his Malay
constituents in the two years between the riots and his resignation.
The government’s precarious position was summed up by John
Slimming in this way: “The immediate prospects for multi-racial
cooperation are bleak. The present UMNO leaders cannot risk
offending the Malays for fear of widening the rift within their
own party.

Malay youth particularly refused to be placated. At one point

1,500 demonstrated at the Malaya University campus, accusing
the Tunku of bclng pro-British. Then a University profes-
sor published an y pamphlet which the government
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quickly banned. The pamphlet accused the prime minister of
“always giving in to the Chinese . . . Our present enemies are
not only the Chinese and the Indians, but also the Americans,
British, and Australians. In their discussions they have clearly
sided with the Indians and the Chinese.”

This continued criticism finally led to the Tunku’s resigna-
tion in 1971. His successor, Tun Abdul Razak, had always been
the Tunku’s deputy and was looked upon almost as the Tun-
ku's adopted son. The two were very close. As a result, no one
expects the change to make any difference in government pol-
icy, since Tun Razak has been prime minister in all but name
since the formation of the emergency National Operations
Council during the 1969 riots.



rise financial structures.
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Malaysia Today

MALAYSIA today is a split world. There is the world of the
cities and the world of the back country. Traditionally the
Malay people have not been town dwellers. From historic times
the towns were reserved for the mmnnd those who sup-
ported them. The usual Malay river or port town consisted of
a central area where the ruling class lived and conducted gov-
ernment business. Around this nucleus different trading groups
separated according to race and nationality and built their own
settlements. This came about because the rajahs and the sultans
were very much engaged in trade and in controlling trade. The
average Malay cared little for business, and as a result the aver-
age Malay city and town had a predominantly higher foreign
population.

This is still true today. The capital city of Kuala Lumpur
has 760,000 people spread over its g7 square miles of territory.
The government estimates that 61 percent of these are Chinese,
17 percent are Indians, 15 percent are Malays, and other peoples,
including Europeans, make up the remaining 7 percent. The
Chinese control the major portion of the city's industry and
business. The civil servants, running the government and city,
are mainly Malays because of the constitutional restrictions on
employing non-Malays.
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In December 1971 the government went a step further in its
“Malaysia for Malays” program. It ordered the employment of
Malays in middle 2 of private busi somewhat in
the same manner that the United States has forced government
contractors to employ a larger number of minority race mem-
bers. Arshad Ayub of the Mara Institute of Technology in
Kuala Lumpur blamed the imbalance on Chinese ployers’
prejudice against the Malays.

“The racial imbalance was doubtless initially caused by co-
lonial policy,” he said. “But the colonial fox is dead, and it is
high time we stop blaming everything on him. The notion that
the Malay is lazy and incapable is outmoded, but there are still
remnants of the prejudice against employing him.

“If the Malays are backward, pessimistic, fatalistic, and not
competitive enough, it is the duty of the public and the private
sectors to help change their values,” he added.

Speaking for the government at a management meeting in
Kuala Lumpur on December 2g, 1971, Musa Hitam, a member
of parliament, said soothingly, “Speaking as a politician I should
like to point out that the philosophy of Malay rights and privi-
leges is just a temporary measure to achieve a certain aim. This
aim—a restructuring of society—will be fully achieved only
when every Malay can proudly say, ‘I got this job not because
1 am a Malay, but because I am the best qualified of the appli-
cants. 1 won it in open competition.””

Musa Hitam acknowledged that the government measure en-
forcing the employment of a larger number of Malays in mid-
dle management was unfortunate. “But it is necessary,” he
added, ack ledging that empl of untrained Malays in
these positions would cause some business setbacks. “But this,”
he said, “will be more than made up for by the long-term profit
brought about by the stability and contentment of the popula-
tion.”

Chinese youth in turn want to know how “contentment of the
population” can be brought about when scarce jobs are set aside
for only 15 percent of the city's population. They also wonder
what good are education and experience when the government
forces private employers to hire Malays simply because they are
Malays.
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Even Malay college graduates are finding that jobs are hard to
get. When the country began developing there was a shortage of
engineers, and young people rushed to get into engineering pro-
fessions. Unfortunately job opportunities are limited in these
fields, and there are few openings for new graduates today.
While the economy continues to expand, it is not doing so at
a fast enough rate to take care of all graduates. This frightens
Chinese and Indian youth. They fear that the “Malaysia for
the Malays” policy will eventually restrict them to common la-
bor jobs.

The government could not have taken action to force busi-
ness and industry to employ Malays in preference to other races
if it had not felt secure. The election of 1969 shook the Alliance
Party, although the party retained power. Since that time two
of the new political parties that drew votes from the Alliance
have broken up because of internal bickering. The Malayan Chi-
nese Association, which lost so many seats to dissident Chinese,
has also made a comeback. Its leader, Tan Siew Sin, again holds
the important finance minister portfolio in the national govern-
ment. (The only important post held by a Chinese.)

Outwardly Kuala Lumpur show little sign of the racial un-
rest. In structure it is a hodge-podge of old Malaya and new
Malaysia. The Parliament Building is a magnificent example
of modern architecture. New hotels, office buildings, and finan-
cial buildings are also adding a more modern atmosphere to
the city. But these rub shoulders with architecture that looks
like something out of the Arabian Nights. Much of the Moor-
ish architecture is a British heritage. The British at one time
tried to build all new public buildings in Moorish style to
generate favor with the Islamic Malays. Thus the railroad sta-
tion in Kuala Lumpur is mistaken for a sultan's palace by
visitors until informed otherwise. The Chinese section of the
city resembles Taipei and Hong Kong.

From the air the city can be seen sprawling in a valley formed
by hills on three sides. The Klang and Gombak rivers cut into
the city and meet at the exact center to form a single channel that
flows on to the sea. A Moorish-type mosque is situated at the
confluence of the rivers, occupying the exact spot where the
first settlements were made in Kuala Lumpur. The beautiful



The first settlement in Kuala Lumpur was made here where the Klang and Gombak rivers meet. An Arabian-Nights-type
mosque now occupies the spot where the city began 111 years ago. Kuala Lumpur takes its name from Malay words
meaning “muddy river mouth.”
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name (pronounced koo-AH-la lum-rooR) translates as “Muddy
River Mouth” and refers to the dirty condition of the water
where the two rivers come together.

The city was founded to exploit tin deposits found in the
area. Previously tin was mined principally in Perak state, but
in 1830 the local sultan began prospecting for new deposits.
This went on for twenty-seven years before the sultan’s nephew
and two Chinese businessmen found rich tin deposits near
where the Klang and Gombak rivers meet. The first miners died
of malaria and a new group was sent in by the sultan. After
the mine was well started, two Chinese traders, Hiu Siew and
Ah Sze Keledek, started a small trading post at the Muddy River
Mouth in 1859. The settlement grew rapidly and then for sev-
eral years was gripped by a struggle between two Chinese min-
ers' secret societies. In 1880 the Sengalor capital was moved to
this location and Sir Frank Swettenham became British resident.

Swettenham viewed the dirty, unhealthy palm-thatch village
as a disgrace for a state capital. He began a campaign to im-
prove the city, finally getting the Malay government, the Brit-
ish administration in Singapore and local businessmen to
cooperate. He gradually had the town torn down block by
block and replaced with brick and stucco structures. From that
time Kuala Lumpur continued to expand as new industries
were opened in the regions about it. From a population of
4,000 in 1886 when Swettenham’s renovation program started,
the number of inhabitants increased to 25,000 by 18g6.

One of the showplaces of modern Malaysia is Petaling Jaya,
a “satellite town,” as the Malays say. Americans would call it
an industrial suburb of the capital. Located seven miles from
the center of Kuala Lumpur, Petaling Jaya is a planned indus-
trial community which provides a place for industrial develop-
ment and homes for those who work for the companies located
there. The homes and townhouse-style apartments are upper
middle class, beautifully designed and equal to homes in the
$25-t0-§35,000 bracket in the United States. Businesses in Petal-
ing Jaya range from tire manufacturing to Japanese noodles.
The noodle business is very good, so much so that the company
is planning a second factory. Most of the companies are branches
of German, British, and Chinese firms, but in the shopping
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The National Mosque in Kuala Lumpur is a modernized version of
the traditional Islamic place of worship.




A Malay kampong in a forest. The dwelling in the foreground is raised off the ground in the Malay tradition, but the
storage warchouse in the center sits directly on the ground.
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Even with plentiful land available, Malays prefer to live on the water's edge. They consider their stilt-supported homes
cooler and more sanitary. This is a fishing village on an island in the Straits of Malacca.
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center there is an American representative: Colonel Sanders’ Ken-
tucky Fried Chicken.

Other principal Malaysia cities are smaller than Kuala Lum-
pur. Georgetown, the capital of Penang Island, has 400,000 peo-
ple and is important as a free port where tourist ships stop.
Few call the city by its name, but generally refer to it as “Pe-
nang,” which is actually the name of the island. Malacca, once
the greatest city in Malaya, is now reduced to 70,000 people.
Seremban, capital of Negri Sembilan state, has 130,000 inhabi-
tants, and Ipoh, capital of Perak, has 185,000.

Beyond the cities, life goes on much as it has for centuries.
The kampong is the social unit. Kampong means village. It is
ruled by a headman who is elected by the villagers. Those who
live in the village are usually related and their ancestry is
traced matrilineally back to a common grandmother. The
houses, always built on stilts, are clustered together. The vil-
lagers walk to their fields or fishing piers, depending on how
they make their living. In the mountainous back country some
aborigine tribes still live by hunting or “slash and burn” agri-
culture, which means they clear land with fire and ax, farm un-
til the soil is exhausted, and then move on to a new location.

Customs vary within individual villages, tribes, and clans. Thus
it is difficult to pinpoint any one custom and say that it is uni-
versal. Often a custom partakes of a smattering of different
cultures. A Malay wedding is a double affair, including both a
traditional ceremony based on Hinduism and a Muslim cere-
mony based upon the national religion. The traditional Hindu-
style wedding includes binding the bride and groom together
with a bridal cord. The Muslim part of the wedding does not
permit the bride's presence. In this ceremony the bridegroom
and the girl's father or representative appear before a religious
official. After prayer, the father offers the bride in marriage in
exchange for a previously agreed marriage settlement. The
groom accepts. The amount of money is usually small and be-
comes the property of the bride.

The combined ceremonies—Malay traditional and Muslim—
are required for all Malays. The Muslim ceremony is required
by the national religion, but it is not considered sufficient and
no couple is permitted to live together until they also go
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through the traditional ceremony. This, however, applies only
to a woman'’s first marriage. If she divorces and marries again
the Muslim ceremony only is required. Divorce is very common
—perhaps because first marriages are family-arranged affairs. One
source claims that there is one divorce for every two marriages
today. Divorce is considered as normal as marriage, and there is
no social stigma attached to it.

Children are welcome in Malay families, and girls are cher-
ished as much as boys—in contrast to the Chinesc. In fact,
Malay families often prefer girls because they believe that daugh-
ters take better care of elderly parents than sons do.

The rural communities also keep alive the traditional wayang
kulit or shadow play which has its counterpart in plays of
Cambodia and Java. In practice the operator sits behind a sheet
and operates a jointed flat figure of the characters. A light be-
hind him throws the shadow of the figure on the screen. The
plays depict scenes from the Ramayana, the Indian epic of
Prince Rama's search for his stolen wife, Sita; tales of Hang
Tuah, the great Malaccan period hero; and stories from the
Malay Annals. The Ramayana is popular in all countries that
have been touched by Hindu culture, but the Hang Tuah and
Malay Annals plays are purely Malay.

Another Malay tradition seen at many weddings as part of
the entertainment and more often performed for tourists is
Bersilat or the art of Malayan self-defense. In its exhibition
form (called Silat Pulat) it more closely resembles a sword-fight
dance between two participants. It usually ends with one dancer
losing his weapon and then overcoming his opponent despite
the other’s sword. A more deadly form, Silat Buah, is reserved
for serious fighting. Teachers of Silat Buah have their own se-
cret methods which they pass along to their students.

Dancing is also popular with Malay people. Many of the
folk dances preserve pre-Islamic customs and beliefs that are
decidedly at odds with orthodox Mohammedanism. The Saucer
Dance retains the rituals for offering food to spirits of the
woods. The Rice Harvest Dance is probably older than Hindu-
ism in Malaya which goes back to the first century A.p. It was
originally danced to placate the spirits of the rice field and
ensure a bountiful harvest. The Handkerchief Dance has a more




A Malay miss has put flowers in her hair and donned the traditional
brocade costume to participate in a Malay folk dance.



e 2Bt

The New Malaysia 136

basic appeal. The weaving dancer waves a handkerchief which
symbolically is wet with tears for a faithless lover. However, the
most popular Malay folk dance is the Ronggeng, which is danced
to a catchy tune (said to be of Portuguese origin) played by
flute and drum. It is danced by a man and woman who move
closely together but are not permitted to touch. The exact steps
and movements vary in different localities, although the music
remains the same.

Radio, television and films are also popular in today's Ma-
laysia. Radio is a late comer. Originally a few ham operators
represented the only radio in the country. The first actual sta-
tion was set up by the government in Kuala Lumpur in 1939.
After World War 11 the government organized Radio Malaya
primarily as a propaganda vehicle during the twelve-year emer-
gency when the country was fighting Chan Peng’s Chinese
guerrillas. Today the radio system has expanded until its do-
mestic service branch broadcasts 420 hours a week in Malay,
English, Hindi, and Chinese. There are three networks so that
there can be simultaneous broadcasts of entertainment, informa-
tion, and education.

Television service began in December 1963 and went com-
mercial in 1965. There are now eleven transmitters in Malaysia
that cover West Malaysia, Singapore, and part of Sumatra.
Plans are underway to extend TV facilities to the Borneo states.
There are an estimated 165,000 TV sets in operation as com-
pared with 479,164 licensed radio receivers.
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Looking to a Troubled Tomorrow

MALAYSIA has made definite economic progress in her fight
to escape from complete dependence on tin and rubber to keep
the country alive. At the present time there are over 200 sepa-
rate articles being manufactured in the country and more are
in the planning stage. Social progress is making some headway.
The vigorous low-cost housing program, interrupted for a while
after the riots, is again underway. Squatters, dispossessed from
their shanties to make room for fifteen-story apartment houses,
have been given rooms in the buildings. They do not all look
upon this as a blessing from a benevolent government.

“For a man and his wife and maybe one or wwo children,”
one resident reported, “they are fine. But when a family of six
such as 1 have lives in these apartments there is just not room
enough.

“And,” he added in a sorrowful tone that bespoke experience,
“there are no eclevators in these low-cost dwellings. If one has
an apartment on the fiftcenth floor, it is a hard, hard climb at
the end of a long working day. Maybe this is a government
plot to keep everyone home, for one is not about to climb down
and back up again until he has to leave for work again in the
morning!"

However, despite progress economically and socially, Malay-

137



The New Malaysia 138

sia's two basic conflicts—c ism and rac in. Either
of them is sufficient to destroy the young nation in the years
ahead. Actually the two conflicts are tied together in a way.
Racism and the Malays' fear of losing control of their gov-
emment are working to the benefit of communism through
alienation of young Chinese who look to communism to free
them from Malay domination. The Malaysian government real-
izes this but is powerless to do anything about it. ‘The temper
of the Malay people is such that if the government took any
other stand than its “Malaysia for Malays” policy, the people
would destroy the government. In a review of this situation, J.
M. Gullick (in the British World Studies Series) said, “Only
the withering away of communal loyalties and the growth of a
new national consciousness can eliminate the government’s di-
lemma. Such a change may be achieved in time, but it will
require a long and untroubled period of evolution for its full
flowering.” Gullick wrote this before the bloody race riots of
1969 made the “withering away of communal loyalties” more
remote than ever.

The Communists, of course, are aware of the situation and
are naturally going to make the most of it. The Asian, one of
the leading newspapers in the Far East, reported in its January 2,
1972 issue: “Chan Peng's Malayan Communist Party is working
hard to rebuild the mass support infrastructure destroyed dur-
ing the 1948-19fio emergency. There is disturbing evidence of
Communist penetration among the Chinese population of Perak
and Kedah.”

Then, referring to the Borneo states, the paper said, “The
situation in Sarawak gives more immediate cause for concern
. .. The Communists are strongly entrenched in the Third
Division and there is increasing evidence that they are winning
vital Dayak support.”

Also, as the war in Vietnam began de-escalating in 1970, there
was renewed Chinese Communist guerrilla activity along the
Malaysia-Thailand border. Communists hailed it as a renewal
of the “long war'—that is, the twelve-year struggle that fol-
lowed World War II. This border fighting increased slightly
during 1971 but is still not a distinct threat.

The main problem is still racial strife. The official govern-




Looking to a Troubled T-amorrow 139

ment position is that the situation is correcting itself, but out-
side of government circles neither the Malays nor the Chinese be-
lieve that any progress has been made.

“If the Chinese were less numerous, integration would be
possible,” one said. “Nothing can ever be done now. Malaysia
lost a tremendous asset when she lost Singapore. But what
choice did she have? Lee Kuan Yew is a very brilliant and force-
ful man. If he had remained in Malaysia he would have been
like the freezing camel in the Arab fable. You remember that
the kind-hearted Arab let the camel stick his nose into the Arab's
tent and before long the camel was in the tent and the poor
Arab was out in the cold. So it would be with us Malays if Lee
Kuan Yew and Singapore had remained in the Malay union.”

In Singapore Lee Kuan Yew has the problem of trying to
provide jobs and a decent living standard for his crowded city-
state. In addition to ﬁingaporc Island, he also governs several
small islands in the vicinity. Today they are inhabited primar-
ily by fishermen, but they figure strongly in Lee's plans. These
plans for lhc future center on dmclnpmg new industry to par-
tially free Singapore from c 1 e upon trade and
shipping to maintain the nation's cconomy In doing so, he has
been working with a British firm on the possibility of estab-
lishing an aircraft assembly plant in Singapore. He is also
exploring the possibilily of bringing in some heavy industry.
At the same time he is working hard to preserve Singapore as
the number one port in Southeast Asia and the fourth largest
port in the world. The $50,000,000 improvement to Port
Swettenham, twenty miles from Kuala Lumpur, is drawing off
some of the entrepdt trade that once went through Singapore.
And the recent devaluation of the United States dollar caused
shlppmg lines scnmg imgapore to boosl their rates. This will
increase costs in Singapore, business. Lee Kuan Yew
retaliated by opening negotiations with the Peoplc 's Republic of
China whereby ten Chinese freigh would be placed on the
Singapore-Europe run. Freight could be shipped on these vessels
20 percent cheaper than b) ShIPS belonglng to the Far East
Freight Conf e, an ping

The possibility of opening Smgaporc © additional Chinese
ships is not an indication that Lee Kuan Yew is relaxing




In the early morning mists the Singapore River is jammed with sampans, lighters, and “bumboas.” This view
looks toward the west bank. This area was originally swamp, but Raffles ordered a hill torn down for dirt
to use in reclaiming it.
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his firm grip on C i pansion in Singap Although
he was originally d to be a C ist sy hizer, no
one believes this today. He is strictly pro-Smgaporcan and noth-
ing else. Lee made his position very clear in his strong clamp-
down on Communist demonstrations in his city. His firmness is
shown in a news story appearing in the Singapore New Nation,
December 31, 1971 issue. Two political prisoners, Kia Ba Ba,
twenty-three, and Lim Joo Suan, twenty-two, were released
from prison after serving four and two years respectively.

The paper said: “Kia, a former member of a secret Com-
munist study cell in Yock Eng High School, was detained on
November 10, 1968—four days after taking part in an illegal
demonstration during which a bus was burned.

“He said he now realizes that illegal demonstrations, burning
buses and damaging traffic lights were ‘not only senseless but
also against the interests of the nation and the people.’

“Lim, a former [Communist group] cadre member, took
part in a number of illegal demonstrations . . . before he was
detained in June of last year.

“He said he now realizes that the Communists were using him
to carry out their ‘nefarious acts,’ and he is determined to sever
relations with them.”

Apparently Singaporeans do not feel that a four-year sen-
tence for a nineteen-year-old who burns buses is excessive. One
who was questioned about it smiled thinly and said, “Perhaps
Americans might consider such a sentence for so young a per-
son as being harsh. However, I notice that demonstrations and
destruction of public property have stopped in Lee Kuan Yew's
Singapore. Has it done the same in the United States?”

While many of Lee Kuan Yew's policies are criticized in
Singapore, there is no criticism of the prime minister as a man.
He is generally regarded as extremely honest and as running
a government as free from corruption as any in the world. All
agree that he is definitely for the welfare of the people as a
whole. This naturally brings him into conflict with various
groups interested in their own gain. For these Lee cares
nothing if they stand in the way of his master plan for devel-
oping Singapore to take care of the people of the future. Private
property and estates are subject to government takeover under
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The National Parliament Building in Kuala Lumpur, scat of the Malaysian government.
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the right of eminent domain at any time Lee feels the land
could be used more profitably for housing projects, parks, or
public use. The owners, of course, are paid for the land, but
resent losing valuable property which cannot be replaced on
the small island.

This attitude applies just as surely to groups one would think
Lee would favor for political reasons. In December 1971 a
group of Hakka Chinese called on the prime minister after all
but 11 acres of their 142-acre cemetery was taken for a public
use. If they couldn't keep their original acreage, they asked for
an equal amount of land in another location. Although Lee
knew very well how the Chinese venerate their dead and that
his own grandfather was buried in the Hakka cemetery, the
prime minister refused. He told the group they could keep only
the 11 acres as a memorial to their ancestors. Then he
summed up the entire philosophy of his government in adding:
“You have done well by the dead, but we as the government
must do our best for the living.”
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also British East India
Company

Guerrilla activity: World War I1,
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Guerrilla activity (cont.)
77-9; postwar, 84, 86; in
Borneo, g7, 99, 102-3, 109, 111;
in Johore, 100-1; Communist,
138

Gullick, . M., 138

Gunong Tahan (mountain), 3

Gutta-percha, 51

Hainan, 70

Hai San Society, 56

Hakka, Chinese, 143

Hang Tuah, 11

Hastings, Lord, 28

Himalaya Mountains, 2

Hindu culture in Southeast Asia,
31,138,134

Hindus in Malaya, 6,7, 11, 115

Hitam, Musa, 126

Hiu Siew, 129

Holidays in Singapore, 51-2

Houses, 29, 42, 47, 63, 121, 731,
132; Borneo long houses, 44:
in Petaling Jaya, 129; develop-
ments, 137

Hull, Cordell, 72

Hussein, Sultan, 26-7

Ice Age, 4

Independence: movement in Ma-
laya, 80-5: Merdeka, 85-6;
movement in Singapore, 87-91,
93; independence declared, g8

Independence of Malaya Party,
84

India, 1, 4, 19, 29, 82,53, 71;
trade, 2, 5, 7, 10, 16, §6; Portu-
guese take Goa, 14; indepen-
dence, 83; see also British East
India Company

Indians: in Malaya, 68-g, 77, 81,
82, 85, 105; in Singapore, 112;

in Malaysia, 115, 116, 120, 121,
123, 125, 127

Indochina: French in, 59, 67-8,
83; Japan takes in World
War 11, jo0-2

Indonesia, 2, 5, 28, 38, 65, 69, 76,
83, 110; opposition to Malaysia
nation, ix, X, g1, 93-9, 108;
proposed union with Malaya,
81; invasions into Malaysia,
100-3; and United Nations,
103, 112; guerrillas in Borneo,
109, 111; anti-Communist in-
surrection, 111-12

Industry, 48-51, 68, 103, 113,
127; in Petaling Jaya, 129 in
Singapore, 139; see also Rub-
ber industry; Tin industry

Ipoh, 133

Iron mines, 68

Islam, 8, 10, 11, 50, 52, 64, 94,
103, 130; marriage, 133-4

Taly, 70

Japan, 16; war with China, 70,
72,74 in World Warll,
70-6; attacks Singapore, 73-6;
occupation of Malaya, 7680

Java, 1, 2,7, 11, 20, 76, g8; Raffles
in, 21-2, 81, 35: in thirteenth
century, 32

JavaMan, 4

Jervois, Sir W. F. D., 58-61

Jesselton, 77-8

Johnson, Charles: see Brooke,
Charles

Johore Bahru, 15

Johore state, 5, 37, 52, 60, 68, 8o,
81; wars with Malacca, 14, 15;
and Raffles, 26, 28; in World
War I, 74, 75: Indonesian
guerrilla invasion, 100-1




Index

Kalimantan, g4-5, 97, 100, 101,
11

Kampong, 131,133

Kedah, Sultan of, 68

Kedah state, 7,18, 19, 37, 61,77,
B1,138

Kelantan state, 37, 61, 68, 78, 77,

8

Kennedy, John F,, 100

Kennedy, Robert, 100

Keppel, Captain Henry, 47

Khmers of Cambodia, 7

Kia Ba Ba, 141

Kipling, Rudyard, xi

Klang River, 1279

Kuala Lumpur, 106, 108, 113,
124, 130,136, 139, 742; capital
of Malaysia, g, 107, 125; racial
riots, 116-20; present-day, 127;
founding, 128—9

Kuantan, 78-4

Kuching, 43, 46, 47, 53

Labor unions, 8o

Land Dayaks, 41

Land erosion, 2-3

Langkasuka (legendary state), 7

Language, 105, 120-1

Laos, 67-8

Lee Kuan Yew, 15: forms govern-
ment in Singapore, 87-g; advo-
cates union with Malaysia, 88—
91; declares Singapore’s inde-
pendence, g8; 1964 elections,
104-5; organizes Malaysia Soli-
darity Convention, 106-7;
meets with Tunku, 108; after
Singapore’s expulsion from
Malaysia, 108-11, 113; anti-
American, 110; riots in Singa-
pore, 120; present-day Singa-
pore, 189, 141, 148

49

Legends: sky demons, §; Badang,
3$2; spirits, 61; ancestors and
creation, 62; world end, 63

Lela, Rajah, 6o

Light, Captain Francis, 18-19

Lim Joo Suan, 141

Lim Yew-hock, 87

Long house, 44

Louis XVIII, King of France, 20

Low, Sir Hugh, 61, 64, 65

Lubuan Island, 47, 53-4, 61

Lundu River, 43

Macapagal, President of Philip-
pines, 95-6

MacArthur, General Douglas, 78

Macintosh, Charles, 65

Madjapahit, 7,8

Magellan, Ferdinand, 42

Mahmud Shah, 13, 14

Makota, 43, 45-6

Malacca, 80, 81, 133; founding,
8-10; Sultanate, 10-13; Portu-
guese in, 13-16; captured by
Dutch, 16, 88; British in, 18,
20, 6-8, 49

Malay advisory councils, 78

Malay Annals, 1113

Malay Nationalist Party, 81

Malay Peninsula, 16, 37, 55; ge-
ography, 1-3; settlement, 4-5,

7:49
Malay rights, 105, 107, 113
Malay Union proposed, 81-2
Malaya, Federation of: forma-
tion, 67; settlements decline to
join, 68; Union to Federation,
81-4; independence, 85-6; pro-
posal for Singapore to join, 88—
91; becomes Malaysia, g9
Malaya, Unfederated States of,
68, 77,81
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Malaya University, 121

Malayan Chinese Association
(MCA), 85, 104, 106, 115, 117,
118,127

Malayan Communist Party, 78—
81,88, o, 138

Malayan Democratic Union, 81

Malayan Indian Congress, 85,
104, 116

Malayan People's Anti- Japanese
Army (MPAJA), 79, 83, 107

Malays: fear of Chinese, x-xi, 49,

98, 1057, 119, 188; physical
characteristics, 5

Malaysia: formation, ix, x, 97,
99; formation proposed, go-8;
objections by Indonesia, g1,
93-8; Philippine claims to ter-
ritory, g1, g5: today, 125, 137—
9,141, 143

Malaysia Solidarity Convention,
1067, 110, 111

Mao Tse-tung, 81

Maphilindo, g6

Marriage in Malaysia, 64, 115,
138-4

Marsden, William, 21, 22, 24

Marshall, David, 86—7

Martaban (ship), 69

Melanesians, 5

Merdeka: see Independence

Midway, Battle of, 78

Miller, Harry, 41,61, 88

Mineral resources: see Tin
industry

Ming dynasty, 8

Minto, Lord, 21

Moluccas: see Spice Islands

Mongkut, King of Siam, 68

Monsoons, 2-§

Mountains, 2-3

Muda Japhar, Rajah, 26

Mudah, Rajah, 43-6
Muddy River Mouth, 129
Muslims: see Islam
Mutahir, Tun, 13-15
Myths: see Legends

Nagumo, Admiral Chuichi, 73

Nair, Devan, 11§

Nakhoda Ragam, 42

Naning state, 38

Napoleon, 20, 22

sution, General, 112

wtional Mosque, 730

National Operations Council,
118,128

National Parliament Building,

142

Negri Sembilan, 37, 60, 67, 81,
133

Negritos, 5

Netherlands: in Malaya, 15, 88;
war with Spain, 15-16; rela-
tions with Great Britain, 19,
20, 22—, 28, $5-7, 59; held
island of Rhio, 26; cedes Ma-
lacca to Great Britain, 6-7;
expansion, 38; settlement in
Brunei, 43; in Borneo, 55, 71;
lost Indonesia, 83

New Guinea, 78

New Nation (Singapore), 141

Newsweek, 118

Ningkan, Dato, 114

Nippon Times (Tokyo), 72

Nomura, Kichisaburo, 72

North Borneo (Sabah), x, 1, 3, 5,
43, 47: administered by Dent,
54 n World War I, 77-8:
proposed as part of Malaysia,
90, 92-8; Philippine claim on,
95-6; guerrilla warfare, 97, 99,
109; became Sabah, g8; after
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Singapore leaves Malaysia,
10g, 111, 112; elections sus-
pended, 118

Oilin Brunei, 77, 93, 96
Omar Ali, Sultan, 43, 45-7, 49
Onn bin Ja'afar, Dato, 82, 84
Opium War, 19-20

Ord, Governor, 55

Pahang state, 12, 37, 67, 81

Palembang, Dutch station at, 22

Paleolithic culture, 4—5

Palm oil, 66, 113

Pan-Malayan Islamic Party of
Kelantan, g8

Pandak Indut, 6o

Pangkor Island, 56

Paramesvara, founds Malacca, 7-
10, 23

Pasir Salik, 6o

Pearl Harbor, 71—4

Pearl River, 70

Peking Man, 4

Penang Island, 8o, 81; British
port, 18-21, 28, 36-8, 49, 105;
Georgetown, 133

People’s Action Party (PAP), 87—
9,104,114

Perak, Tun, 11-13, 15, 16

Perak state, 81, 133: River Valley,
4' ruled by Malaccan sultans,

n mining, 49, 56, 129;
Bnush Residents in, 56-61, 67;
Communist penetration, 138

Percival, A. E., 75-6

Perlis state, 68, 77, 81

Petaling Jaya, 129

Philip II of Spain, 15, 16

Philippine Islands, 1, 5, 41, 45,
94; claim on North Borneo, ix—

751

X, 95-6; sacked by Bulkiah, 42;
in World War 11, 78, 77, 78;
opposition to Malaysia nation,
91, 93, 95-7; relations with
Malaysia broken, gg; relations
restored, 113

Phoenicians, 1, 5

Pickering, W. A., 56

Pigafetta, Antonio, 42

Pirates, 26, 27, 52, 55, 56, 64;
Dayaks, 41-2; suppressed by
Brooke, 47

Political developments: in Ma-
laya, 81-5; in Singapore, 86-8;
see also Malayan Communist
Party; People's Action Party;
United Malays National
Organization

Polygamy, 64

Port Swettenham, 57, 139

Portugal, 13-16, 88

Press, 118

Priestly, Joseph, 65

Prince of Wales (ship), 71-4

Proclamation of Laws, Raffles,
334

Putch, Tun, 13

Racism in Malaysia: against
Chinese, x-xi, 49, 9o, 105-6,
112-14, 121, 138-0; segrega-
tion, 115, 121; riots, 116-20,
138; employment, 126

Radio and television, 136

Raffles, Thomas Stamford, g9,
50, 59, 140; background, 21;
governor of Bencoolen, 2
founds Singapore, 22—4, 26;
statue, 25; treaty with Hussein,
26-7, 36; quarrels with Far-
qubhar, 27, 29, 30, 32-3; policies
in Singapore, 28-31; Proclama-
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Raffies, Thomas Stamford (cont.)
tion of Laws, 3-4; shipwreck
and death, g5

Railroads, 64

Rainfall, 3

Rakyat Party, 94

Razak, Tun: sce Abdul Razak,
Tun

Religion, 49-50, 94; marriage,

; see also Buddhism;

: Hindus; Islam

Repulse (ship), 71-4

Residents system, 56-61, 67, 82

Rhio Island, 24, 26

Riau Sultanate, g7

Rice harvest dance, 184

Riots, 108, 116-20, 12§

Riverstates in Malaya, 49

Robespicrre, 20

Romans, 1, 5,15

Roosevelt, Franklin D., 71

Rubber industry, 65-7, 77. 78,
137

“Running amok,” 119

Russia, 20, 78, 79, 102, 103, 109,
110

Sabah: see North Borneo (Sabah)

St. Helena, 22

Sang Nila Utama, 28, 24

Sarawak, 1, 3, 47, 77: Dayak re-
bellion, 4§-5; proposed as part
of Malaysia, 9o, 92, 94, 96-8;
after Singapore leaves Ma-
laysia, 109, 111, 112; 1966
crisis, 114; elections suspended,
118; Communism in, 188;
White Rajahs: see Brooke,
Charles; Brooke, James

Sea Dayaks, 41-2

Secret societies, Chinese, 50, 52,
53, 55-6, 78, 105, 129

Semmes, Captain, 69

Sengalor state, 81; tin mining,

iracy, 56; Sweetenham in,

in proposed Federation,
67; Kuala Lumpur as capital,
117, 18

Seremban, 133

Shadow plays (Wayang Kulit),

134

Shell Oil Company, 94

Siam, 37, 59, 61: controls Tuma-
sik, 8; threat to Malacca, 10-11;
threat to Kedah, 19; British
protection, 68; see also
Thailand

Silat Buah, 134

Singapore, x, 67 founding by
Raffles, 7, 19, 21-4, 26-8, 33;
ancient history, 23-4; expan-
sion of trade, 28-9, §6-8, 48,
49, 51,69, 108-11, 139; nine-
teenth century lifein, go-1;
stones and legends, 31-2; tigers

in, 52; crime, 52-3; Alabama

affair, 69; in World War I,

70-7,79: postwar, 81, 82; Com-

munists in, 86-8; proposals to
join Malaysia, 88—93, g7; inde-
pendence, g8; riots in, 108, 120;
expelled from Malaysia, 108~
11; after expulsion, 10g-13;
current conditions in, 189, 141,
143

Singapore River, 740

Singapura: see Singapore

Singora, 73

Siniawan Dayaks, 46

Sky demons, legend of, §

Slavery, 58, 60

Slimming, John, 106, 117, 121

Socialism in Singapore, 88, 89,
106, 110
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South China Sea, 1,3, 8

Spain, 15-16, 95-6

Speedy, Captain, 57

Spice Islands (Moluccas), 1, 2, 10,
11,20,22

Spice trade, 10, 15, 16, 50

Sports, 51-2

Sri, son of Paramesvara, 10-11

Sri Vijaya, 7

Stephens, Dato, 109

Stone Age, 4-5

Straits of Malacca, 1, 8, 56, 132

Straits Settlements, 37, 48, 55-6,
58,67, 68, 81,93

Straits of Singapore, 26, 52, 75

Straits Times (Singapore), 32, 61,
63, 69, 88

Strikes, 78

Suharto, General, 112

Sukarno, President of Indonesia,
iX, §4-100, 103, 111-12

Suluy, Sultan of, 54, 95

Sulu Sea, 42

Sumatra, 1, 2, 11, 21, 85, 36, 136

Sunda Platform 2, 41

Sunda Straits, 69

Sungei Ujong, 6o

Swettenham, Sir Frank, 56; As-
sistant Resident, 57; escapes
assassination, 6o; in Sengalor
state, 61, 64: Malay Sketches,
63; Federation plan, 67; High
Commissioner of Straits Settle-
ments, 68; Union proposal, 82;
Kuala Lumpur rebuilding, 129

Tan Siew Sin, 115, 117, 118, 127

Tea trade, 17

Thailand, 1, 4, 5, 80-1, 86, 138;
in World War 11, 71-3, 76-7;
see also Siam

Tigers, 52

=2 AUG 197%

453

Time, 118

Times (London), g5, 118

Tin industry, 49-50, 56, 68, 77,
78,105, 129, 187

Tjondonegro, Suwardjo, 101

Trade, 1~2, 125; Malay settle-
ments, 5, 7, 20-1; spices, 10, 16;
Malacca, 11, 15; Great Britain,
17-24; Singapore, 22-4, 26-9,
36-8, 48, 49, 51, 69, 108-11,
139; decline during World
‘Warll, 77; and threat of
Socialism, 88

Tregonning, K. C., 23, 27, 28

Trengganu state, 61, 68, 77, 81

Tumasik, 7, 8, 23

Tunkuy, the: see Abdul Rahman
(the Tunku)

U Thant, g7-9

Unfederated States of Malaya, 68,
77.81

United Malays National Organ-
ization (UMNO), 82, B4-5, 104,
106, 11617

United Nations: Commission on
creation of Malaysia, g6-9;
Malaysia joins, 100; complaint
to Security Council, 101-2;
Malaysia seat on Council, 103~
4: Indonesia leaves and re-
turns, 108, 112

United States, 19, 55, 70, 96, 115,
123, 126; racism, x, xi; cotton
exports, 6g; Civil War, 6g; in
World War 11, 71-4, 77, 79, 80;
Robert Kennedy visits Indo-
nesia, 100; Lee's anti-U.S,
campaign, 110

Vietnam, 2, 5, 7, 67, 72, 100, 110,
138
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Villages, 42, 63, 132; Kampong,
131,188

Von Overbeck, Baron, 54, 95

Vyner Brooke (ship), 76

Wavell, General Archibald, 75-6
West Malaysia, 1, 3, 109, 114
White Rajah: see Brooke, James
Wilson, Harold, 110

‘Women, 64
World War 11, 70-80; postwar,
8o-3

Yamashita, Tomoyuki, 76
Yang di-Pertuan Agong (Su-
preme Ruler), 85-6, g3
Youth, 121-2, 134
Yusuf, Rajah, 6o
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